This form is used for an original application for a
certificate and for approval of sale, assignmenf or
transfer of an existing certificate. 1In case of a
sale, assignment or transfer, the information provided
shall be for the purchaser, assignee or transferee
(See Appendix A).

Respond to each item reguested in the application and
appendices. If an item is not applicable, please
explain why.

Use a separate sheet for each answer which will not
fit the allotted space.

1f you have gquestions about completing the form,
contact:
Florida Public Bervice Commission
pivision of Communications
Bureau of Service Evaluation
2540 Bhumard Oak Blvd.
Gunter Building
Tallahassee, Florida 32399-0850
(904) 413-6600

once completed, submit the original and six (6) copies
of this form along with a non-refundable application
fee of $250.00 to:

Plorida Public Service Commission
pivision of Administration

2540 Shumard Oak Blvd.

Gunter Building

Tallahassee, Florida 32399-0850
(904) 413=-6251
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1. Select what type of businegs your company will be
conducting (check all that apply):

() Pacilities based carrier - company owns
and operates or plans to own anc operate
telecommunications switches and
transmission facilities in Florida.

( ) Operator Service Provider - company
provides or plans to provide alternative
operator services for IXCs; or toll
operator services to call aggregator
locations; or clearinghouse services to
bill such calls.

(*) Reseller - company has or plans to have
cne or more switches but primarily leases
the transmission facilities of other
carriers. Bills its own customer base
for services used.

( ) Bwitchless Rebiller - company has no
switch or transmission facilities but may
have a billing computer. Aggregates
traffic to obtain bulk discounts from
underlying carrier. Rebills end users at
a rate above its discount but generally
below the rate end users would pay for
unaggregated traffic.

( ) Multi-Location Discount Aggregator -
company contracts with unaffiliated
entities to obtain bulk/volume discounts
under multi-location discount plans from
certain underlying carriers. Then offers
the resold service by enrolling
unaffiliated custonmers.

( ) Prepaid Debit Card Provider - any person
or entity that purchases 800 access from
an underlying carrier or unaffiliated
entity for use with prepaid debit card
service and/or encodes the cards with
personal identification numbers.

FORM PSC/CMU 31 (11/95)
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2. This is an application for (check one):

( ) original Authority (New company).
( ) Approval of Transfer (To another certificated
company) .
(x) Approval of Assignment of existing certifizate
! (To an uncertificated company).
( ) Approval for transfer of control (To another
certificated company).

3. Name of corporation, partnership, cooperative, joint
venture or sole proprietorship:

NEXTLINK Florida, Inc.

4. Name under which the applicant will do business
(fictitious name, etc.):

NEXTLINK Florida

5., National address (including street name & number, post
office box, city, state and zip code).

155 = 108th Ave. N.E., Bth Flr., Bellevue, WA 98004

| 6. Florida address (including street name & number, post
office box, city, state and zip code):
Applicant |s headquartered at 15% - 108th Ave. N.E., #th Flr.,
Bellevue, WA 98004
7. Structure of organization;

( ) Individual ( ) Corporation

(x) Foreign Corporation ( ) Foreign Partnership

( ) General Partnership ( ) Limited Partnership
( ) Other,

8. If applicant is an individual or partnership, please
give name, title and address of sole proprietor or
partners.

H/A
(a) Provide proof of compliance with the foreign
linmited partnership statute (Chapter 620.163
FS), if applicable.

(b) Indicate if the individual or any of the
partners have previously been:

FORM PSC/CMU 31 (11/95)
Required by Commission Rule Nos. 25-24.471, 25-24.473, and 25-
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10. Who will serve as liaison with the Commission in
regard to (please give nare, title, address and
telephone number):

Daniel M. Wagqgonoet
Julie H, Hawkins

(.) The ipplicltion: pDavis Wright Tremaine LLP
1501 Fourth Avneue, Ste L0000
Seattle, WA 98101
(20G) G22-31%0
(b) Oofficial Point of Contact for the ongoing
cperations of the company;

Alaine Miller
Jason Williams
HEXTLINK Communications, Inc.

(c) T‘riff; 155 - 108th Ave. KN.E., 8th Floor
Bellevue, WA 9H004

(425) 519-8900

(d) Complaints/Inquiries from customers; Rick L. Hicks,
Regulation/Legal Counsel, NEXTLINK Pennsylvania Merget Company 11,
Inc.., 925 Berkshire Blvd., Wyomissing, PA 19610; (GY0) 2BB-1234.

11. List the states in which the applicant:

(a) Has operated as an interexchange carrier.

None.

(b) Has applications pending to be certificated
as an interexchange carrier.

None.

(c) Is certificated to operate as an
interexchange carrier.

None.

(d) Has been denied authority to operate as an
interexchange carrier and the circumstances
involved. Applicant has nover been denied authority to offer

gervice In any stale,

(e) Has had regulatory penalties imposed for
violations of telecommunications statutes and
the circumstances involved. Applicant has never had any
regulatory penalties imposed for violations of telecommunications

statutes.

(f) Has been involved in civil court proceedings
with an interexchange carrier, local exchange
company or othar telecommunications entity,
and the circumstances involved. Applicant has never been
involved in a civil court proceeding with any telecommunications
entity.

FORM PSC/CMU 31 (11/95)
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12. What services will the applicant offer to other
certificated telephone companies: N/A

) Facilities. ( ) Operators.
) Billing and Collection. ( ) Sales.
) Maintenance.

) Other:

13. Do you have a marketing program?  Applicant does not

have a markating program.

14. Will your marketing program: N/A
( ) Pay commissions?
( ) Offer sales franchises?
() Offer multi-level sales incentives?
( ) Offer other sales incentives?

15. Explain any of the offers checked in question 14 (To
whom, what amount, type of franchise, etc.).

16. Who will receive the bills for your service (Check all
that apply)?

( ) Residential customers. ( ) Business customers.

( ) PATS providers. ( ) PATS station end-users.

( ) Hotels & motels. ( ) Hotel & motel guests.

( ) Universities. ( ) Univ. dormitory residents.
(x) Other: (specify)

NEXTLINK's primary focus is on bupiness cuatomers, but long term

it may provide service to all categories of cuntomers.

17. Please provide the following (if applicable):

(a) Will the name of your company appear on the
bill for your services, and if not who will
the billed party contact to ask questions
about the bill (provide name and phone
number) and how is this information provided?
Yes, the NEXTLINK name will appear on the bills
sent to customers.

(b) Name and address of the firm who will bill

for your servica.

Applicant will rely upon an affiliate to perform
its billing.

FORM PSC/CMU 31 (11/95)
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If the applicant does not have audited financial
statements, it shall be so stated. The unaudited
financial statements should then be signed by the
applicant's chief executive officer and chief
financial officer. The signatures should affirm

correct.

B. Managerial capability. Resumes of the officers of the
Applicant are appended hereto as Attachment C.

C. Technical capability. The technical capabilitics of the
Applicant are appended hereto as Attachment D.

19. Please submit the proposed tariff under which the
company plans to begin operation. Use the forma:t
required by Commission Rule 25-24.485 (example
enclosed) . A description of the tariff Applicant plans to file
is appended heretc as Attachment E.

20. The applicant will provide the following interexchange
carrier services (Check all that apply):

__1 MT8 with distance sensitive per minute rates
Method of access is FGA
Method of access is FGB
Method of access is FGD
Method of nccess is 800

L

MT8 with route specific rates per minute
Method of access is FGA :
Method of access is FGB
Method of access is FGD
Method of access is BOO

_i_ NTB with statewide flat rates per minute (i.e. not
distance sensitive)

____ Method of access is FGA

____ Method of access is FGB

_XX_ Method of access is FGD

____ Method of access is 800

FORM PSC/CMU 31 (11/95)
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____ MTL for pay telephone service providers

_____ Block-of-time calling plan (Reach out Florida,
Ring America, etc.).

— B00 Bervice (Toll free)

____ WATS type service (Bulk or voiume discount)
Method of access is via dedicated facilities
_____ Method of access is via switched facilities

_X Private Line services (Channel Bervices)
(For ex. 1.544 mbs., DS-3, etC.) 145 1s provided via ovur
underlying carrier
_% _ Travel Service
___ Method of access is 950
%X _ Method of access is BOO

___ 900 service

_x Operator Bervices rrovided by underlying carrier, Frontier, Inc.
X Available to presubscribed custonmers

Available tc non presubscribed customers (for

example to patrons of hotels, students in

universities, patients in hospitals.

Available to inmates

Bervices included are:

Station assistance

Person to Person assistance
Directory assistance
Operator verify and interrupt
Conference Calling

T

21. What does the end user dial for each of the
interexchange carrier services that were checked in
services included (above).

N/A
22. other:

FORM PSC/CMU 31 (11/95)
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I, (TY?PE EAME) R, CHADWICK PAUL .

(TITLE) President , of (MAMEB OF min:

Chadvick Telecommunications Corporation , and current

holdar of certificats number T-p6-708 , bave reviewved

| this application and join in the petitioner's reguest for a
tranafer of the above-mantion certificate.

j UIILITY OFFICIALI Wz‘ = ——L/l <« 7/

\ Fignature
R. dwick Faul
| Frasidant (610) 288-5700
Title Telephone No.

FORM PEC/CMU 31 (11/953) -
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CUSTOMER DEPOSITS AND ADVANCE PAYMENTS

A statement of how the Commission can be assured of the
security of the customer's deposits and advance payments may be
responded to in one of the following ways (applicant please check
one) :

(x) The applicant will not collect deposits nor
will it collect payments for service more than
one month inu advance.

¢ ) The applicant will file with the Commission and
maintain a surety bond in an amount equal to
the current balance of deposits and advance
payments in excess of ome month. (Bond must
accompany application.)

DIILITY OFFICIALS '[W 3.30-9%

Signature Date
—B. Gerard Salemae
_Vice President 202-721-099%
Title Telephone No.

FORM PSC/CMU 31 (11/95)
Required by Commission Rule Nos. 25-24.471, 25-24.473, and 25-
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5. TRAFFIC RESTRICTIDNS: Please explain how the applicant
will comply with the EAEA regquirements contained in
Commission Rule 25-24.471 (4) (a) (copy enclosed).

Since Applicant will operate only as & reseller of interexchange
gervices, this question is not applicable.

6. CURRENT FLORIDA INTRASTATE BERVICES: Applicant has (
) or has not ( x ) previously provided intrastate
telecommunications in Flerida. If the ansver is has,
fully describe the following:

a) What services have been provided and when did
these services begin?

b) If the services are not currently offered, when
were they discontinued?

DTILITY OFFICIAL: 3-20-9%
Signatire Date
R. Gerard Salemme
Vice President 202-721-0999
Title Telephone No.

FORM PSC/CMU 31 (11/95)
Required by Commission Rule Nos. 25-24.471, 25-24.473, and 25-
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FLORIDA TELEPHONE EXCHANGES
AND
EAS ROUTES

Describe the service area in which you hold yourself out to
provide service by telephone company exchange. If all services
listed in your tariff are not offered at all locations, so
indicate. Applicant intends to offer interexchange services throughout the State

of Florida.

In an effort to assist ycu, attached is a list of major
exchanges in Florida showing the small exchanges with which each

has extended area service (EAS).

«+ FIORIDA EAS FOR MAJOR EXCHANGES **
Extended Service

Area with These Exchanges
PENSACOLA: Cantonment, Gulf Breeze
Pace,Milton Holley-Navarre.
PRANAMA CITY: Lynn Haven, Panama City Beach,
Youngstown-Fountain and Tyndall
AFB.
TALLAHASSEE: Crawfordville, Havana,

Monticello, Panacea, Sopchoppy
and St. Marks.

JACKSONVILLE: Baldwin, Ft. George,
Jacksonville Beach, Callahan,
Maxville, Middleburg
Orange Park, Ponte Vedra and
Julington.

GAINESVILLE: Alachua, Archer, Brooker,
Hawthorne, High Springs,
Melrose, Micanopy,
Newberry and Waldo.

OCALA: Belleview, Citra, Dunnellon,

FORM PSC/CMU 31 (11/95)
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POMPANO BEACH: Boca Raton, Coral Springs,
pDeerfield Beach and Ft.

Lauderdale.
FT. LAUDERDALE: Coral Springs, Deerfield Beach,
Hollywood and Pompano Beach.
HOLLYWOOD: Ft. Lauderdale and North Dade.
NORTH DADE: Hollywood, Miami and Perrine.
MIAMI: Homestead, North Dade and
Perrine

FORM PSC/CMU 31 (11/95)
Required by Commission Rule Nos. 25-24.471, 25-24.473, and 25-
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&% GLOSSARY ##

ACCESS CODE: The term denotes a uniform four or seven digit code
assigned to an individual IXC. The five digit code has the form
10XXX and the seven digit code has the form 950-XXXX.

BYPABS: Transmission facilities that go direct from the local
exchange end user to an IXC point of presence, thus bypassing the
local exchange company.

CARRIERSE CARRIER: An IXC that provides telecommunications service,
mainly bulk transmission service, to other IXC only.

CENTRAL OFFICE: A local operating unit by means of which
connections are established between subscribers' lines and trunk or
toll lines to other central offices within the same exchange or
other exchanges. Each three (3) digit central office code (NXX)
used shall be considered a separate central office unit.

CENTRAL OFFICE CODE: The term denotes the first three digits (NXX)
of the seven (7) digit telephone number assigned to a customer's
telephone exchange service.

COMMISSION: The Florida Public Service Commission.

COMPANY, TELEPHONE COMPANY, UTILTIZTY: These terms may be used
interchangeably herein and shall mean any person, firm, partnership
or corporation engaged in the business of furnishing communication
service to the public under the jurisdiction of the Commission.

DEDICATED FACILITY: The term denotes a transmission circuit which
is permanently for the exclusive use of a customer or a pair of
customers.

END USER: The term denotes any individual, partnership,
association, corporation, governmental agency or any other entity
which (A) obtains a common line, uses a pay telephone or cbtains
interstate service arrangements in the operating territory of the
company or (B) subscribes to interstate services provided by an IXC
or uses the services of the IXC when the IXC provides interstate

service for its own use.

FORM PSC/CMU 31 (11/95)
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EQUAL ACCESS EXCHANGE AREAS: EAEAR means a geographic area,
configured based on 1587 planned toll center/access tanden areas,
in which local exchange companies are responsible for providing
equal access to both carriers and customers of carriers in the rost
econonmically efficient manner.

EXCHANGE: The entire telephone plant and facilities used in
providing telephone service to subscribers located in an exchange
area. An exchange may include more than one central office unit.

EXCHANGE (SERVICE) AREA: The territory, including the base rate
suburban and rural areas served by an exchange, within which local
telephone service is furnished at the exchange rates applicable
within that area.

EXTENDED AREA BERVICE: A type of telephone service furnished under
tariff provision whereby subscribers of a given exchange or area
may complete calls to, and receive messages from, one or more other
contiguous exchanges without toll charges, or complete calls to one
or more other exchanges without toll message charges.

FACILITIES BABED: An IXC that has its own transmission and/or
switching equipment or other elements of equipment and does not
rely on others to provide this service.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE BERVICES: A classification of exchange service
furnished under tariff provisions whereby a subscriber may be
provided telephone service from an exchange other than the one from
which he would normally be served.

FEATURE GROUPS: General categories of unbundled tariffs to
stipulate related services.

Feature Group A: Line side connections presently serving
specialized common carriers.

Feature Group B: Trunk side connections without egual
digit or code dialing.

Feature Group C: Trunk side connections presently serving
AT&T-C.

Feature Group D: Equal trunk access with subscription.

FORM PSC/CMU 31 (11/95)
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actual (physical) location of an IXC's facility. Replaces some
applications of the term "demurcation point."

PRIMARY SERVICE: Individual line service or party line service.

RESFELLER: An IXC that does not have certain facilities but
purchases telecommunications service from an IXC and then resells

that service to others.

STATION: A telephone instrument consisting of a transmitter,
receiver, and associated apparatus so connected as to permit
sending and/or receiving telephone messages.

SUBSCRIBER, CUSTOMER: These terms may be used interchangeably
herein and shall mean any person, firm, partnarship, corporation,
municipality, cooperative organization, or qov-rnmlntsl agency
supplied with communication service by a telephone company.

SUBSCRIBER LINE: The circuit or channel used to connect the
subscriber station with the central office egquipment.

SWITCHING CENTER: Location at which telephone traffic, either
local or toll, is switched or connected from one circuit or line to
another. A local switching canter may be comprised of several

central office units.

TRUNK: A communication channel between central office units or

entities, or private branch exchanges.

FORM PSC/CMU 31 (11/95)
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o
APPLICATION BY FOREIGN CORPORATION FOR AUTHORIZATION
TO TRANSACT BUSINESS IN FLORIDA

IN COMPLIANCE WITH SECTION 607.1503, FLORIDA STATUTES, THE FOLLOWING IS
SUBMITTED TO REGISTER A FOREIGN CORPORATION TO TRANSACT BUSINESS IN THE
STATE OF FLORIDA:

1. NEXTLINK FLOHRIDA
: ol comoralion” 1 includ - » Or words or

abbreviations of like import in language as will learty indicate that it is a coporation instead of & nslural person
or partnership if not so contained In the name at present.)

2. Waohington 3 41 1811758
(State or country undaer the law of which it [s Incomporated) (FEI numbser, il applicable)
4. _9/17/97 5. Perpetual
(Date of incorporation) (Ouration: Year comp. will cease 1o exst or “perpetual’)
6. 12/97
(Date first transacted business in Flonda. (See sedlions 607.1501, 607.1502, and 617.156, F.5)) . 3
T
7. 155 108¢h Ave, N.E.. Suite 810 .
|
Bellevue WA 98004 -
(Cument mailing address) L
o

8

(Purpose(s) of corporation authonzed in home state or country to be camed out in the state of
Florida)

9. Name and street address of Florida registered agent:
Name: _ CT Corporation Svstem

Office Address: __1200 South Pine lsland Boad

Plantation . Florida, 11424
(Zip Code)

10. Regislered agent acceplance:

Hawving been named as registered agent and (o accept sorvice of process for the above stated comporation at the place
designaled in this appiication. | hereby accept the appointment as registered agent and agrec (o ad in this capacaty. |
further agree (o comply with the provisions of all stafutes relative (o the proper and complete performance of my duties,
and | am familiar with and accept the obligation of my position as rogistered agont

o TS
(—/-_,/,, (Registered agent's signature) (Officen) = =

L - : / A\ '/
|'. Is % L : 'I 'r T
(FL- 2189 1016m4) 'J“LL Iﬁvpu Hmﬁ{ dnd #‘m.- of Oificen)




Treasurersvi:  Kathleen lskea

Address: 155 108th Ave, N,E, . bulte 810

Bellevue WA YRO0L

NOTE: If necessary, you may attach an addendum to the application listing additional officers
and/or directors.

NEXTLINK FLORIDA, INC., a H.t*,hlllp'run corpotat ion

14, By K. BRUCE EASTER, JR., lts Secretary
(Typed or printed name and capacity of person signing application)

(FLA 2189)




(B

Y

2 g S1G Xl FILED
£ p g G STATE OF WASHINGTON
ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION
SEP 17 1997
OF HALPH MUNAD
SECRETARY OF STATE
NEXTLINK FLORIDA, INC.

Pursuant to RCW 23B.02.020 of the Washington Business Corporauon Act, the undersigned
does hereby submit these Articles of Incorporation for the purpose of forming a business corporation

ARTICLE]
NAME
The name of this corporation is NEXTLINK FLORIDA, INC
ARTICLE Il
PURPOSIES
This corporation is organized for the following purposes

To engage in any business, trade or activity which may be conducted lawfully by a corporation
organized under the Washington Business Corporation Act

ARTICLE 111
SHARES

This corporation 1s authonzed to issue one thousand (1,000) shares of common stock with no
par value

ARTICLE IV
PREEMPTIVE RIGHTS

Each Shareholder shall have preemptive nights to acquire additional shares which may be issued
by this corporation to the extent preemptive rights apply to such shares under the Washington Business
Corporation Act

ARTICLE V
NO CUMULATIVE VOTING

At cach election for directors, every sharcholder entitled to vote at such election has the ngin
to vote in person or by proxy the number of shares held by such shareholder for as many persons as
there are directors to be elected  No cumulative voting for directors shall be permutted

AKTICTI S OF INCORPYIRA TION - Page |
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ARTICLE X
INCORPORATOR

The name and address of the incorporator are as follows

Name Address
Steven J. Hopp 10500 NE 8% Street, #1800

Bellevue, WA 98004-4304)
ARTICLIE X1
LIMITATION OF DIRECTORS' LIABILITY

A director shall have no liability to the corporation or its shareholders for monetary damages
for conduct as a director, except for acts or omissions that involve intentional misconduct by the
director, or a knowing violation of law by the director, or for conduct violating RCW 23B 08 310, v,
for any transaction from which the director will personally receive a benefit in money, property or
services 1o which the director is not legally entitled I the Washington Business Corporation Act is
hereafter amended to authorize corporate action further eliminating or limiting the personal liability of
directors, then the liability of a director shall be eliminated or limited to the full extent permitted by the
Washington Business Corporation Act, as so amended  Any repeal or modification of this Article shall
not adversely affect any right or protection of a director of the corporation existing at the time of such
repeal or modification for or with respect to an act or omission of such director occurring prior to such
repeal or modification. :

ARTICLE X1
INDEMNIFICATION OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS

Section 1. Right 1o Indemnification. Each person who was, or is threatened to be made a
party to or is otherwise involved (including, without limitation, as a witness) in any actual or threatened
action, suit or proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative or investigative, by reason of the fact
that he or she is or was a director or officer of the corporation or, while a director or officer, he or she
Is or was serving at the request of the corporation as a director, trustee, officer, employee or agent of
another corporation or of a partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise, including service with
respect to employee benefit plans, whether the basis of such proceeding is alleged action in an official
capacity as a director, trustee, officer, employee or agent or in any other capacity while serving as a
director, trustee, officer, employee or agent, shall be indemmilicd and held harmless by the corporation
1o the full extent permitted by applicable law as then in effect, against all expense, hability and loss
(including avtorney’s fees, judgments, fines, ERISA excise taxes or penalties and amounts 1o be paid in
settlement) actually and reasonably incurred or suffered by such person in connection therewiath, and
such indemnification shall continue as to a person who has ceased to be a director, trustee, officer,
employee or agent and shall inure to the benefit of his or her heirs, executors and adnunstators,

AR TICLES OF INCOBRPORATION - Page )
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provided, however, that except as provided in Section 2 of this Article with respect to proceedings
secking to enforce nights to indemnification, the corporation shall indemnify any such person seeking
indemnification in connection with a proceeding (or part thereof) initiated by such person only if such
proceeding (or pant thereof) was authonized by the board of directors of the corporation The nght 1o
indemnification conferred in this Section | shall be a contract right and shall include the nght 1o be paid
by the corporation the expenses incurred in defending any such proceeding in advance of uts final
disposition; provided, however, that the payment of such expenses in advance of the final diposition of
a proceeding shall be made only upon delivery to the corporation of an undertaking, by or on behalf of
such director or officer, to repay all amounts so advanced if it shall ultimately be determined that such
director or officer is not entitled to be indemnified under this Section | or otherwise

Section 2. Right of Claimant to Bring Suit If a claim under Scction 1 of this Article is not
paid in full by the corporation wathin sixty (60) days after a written claim has been received by the
corporation, except in the case of a claim for expenses incurred in defending a proceeding in advance
of its final disposition, in which case the applicable peniod shall be twenty (20) days, the clamant may
at any time thereafier bring suit against the corporation to recover the unpaid amount of the claim and,
to the extent successful in whole or in pan, the claimant shall be entitled 1o be pmd also the expense of
prosecuting such claim  The claimant shall be presumed to be entitled to indemnification under this
Article upon submission of a wntten claim (and, in an action brought to enforce a claim for expenses
incurred in defending any proceeding in advance of its final disposition, where the required undertaking
has been tendered to the corporation), and thereafter the corporation shall have the burden of proof to
overcome the presumption that the claimant is not so entitled  Neither the failure of the corporation
(including its board of directors, independent legal counsel or its sharcholders) 10 have made a
determination prior to the commencement of such action that indemnification of or reimbursement or
advancement of expenses to the claimant is proper in the circumstances nor an actual determination by
the corporation (including its board of directors, independent legal counsel or its sharcholders) that the
claimant is not entitled to indemnification or to the reimbursement or advancement of expenses shall be
a defense to the action or create a presumption that the claimant is not so entitled

Section 3, Nonexclusivity of Rights  The nght to indemnification and the payment of expenses
incurred in defending a proceeding in advance of its final disposition conferred in this Article shall not
be exclusive of any other nght which any person may have or hereafler acquire under any statute,
provision of the Articles of Incorporation, Bylaws, agreement, vole of sharcholders or disinterested
directors or othenwise

Section 4. nsurance, Contracts and Funding The corporation may maintair: nsurance, at its
expense, 1o protect itself and any director, trustee, officer, employee or agent of the corporation or
another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterpise against any expense, hability or
loss, whether or not the corporation would have the power to indemnify such person agamnst such
expense, liability or loss under the Washington Business Corporation Act  The corporation may.
without further sharcholder action, enter into contracts with any director or officer of the corporation
in furtherance of the provisions of this Article and may create a trust fund, grant a secunty mterest of
use other means (including, without limitation, a letter of credit) to ensure the payment of such
amounts as may be necessary to effect indemuification as provided in this Article
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CONSENT TO SERVE AS REGISTERED AGENT

DWTR&J Corp., a Washington corporation, hereby consents to serve as Registered Agent, in
the State of Washington, for NEXTLINK FLORIDA, INC. DWTR&J Corp. understands that as
agent for said corporation, it will be responsible 1o receive service of process in the name of said
corporation, to forward all mail 1o said corporation, and to immediately notify the office of the
Secretary of State in the event of its resignation, or of any changes in the registered office address of
2600 Century Square, 1501 Fourth Avenue, Scattle, WA 98101-1688

Dated as of September 16, 1997

DWTR&J CORP , a Washington corporation

SHARON LAWRENCE
Its Vice PreSident

2600 Century Square
1501 Fourth Avenue
Seattle, Washington 98101-1688
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As filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 14, 1997

UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, DC 20549

FORM 10-0Q58

QUARTERLY REPORT UNDER SECTION 13 O 15(d}
OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the quarterly period ended September 30, 1997
Counmission Nile numbers 333-46035: 553-4603-01
NEXTLINK Communications, Inc

NEXTLINK Capital, Inc. g ——
(Exact name of small business 1ssuer as specified in its charter)

Washington 91-1738221
Washington o 911716062
(State or other jurisdiction of (LR.S. Emploser
incarporation or organization) IdentiNcation Mo )
155 1081h Avenue NE, 8 Floor, Bellevue, WA o 98004 o
o (Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)

(425) 519-8900
(Issuer’s telephone number, including area code)

Check whether the issuer (1) has filed all reports required 1o be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Sccurities
Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the issuer was required 1o
file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes X No

As ol November 1, 1997, the number of shares of Class A and Class B common stock of NEXNTLINK
Communications, e, issued and outstanding was 18,552,678 and 34,406,523, respectively, and there wers L.oun
shares of common stock of NEXTLINK Capital, Inc., all of which 1,000 shazes were heid by NEXTLINK
Communications, Inc.

NENTLINK Capital, Ine. meets the conditions sei forth m General Bistraetwn G a) and (g of Boon TS
and ds therenore e ths Porm waith the reduced diselosare format




PART L FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1(n) Financial Statements

NEXTLINK Communications, Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets

{Dollars in thousands, cxcept per share amounts)
(Amounts as of September 30, 1997, are unaudited)

I'to Forma

December 3, September 30, September 30,
1996 1997 1997(1)
ASSETS

Current assets
Cash and cash eQuUIvalents ... vt $ 76,807 5 144 058 % T60 671
Sarketable securities ... 417.71] 76,528 76 42§
Accounts reccivable, net 7008 10,088 160,058
Other ; et 607 578 578
Medped secunitics 39371 21853 11859
Total current assets..... 171,908 173,432 90030
Pledged securitics ..vovmiienaimininns S 61 668 41616 4616
Propeny and cquipment, Neb.. . s ey e 97,784 196,041 194,041
GOOAWHHL, BT wieirrivisisnsssrsismsntassiams mmmenimssssssssnsssssssprssasse . 24,110 11135 L5
Ozher assets, net - 5216 12,0006 43 00
Total assets . - - ¢ 350.68) 5 4k 240 5 1223828

-Continued--
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NEXTLINK Communications, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Operations
(Dollars In thousands, except per share amounts)

{Unaudited)
Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September M, September 30,
1996 1997 1996 1997
Revenue .. .o i T . $ 6,949 $ 13,390 $ 18900 $  15,0%8
Costs and expenses:
Operating ... - 661 13,916 17,474 15857
Sclling, r:rrul gnd ldmln:sll'.lllll.' ROl 19318 20,502 45421
Deferred compensation...... 4,800 kBT 4,800 1,439
Deprecialion . ... oo 2,555 3,894 4,912 LA
Amoriizanon rera ; Lo} 1611 2, TkR 4 408
Taral costs and np:mﬂ 23,040 M i 30,50 13, 187
Loss frOM OPErAtONS . c.cocous ovsonsrsveanerois (16.131) (25,507 TTOL) T(65.129)
Intetest income ... T —— 4,113 4,808 7212 15,124
Interest expense (11,582) (10,746) (20,2209 132,787}
[ 035 before minority INIEEss ... T 2L600) TTIAL6A%) (44,554} (82,4570
Aoty interests in loss of conswohidated
SUbSIdIATIES 11oiraees ocrmmsmsiecs s cassrsanrin: 98 20 2% 131
PR S s s i 5§ (23,502) § (31,589) 5 (44335 S (82,356)
Peeferred stock dividends and aceretion of
preferred wock redemption obligation
including 1552€ COBE L iniinn (15980 1I5.0151)
Net loss appliceble to common shases.. 3 (41,383) S4117.307)
Pro Forma:
Met loss per sharc......oaen iR §  {108) £ (2E7)
Shares used in computaiion ofp:r: forma . o
net loss per share... W AP— 19,257,126 I8 536,051

See accompanying notes to unsudited interim consolidated financial statements




NEXTLINK Communications, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(Dollars in thousands)
{Unaudited)

OPERATING ACTIWTICS
Met loss .. L R S B SR T T T R v T TR

Adjusiments to teconcile net loss to net cash used in operating
actis iy
Deferred conpensation expense. ...
Equity in loss of affiliates ..
[epreciation and amortization .
Sinority interests in loss ol.'cnnwlmdal:d l-ubm!unh
Changes in assets and labilitics, net of effects from acquisitions
Accounts reCeivable .o
Other assets .
Accounts pavable... i
Accrued expenses and other Inahilmu ......
Accrued interest payable i W

Netcash used in operaling ACHVIIES .o ;

ISVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Purchase of propeny and equipmeEnt.......omminriciaeno
Net assets acquired in business and assel m:quhhmm

(net of cash scquired) .. L
Cath withdrawn from escrow 1u bc u'u:d in hulmtﬂ

S fuisilion
Investments in waconsohdated alfil:ates
Purchase of predged seCunilies v, ,
SMaturity of pledped $eurities. o v e
Purchase of rnarketable securities, Net ..o !
Net cash used in investing Bclivities .o vnirenn

-« Continued --

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

1996 1997
§  (44.3)9) $  (B2,156)
] 1,439
647 1,658
T T Wi 13,410
E20%) (231)
(3,774) {3.042)
1291%) (662)
1520) i, 3258)
Eit 4,601
18682 10,208
“HI 23125
Il.h (AR [RU R ET]
(IE41%) (K9, 140)
(10,5030 {41,21%)
l'._l- (1]
(a2 (t,382)
L1788 L
- 15,039
_ (53,60 __(IBELY)
{225.9449) (141,4%0)




NEXTLINK Communications, Inc.
Notes to Interim Consolidated Financial Statements
(Unaudited)

1. Basis of Presenlation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of KREXTLINK Communicanions, Inc, a
Washington corporation, and its majority-owned subsidiaries (collectively refermed to ns the Company) The
Company, through predecessor entities, was formed on September 16, 1994 and, throuph its subsidiarics, provides
competitive local telecommunications services in selected markets in the United States The Company is a majority-
owned subsidiary of Eagle River Invesiments, L L. C. (Eagle River).

The Company's financial statements include 100% of the asscts, liabilities and results of operations of
subsidiarics in which the Company has a controlling interest of greater than 50% The awnership interests of the
other members or panners in such subsidiaries are reflected a5 minunty Interests The Company’s anvestment
Telecommunications of Nevada, L.L O, (Nevada). a limited hability company in which the Company has a 407
interest and which operates a network that is managed by the Company n Las Vegas, Nevada, 15 accounted for or
the cquity method. All operational statistics of the Company included in this Report include 100%6 of the operational
statistics of Nevada, Investments in entities in which the Company has voting inlerests of not more than 20% are
accounted for on the cost method. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been climinated

The interim financial statements have been prepared without audit, pursuant to the rules and regulations of the
Securitics and Exchange Commission. Centain information and footnote disclosures normally included in financial
statements prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles have been condensed or omitted
pursuant to such rules and regulations. These condensed consolidated financial statements <hould be read in
conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements and notes thereto included in the Company’s Torm
10-KSB as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 14, 1997,

The financial information included herein reflects all adjustments {(consisting only of normal recuming
adjustments) which are, in the opinion of management, necessary 1o a fair presentation of the results for interim
periods. The results of operations for the three and nine month perinds ended September 30, 1997 are nit
necessarily indicative of the resulis to be expected for e full year

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Pro Forma Net Loss Per Share

Pro forma net loss per share has been computed using the number of shares of common stock and common
stock equivalents outstanding using the treasury stock method. Pursuant to Securities and Exchange Commission
Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 83, shares issued and stock options granted at prices below the initial public offering
price of $17 per share during the twelve-month period preceding the date of the initial filing of the Registration
Statement have been included in the calculation of common stoch cquivalent shares, using the treasury stoch
method, as if such shares and options were outstanding for all periods presented

Tricome Taves

Prior 1o January 31, 1997, the Company was organred and opcrated a5 a hited hability conipui that w
chssibicd and tased a5 a partnership for federal and state income tan putposes Effectine Pebmuary 3 1087, 1
Connpaney Becine subpect o Tederal and state inconie tanes dires v as a O copearation
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taxes be determined based on the estimated future tax effects of differences between the financial statement and tax
bases of assets and liabilities given the provisions of the enacted tax laws.

The conversion of the Company to a taxable corporation resulted in the Company recording fully reserved net
deferred tax nssets. Major items giving rise to deferred tax assets included deferred compensation and cerin
operating expenses capitalized for tax purposes. Management believes that, based on a number of factors, the
available objective evidence created sufficient uncertainty regarding the realization of net defemed tax assews
Accordingly, a valuation allowance was provided for the net deferred tax assets of the Company. The gross amount
of deferred tax assets is not material in relation to the Company's financial stalements taken as a whole. The
Company intends to make the required annual disclosures of SFAS 109 in its consnlidated financial statements as of
and for the year ended December 31, 1997.

Stock-Based Compensufion

In October 1995, the Financial Accounting Standards Board isued Statement No 123, "Accounting for Stock:
Nased Compensation.” Under Statement No. 123, stock-based compensation expense bs measured using either the
intrinsic-value method as prescribed by Accounting Principles Board (APB) Opimon Ro 25 or the far value
method described in Statement No. 123. The Company has chosen 1o account for compensation cost associated with
its stock option plans in accordance with APB Opinion No. 25,

3. Incorporation

On January 31, 1997, NEXTLINK Communications, L L C was erged with and into the Company in a tax-free
transaction. In that merger, the Class A membership interests of NEXTLINE Communications, L.L.C. were converied
into Class B common stock, options to acquire Class A membership interests were converted into options to purchase
Class B common stock, and options to purchase Class B membership interests were conveited into options to purchase
Class A common stock. The Company's Class A common stoch and Class i3 common stock are identical in dividend
and liquidation rights, and vote together as a single class on all maners, except as otherwise required by applicable law,
with the Class A sharcholders entitled to cast one vute per share, and the Class B sharcholders entitled to cast 10 votes
per share, In calculating the number of shares of the Company's Class B common stock that each of the Class A
members received in the merger, the Company applied a formula that reflected each member®s revalued capital account
balance as of January 31, 1997, Oplions to purchase Class B} membership interests were comverted into the night to
receive options 1o purchase shares of Class A commion s1ech on a one to one basis. As of Seplembzr 30, 1997, the
Company had 44,133,600 and 37,606,523 shares of Class b common stock euthorized and outstanding, respectively,
and 110,344,000 and 810,429 shares of Class A common steck authonized and outstanding, respectively. In addition,
there were options to purchase 3,388,364 shares of Class A common stock and options to purchase 654,858 shares of
Class B common stock outstanding. The Company also had 25,000,000 and 6,108,254 shares of Preferred Stock
authorized and outstanding. respectively.

4. IPreferred Stock

On January 31, 1997, the Company completed the sale of 7 million units consisung of (1) 14% senior
exchangeable redeemable preferred shares (Preferred Shases), liquidation preference $50 per share, and (i) contingent
warrants to acquire in the aggregate 5% of each class of outstanding junior shares (as defined) of the Company on a
fully diluted basis us of Febiuary 1, 1998, which resulted 1n pross proceeds to the Company of $285 million, and
proceeds net of underwriting discounts, advisory fees and expenses of $274 million. Dividends or the Preferred Shares
acerue fromi January 31, 1997 and are payable quanerly, commercimg on May 1, 1997, at an annual fate of 14%a of the
fiquidation preference thereol Dividends may be paid, at the Compand’s option, on any divigend payment date
vovtinme on o praot 1o February 1, 2002, enther an cash or by sssuing addiional Preferted Shates witl an agyiesats
Iquadation pretesence equal o the amount of such dividends The Company is required to edeemn all of the Melened

Slares ausstanding on February 1, 2000 Gt o redemption poce st o 10w the Biquidation vt e thoreat !
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7. Stock Option 'lan

Prior to February 1997, the Company maintained an Equity Option Plan which provided for the granting of
equity option interests in the Company. These option grants were considered compensatory and were accounted for
similar to stock appreciation rights. The Company recognized com pensation expense over the vesting periods based
on the excess of the fair value of the equity option interests, as determined by the Administrative Commiltee, over
the exercise price of the option interests. Such expense was periodically adjusted for changes in the fair value of the
equity interest units, These option interests vested ratably over a four-year period, although some retained vesting
schedules of previous option plans which, in most cases, vested 20% at employment and 20% at the end of cach
subscquent year. -

In connection with the incorporation of the Company (see Note J), the Company established the NEXTLINK
Communications, Inc. Stock Option Plan (the Plan) to replace the Equity Option P'lan and to provide a performance
incentive for certain officers, employees and individuals or companics who provide services 1o the Company. The
Plan provides for the granting of qualified and non-qualified stock options. All options outstanding under the Equity
Option Plan were regranted under the new Plan with terms and conditions substantially the same as under the Equity
Optioa Plan, except that option holders will no longer have the option to require the Company to repurchase units
for cash upon exercise of such units, ner will the Company have the option to repurchase exercised units for cash.
The Company has reserved 4,413,360 shares of Class A common stock for issuance under the Plan. The aptions
generally vest ratably over four years and expire no later than 10 years after the date of prant, with the exception of
options originally granted under the Equity Option Plan, which expire 15 years after the date of grant

The exercise price of qualified stock options granted under the Plan may not be less than the fair market value
of the common shares on the date of grant. The exercise price of non-qualified stock options pranted under the Ilan
may be greater or less than the fair market value of the comman stock on the date of prant, as determined by the
foard of Directors in its discretion. Stock options granted at prices below fair market value at the date of grant are
considered compensatory, and compensation expense is deferred and recognized ratably over the option vesting
period based on the excess of the fair market valu: of the stock at the date of grant over the exercise price of the
option. In connection with the regranting of options under the new Flan, the Company reclassified the delemed
compensation liability relating to compensatory options issued under the Equity Option Plan to common stoch,
stated at amounts paid in. The remaining, unrecognized compensalion expense attributable to these compensatory
options was also recorded as Jeferred compensation, a cantra-equity balance, and will be recopnizea over the
remaining vesting periods of the options.

During the nine months ended September 30, 1997, the Company recorded $557,000 and $292,000 of deferred
compensation expense related to the Stock Option Plan and Equity Option Plan, respectively.

5. Related FnrlyTr-nnsarﬁotlu

In August 1997, the Company agreed to lend centain officers and employees of the Company an aggregate of
$2 & million in connection with the payment of income taxes incurred upon the exerc ise of stock options. These
loans (i) bear interest at a fixed rate of 7.7%, (i) are secured by shares of Class A and Class 13 common stock waith a
market value equal to 2.5 times the amount of the loan and (i) require payment of principal and accrued interest on
February 26, 1999 Interest income from tie related party notes recemvable will be recopmzed when recened

9. Sharcholders® Lquity (Deficit)
g July 20, 1997, 1the Company's Board of Directors authoneed management o file o repnttaimn stitement

with thie Securities and Exehange Commiission o perint the Conipany 1o sell shares ob s 4 s A vt stk fo
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On August 27, 1997, the Company effected a 0.441336-for-1 reverse stock split of the issued and outstanding
chares of Class A and Class B common stock. All common stock, membership units, and per share amounts in the
consolidated financial statements have been adjusted retroactively to give effect to the reverse stock split

10. Reclassifications

Certain reclassifications have been made to prior period amounts in order to conform to the current
presentation

11. Subsequent Events
Finangings

On October 1, 1997, the Company completed an initial public offering (IP0) of 12,000,000 shares of Class A
common stock a1 a price of $17 per share. In addition, the underwriters of the 11O exercised an option (6 purchase
2,280,000 additional shares of Class A common stock at the same price per share. Gross proceeds from the 110
totaled approvimately $242.8 million, and proceeds net of undenwriting ducounts, advisory fees and capenses
agpresated approximately $226.8 million.

Concurrently with the IPO, the Company sold $400.0 million in aggregate principal amount of 9 5/8% Senior
Nates due 2007, which, after deducting issue costs, resulted in net proceeds 1o the Company of $3E8 5 million
Interest payments on the 9 5/8% Senior Notes are due semi-annually

Acquisitions

On October 1, 1997, the Company acquired all of the outstanding shares of Chadwick Telecommunications
Corporation (Chadwick), a switch-based long distance rescller in central Pennsylvania, through a merger transaction
between Chadwick and a wholly owned subsidiary of NEXTLINK. The purchase price of the transaction consisted
of a §5.0 million promissory note payable, duc January 1, 1998, issuance of 257,151 shares of Class A commaon
stock, and the repayment of long term debt and other liabilities totaling $5.2 million. The merger agreement also
prosdes for zdditional payments of up 10 a maximum of 192,863 shares of Class A common stock over a two yeat
period, wih these payments being contingent upon the acquired operation ackieving specilicd pertormance puvals

On November 1, 1997, the Company acquired all of the outstanding share: of Stars Technologies Corporation
(Start), a shared tenant services provider offering local and long distance services, Internet access and customer
premise equipment management in markets in Texas and Arizona. The Company paid consideration for the
transaction consisting of $20.0 million in cash, 441,336 shares of Class A common stock, and the assumption of
£3.4 million of liabilities, the majority of which will be repaid.



rant FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

OVERVIEW

Since its inception in 1994, the Company has exccuted a strategy of constructing and acquining fiber opic
networks and acquiring related telecommunications businesses. Over this period, the Company has begun
development or construction of, acquired, leased fibers or capacity on, of entered into agreements to acquire local
telecommunications networks in 30 markets in 11 states

The Company's primary focus is providing switched local and long distance and enhanced communications
services 1o small and medium sized commercial end-user customers. As of October 31, 1997, the Company
provided services in 24 of its 30 markets. The Company plans to acquire, build or develop networks in new areas,
expand its current networks, and also explore the acquisition or licensing of additional enhanced communications
services and other telecommunications service providers. These efforts should allow the Company to increasc ity
preseace in the marketplace, and facilitate providing a single source solution for the telecommumications needs wtat
customers

The tahle balow provides selected key financial and operating data (daflars are in thousands)
As ol znd

For the Three Months
Loded Septombier o,

_19% 1997
Gross property and equipment..,.....coc s S TRO7: $214,320
EBITDA £1) s amiiimsas ity § (7.753) 5 (19.834)
Operating data (2):
Route miles (3} corecrsrmmmmssmnesnsisssissssnsssiraarasassess U0 1,757
Fiber miles (4) ..o, 45,701 124,399
On-net buildings connected (5) oooeiiiniinins 2599 479
O:t-net buildings connected (6)........ - [.443
Saviatches instzlled e et G i3
Access Lines in serviee (7)) ccisnsinsioe 6, EICEE
Employees c..cooneeimmmuismmssassnassans T bl 456 1.027

(1) EBITDA consists of quarterly net loss before interest eapense, inferest income, minonty interests,
depreciation, amortization and deferred compensation expense EBITDA is commonly used to analyse
companies on the basis of operating performance, leverage and Lquidity. While EBITDA should not be
construed as a substitute for operating income of a better measuze of Liquidity than cash flow {rom vperatng
activities, which are determined in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, 1t 15 included
herein to provide additional information with respect to the ability of the Company to meet future debt service,
capital expenditure and working capital requiremenis.

() The operating data for all periods subsequent to March 1996 include the statistics of the 1as Vepas network,
which the Company manages and in which the Company has a 40% e miembership mierest

(3) Route miles refers 1o the number of miles of the telecommunications path um which thie Company s e J
leaved fiber optic cables are installed,

(4 Fibser miles refers 1o the number of route miles installed slong 3 telcccmmunications pail, muliplicd o) the
Conmpanys estimate of the number of fibers along that path

= fropresents buildings physically connected 10 the Company s rotwarks encludins o |

afled imcumbent ocal exchomee (ILEC) Lacibities
" Pt satits nildine s connectad to e Company st | ERILETEUER
Snnnnber ol acess Tides i seevaee i b Al vl atat g b
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The Company builds its networks to encompass the significant business concentrations in each area it serves,
focusing on direct connections to end-user locations and ILEC central oflices. The Company employs a uniform
technology platform for each of its local exchange networks that is based on the Nortel DMS 500 digital local and
long distance combination switching platform and associated distribution technology. As of October 31, 1997, the
Company had ten operational Nortel DMS 500 switches and currently plans to install three additional switches by
the end of the first quarter of 1998. The Company alsc has installed a Nortel DMS 500 switch in its NEXTLAD
facility, a fully functional model of one of the Company's networks, which serves as a testing facility for switch
software and the Company's products and services and will serve as the Company's network operations control
center. The Company also employs two long distance switches,

The Company also provides enhanced communications services including: (1) interactive voice response
services, which provide an interface Letween the Company's clients and their customers for a varety of
applications, and (ii) Magic Number, the Company's virual communications center that allows mobile
professionals and workgroups 10 access a suite of commonly used communications services fron any telephone i
the public switched telephone retwork. Historically, the Company has detived a substantial portion of ats revenues
from these services. As local and long distance revenues are expected to grow more rapidiy than tevenues Trom the
Company’s enhanced communications services, the Company anticipates that, over the neat five years, local and
long distance revenues will account for a significantly higher percentage of total revenues.

The development of the Company’s businesses and the construction, acquisition and expansion of ity networks
require significant expenditures, a substantial portion of which are incurred betore the realization of tevenues. These
expenditures, together with the associated early operating expenses, result in negative cash flow unul an adequate
customer base is established. However, as the customer base grows, the Company expects that incremental revenucs
can be generated with decreasing incremental operating expenses, which may provide positive contnibutions to cash
flow. The Company has made the strategic decision to build high capacity networks with broad market coverage,
which initially increases its level of capital expenditures and operating losses. The Company believes that over the
fong term this will enhance the Company's financial performance by increasing the traffic flow over the Company’s
netwaorks. The Company has recently entered into leased dark fiber and fiber capacity arrangements which allow the
Company, by installing one or more switches and related electronics, to enter a market prior to completing
construction of its own fiber optic network.

Proor to Jaruary 31, 1997, the Company was a linuted laluliy company that was classiied and taved as a
parinership for federal and state income tax purposes. As of January 31, 1997, the Company became subject to

federal and state income tax directly as a C corporation.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Revenue increased 94% to $13.4 million during the third quarter of 1997, from $6.9 million in the same period
in 1996. Year to date revenue of $35.1 million represented an 835% increase from the $19.0 million reported for the
comparable period in 1996. The increase was, in part, due to the acquisition of ITC, a switch-based long, distance
reseller. in December 1996, as well as 33% year to date growth in local and long distance services (both switched
and resale), dedicated services and enhanced communications services, The third quarter 1997 revenues included
$8.8 million derived from local and long distance, competitive access and dedicated line services and 34.6 million
detived from enhanced communications services. The Company's interactive voice response subsidiary contributed
54% and 28% of the Company’s revenues during the third quarters of 1996 and 1997, respectively. The revenues
generated by this subsidiary have tended to Muctuate on a quarter to quarter basis as the revenues are seacrally event
driven and seasonal in nature

Phe Company began offering switched local and long distance services i oseven of it nuibets s July 1990
cighii mathet in Jamuan 1997, three additional markers including Cleveland and Columbaie O 2 well s ba
Vs v 10T and e 12 additienal markets mchnde Pholadeiptog Laos A b IRLE AN
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stratepic plan calls for expansion into additional markel arcas Such expansion will require significant additional
caplial for. potential acquisitions of businesses or assels; desipn, development and construction of new networks;
and the funding of operating losses during the start-up phase of cach market. During the first nine months ol 1997,
the Company used $59.2 million in cash for operating activities, compared to $18.9 million for the same period in
the prior year. The increase was primarily due to a substantial increase in the Company's activitics associated with
the development and initiation of switched local and long distance services. During the first nine months of 1997,
the Company invested an additional $136.7 million in property and equipment, acquisitions of telecommunications
businesses and equity investments in telecommunications businesses, During, the same period in 1996, the Company
invested $52.7 million in property and equipment, acquisitions of telecommunications assets and businesses anu

equity investments in telecommunications businesses,

-

In August 1997, the Company entered into a definitive agreement to acquire all outstanding shares of Stant
Technologies Corporation (Start), & shared tenant services provider serving commercial buildings in Dallas, Austin
and Corpus Christi, Texas and Phoenix, Arizona The tansaction closed on November |, 1997, Services offeted by
Grart include local and long distance services, Internel access and customer premise cquipment management Stan
currently provides services under long term contracts o GO0 corparate customers, o apprommately 13,000 end
users The Company paid considzration for the transaction consisting of $20.0 million an cash, 441,336 shares of
Class A common stock and the assumption of approximately $3.4 million of habilities, the majonity of which will be

repaid

In July 1997, the Company exccuted a definitive agreement to acquire all of the outstanding shares of
Chadwick Telecommunications Corporation {Chadwick), @ switch-based long distance reseller i central
Pennsylvania, through a merger transaction berween Chadw ick and a wholly owned subsidiary of NEXTLINK. The
wransaction closed on October 1, 1997. Chadwick serves approximately 11,500 custamers throughout the central and
castern Pennsylvania regions. The Company issued consideration for the transaclion consisting of a promissory note
payable in the aggregate principal amount of $5.0 million, 257.151 shares of Class A common stoch aud the
repayment of long term debt and other liabilities totaling $5.2 million. The merger agreement also provides for
sdditional payments of up to a maximum of 192,863 shares of Class A common stock over a two year period, with
these payments being contingent upon the acquired operation achieving specified performance goals.

crment 1o acquire certain telecommunications

In September 1997, the Company entered into a definitive apre
route mles of netwarh plus 13 males o

assets of Unicam Thermal Technologies, Ine. (UTT), including o esitingt
conduit in downtown Chicago, The Company aiso his the nghi G participate 10 the ongomg expanston of UTT's
netwark in Chicago. The existing network currently provides connechivily 10 28 buildings. The Company agreed to
pay $2.5 million in cash, plus up to an additional $560,000 for the acquisition of certain telecommunicalions
facilities. The Company will also be required to issue certain additional consideration to UTT for a portion of the
network expansion costs, up to $3.4 million in cash plus the issuance of up to 60,022 shares of Class A common

stock,

In June 1997, the Company entered into an cight year exclusive agreement, with an option 10 rencw for five
additional years, with a company that has excess fiber capacity in each of Atlanta, Chicago, New York City,
Newark, New Jersey, and Philadelphia which it agreed to make available 1o the Company in each of thos= marhets
at a snbstantial discount to the wholesale rates charged by other vendors of capacity. In addition 1o the capacity
desctibed abave, the Company also eatered into a 20-year lease of capacity ovel an exuhing 47-mile fiber network
i New York City, which extends from the Wall Streel area north 10 midtown Manhattan. In June 1997, the
Company paid S11 nillion in full satisfaction of is obligation under s tease, $6 million of which has been placed
in escrow pending completion of certdin building connections by the jessor These atrangements sill allow the
Comguny o acselerate its enry imto cach of these markets by enabling the Comprany 1 avink
of the teaetiadure devedopenent and constructian tme that would other e be peagiied fur L B et ok Spervice

ot these tathets Adthough these agreements have reduced the dvival capiral evpemditures
pal s prenditures i

{ a seernficant poriio
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other consents and is anticipated to be consummated by the end of 1997. During the interim per iod prior to closing,
the Company is operating under a 36 fiber capacity agreement with the seller.

On February 4, 1997, the Company completed the acquisition of substantially all of the assets of Linkatel, a Loy
Angeles-based competitive access telecommunications provider. At the time of acquisition, Linkatel operated an 80
mile fiber optic telecommunications network covering several markets in the Orange and Los Anpeles county arcas
The total purchase price of $42.5 million consisted of a cash payment of $36.1 million (including the release of $6.0
million which was deposited into escrow during 1996) plus the repayment of debt of §5.6 million and w.c
assumption of net liabilities totaling $0.8 million.

In January 1997, the Company obtained rights-of-way to expand i1s existing Salt Lake Cuy network into Prove
and Orem, Utah. The Company has completed the expansion of this network to Provo and Orem and began
providing network services in Provo and Orem in September 1997.

Prior 1o April 1996, the Company funded its expenditures w ith approsimitely $55.0 aullion of cash equiy
investments from two entities that are conrolled by Crang O McCaw On Apnil 25, 1996, the Company raised gross
procecds of approximately $350 million through the nsuance of 12%4%% Senior Notes. The Company used 81177
million of the gross proceeds 1o purchase and hold in escrow LS government securnties, representing fundsy
sufficient to provide for payment in full of interest on the 12%% Senior Notes through April 15, 1999, and used an
additional $32.2 million to repay certain advances and accrued interest from Eagle River, a company formed and
owned by Mr. McCaw. In addition, the Company incurred costs of 9.8 million in connectics. with the financing
Interest payments on the 12%4% Senior Notes are due semi-an nually

On January 31, 1997, the Company completed the sale of $285 million agerepate liquidation prefetence of 14%
senior exchangeable redeemable preferred shares (Preferred Shares) which, after deducting issuance costs, resulied
in net proceeds to the Company of approximately $274 million The Prefeired Shares accrue dividends at the rate of
14% per annum. On or before February 1, 2002, div idends may, at the option of the Company, be paid in cash or by
issuing additional Preferred Shares with an aggregate liquidation preference equal to the amount of such dividends
After February 1, 2002, dividends must be paid in cash. As of September 30, 1997, the Company had issued an
additional 408,251 shares of Preferred Shares in satisfaction of the first two quarterly dividends.

Since inception, the Company has also sssued Class A Units valued at SISS mulbon pramandy for the
acquusition of certain telecommunications assets ard ousinesses, which Units were cunverted Lo shares of Claw B
Common Stock uf the Company on January 31, 1997.

On October 1, 1997, the Company completed an initial public offering (IPO) of 12,000,000 shares of Class A
common stock at a price of $17 per share. In addition, the underwriters of the 11'O exercised an oftion o purchase
2 250,000 additional shares of Class A common stock al the same price per share. Gross proceeds from the IPO
totaled $242.8 million, and proceeds net of underwriting discounts, advisory fees and estimated expenses
aperegated approximately $226.8 million. Concurremly with the PO, the Company sold $400.0 million n
ageregate principal amount of 9 5/8% Senior Notes due 2007, which, afier deducting estimated issue costs, resulted
in net proceeds to the Company of approximately $388.5 million. Interest payments on the 9 5/8%: Sentor Notes ate
due semi-annually,

The Company will use the net proceeds from the sale of Class A common stock and 9 5/8%% Semor Notes (the
Offerings) and existing unrestricted cash balances for expenditures relating 1o the construction, acqusition and
operation of telecemmunications networks and service providers and the oftering of telec Omumine At services 1n

tose areas where the Company: corrently operates or mtends e eperats Dypenditares ot the comstruchion

aperatan of petwarhs mclude (1) the purchuse and mstallation ot switches and related electromics e edisting
pretm bl metworks to be constructed or acquired i new on adgacent arhets (o he puarcho wd patallans,
vi Hbar e wabile and electiones Lo eapand exisbing metvoths and develop new fla i
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NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARD

In February 1997, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement No. 128, "Eamings Per Share”
(SFAS 128), which revises the calculation and presentation provisions of Accounting Principles Board Opinion 13
and related interpretations. SFAS 128 is effective for the Company's fiscal year ending December 31, 1997, and
retroactive application is required. The Company does not expect the implementation of SFAS 128 10 have a
material effect on camings per share amounts reported prior to that date




PART 1L OTHER INFORMATION

ltem 1. Legal Proceedings

The Company is not currently a panty 1o any legal proceedings, other than regulatory and
other procecdings that are in the normal course of its business

ltem 2. Chanees in Securities and Use of Proceeds

In August 1997, the Company issued 921,314 shares of Class B common stock upon
exercise of an option to purchase such shares of common stock  Essentially no
consideration was received in exchange for the shares of Class B common stock 1ssued
Such shares of Class B common stock were issued in reliance upon an exemption from
repistration contained in Section 4(2) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended

The Company filed a registration statement on Form S-1 (File No 333-32001) which
became effective on September 26, 1997, whereby 15,200,040 shares of Class A common
stock, S 02 par value per share, were sold in an initial public offerig 3t a price ol $17 per
Jhare. OF the 15,200,000 shares of Class A common stock sold, 12,000,000 were sold by
e Company and 3,200,000 were sold by a selling shareholder. The Company did not
receive any of the proceeds from the sale of shares by the sclling sharcholder. In addition,
the underwriters of the 1PO, led by Salomon Brothers Inc, exercised an option to purchase
2 280,000 additional shares of Class A common stock at the same price per share. Net
proceeds 10 the Company from the initial public offering totaled approvimately 3226 %
million, afier deducting underwriting discounts, advisory lees and expenses agpicpating
appronimately $160 million. The Company intends 10 wie substantially all of the ncl
proceeds from the initial public offering for expenditures relating 1o the expansion ol
enisting networks and services, the development and acquisition of new networks and
services and the funding of operating losses and working capital. The net proceeds from the
initial public offering were received on October 1, 1997; as such, none of the net proceeds
had been used by the Company as of September 30, 1997

The Company filed a registration statement on Form S-1 (hile ho 333:32003) whach
became effective on September 26, 1997, whereby the Company sold 33000 million
asgrepate prncipal amount of 9 5/8% Senior Notes. The olicning was led by Salon
Brothers Inc. Net proceeds from the sale of the Senior Noies totaled approx imately S388.5
miilion, after deducting issuance costs ageregating approximately S1LS millicn, relating to
underwriting discounts, advisory fees and expenses. The use of proceeds from the debt
offering are substantially the same as the Company's initial public offening The net
procecds from the debt offering were reccived on Oclober 1, 1997, as such, none of the net
proceeds had been used by the Company as of September 30, 1997,

Ttem 3. Defaults Upon Senior Sccurities
None
Ttem 4 Submisston of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

A\ spowial mecting of the sharcholders was held on August 25, 1997, 10 authorze a
0 221550001 reverse stock sphit of the issued srnd outstanding shares of Class A and €l
I cvamnon stock  The vone possed with 730231873 aflinmate-v voles amd bl 7557
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrants have duly caused this report 1o be sipned

on their behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

Date: Novemnber 14, 1997

[ate: November 14, 1947

NEXNTLINE Commumications, Inc

Hy. /s Kathleen H. 1shra
kathleen 1, Ishra

Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and
Treasurer

(Principal financial and accounting ofticer)

REXTLINK Capital, Inc

By /» Bahleen H bkra

Kathicen 1. Iskra

Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and
Treasurer

(Principal financial and accounting vfticer)
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Exhibit No.

NEXTLINK COMMUNICATIONS, INC,
EXHIBIT INDEX

Description

Statement Regarding Computation of Net Loss Per Share

Financial Data Schedule




EXHIBIT 11

NEXTLINK COMMUNICATIONS, INC.
STATEMENT REGARDING COMPUTATION OF NET LOSS PER SHARE

Three Months
Ended

September 30, 1997

(Dollars in thoutands, except
per share data)

Weighted average common shares ontstanding..... 317,873,532
Net cl'l'cd of stock options granted and common sll:u:}. |ssu:d dunng the 12 momh

periad prior to the Company’s filing of its initial public offering at leas than the

offering price, calculated using the treasury stock method at the offening price of

§17.00 per shate, and treates as outstanding for all periods presented 1,383,594
Shares used in compulation af net 1088 per Share... i . _ 39,257,126
0 S : < (31,585
Preferred stock div |dcnds and accretion of prcl’crn:d stock redemption

obligation, including iSSUE COMS.o i e, i . (10,798)

Net loss applicable to common shares ... 5 (42.383)
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& Switched Services Provided

Switched Services to be Launched in 1997
13 Switched Services to be Launched in 1998
y '_ Enhanced Service Provider

€ NEXTLAB Testing and Training Facility

CERTAIN PERSONS PARTICIPATING IN THIS OFFERING MAY ENGAGE IN TRANSACTIONS THAT
STABILIZE, MAINTAIN, OR OTHERWISE AFFECT THE PRICE OF THE CLASS A COMMON STOCK,
INCLUDING OVER-ALLOTMENT, STABILIZING AND SHORT-COVERING TRANSACTIONS INSUCH
SECURITIES, AND THE IMPOSITION OF A PENALTY BID, IN CONNECTION WITH THE OFFERING.
FOR A DESCRIPTION OF THESE ACTIVITIES, SEE “UNDERWRITING."




Develop High Capacity Fiber Oplic Networks with Broad Markel Coverage. NEXTLINK has
and intends to continue 1o approach network design with a long-term view focusing on three key
elements. First, the Company designs and builds its networks to provide extensive coverago of
those areas where the density of business lines Is highest and to enable the Company to provide
direct connections 10 a high percentage of commercial buildings and ILEC central offices situated
near the network. Over time, this broad coverage is expected to result in a higher proportion of traffic
that is both originated and terminated on the Company's networks, which should provide higher
long-term operating margins. Second, the Company constructs high capacity networks that utilize
large fiber bundles capable of carrying high volumes of voice, data, video and Internet traffic as well
as other high bandwidth services. This strategy should reduce potential “overbuild” costs and
provide added network capacity as the Company adds high bandwidth services in the fulure. In
Atlanta, Chicago, New York and Newark, New Jersey, the Company will utilize leased dark fiber and
fiber capacity to launch facilities-based services and begin building a customer base in advance of
completing construction of its own fiber optic network in these markets. Third, the Company
employs a uniform technology platform based on Nortel DMS 500 switches (ten of which are
currently installed, including one switch that has been installed at the Company's testing and
network operations control center, and an additional four of which are currently planned to be
installed by the end of the first quarter of 1998), associated distribution technology and other
common transmission technologies enabling the Company to (i) deploy features and functions
quickly in all of its networks, (i) expand switching capacity in a cost effective manner and (iii) lower
maintenance costs through reduced training and spare parts requirements. The Company also
utilizes unbundled loops from the ILEC to connect the Company's switch and network to end user
buildings and is evaluating other alternatives for building connectivity, including wireless connec-
tions, for the “last mile” of transport.

Continue Market Expansion. The Company's goal is to add or expand markets and market
clusters to increase ils addressable business lines 1o approximately 11 million by the end of 1998.
The Company anticipates continuing to expand into new geographic areas, including additional
large markels, as cpportunities arise either through building new netwarks, acquiring existing
networks or acquiring or leasing dark fiber and fiber capacity. NEXTLINK also believes that its
strateqy of operating ils networks in clusters (i) offers substantial advantages including economies
of scale in management, markeling, sales and network operations, (i) enables the Company to
caplure a greater percentage of regional trafic and to develop regional pricing plans, because the
Company believes that a significant level of traffic terminates within 300 miles of its origination and
(iii) provides opportunities in smaller markets that are too small to develop on a stand alone basis

Otfer Enhanced Communications Services. NEXTLINK offers customers value-added ser-
vices that are not dependent on the Company's local facilities. The Company believes that with
these services it can establish a customer base in @ market in advance of constructing network
facilities as well as offer additional services in markets where tha Company has constructed
facilities. The Company plans to market its enhanced communications service offerings in all of its
markets, as well as in areas of planned network expansion. This should increase the Company's
visibility, develop customer relationships and assist the Company in altracting local exchange
cuslomers when it operates networks in these markets,
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15,200,000 Shares

NEXTLINK Communications, Inc.

Class A Common Stock
($.02 par value)

Of the 15,200,000 shares of Class A Common Stock, rar value $.02 per share (the "Class A Common Stock”), offered hereby
12,000,000 shares (the “Company Offering”) are being sold by NEXTLINK Communications, Inc,, a Washinglon corporation (the
“Company” o "NEXTLINK") and 3,200,000 are being sold by Eagle River Investments, L.L C., a Washington limited liabity company
{"Eagle River” or the "Selling Shareholder”). See "Security Ownership of Cenain Beneficial Owners and Management” T..2
Company will no! receive any of the proceeds from the sale of shares by the Selling Shareholder. See “"Use of Proceeds ™ Of the
15,200,000 shares of Class A Common Stock offered, 12,160,000 shares are being oMered by the US Underwriters (as defned
herein) in the United States and Canada (the “U.S. Stock Offering”) and 3,040,000 shares are being offered by the International
Underwriters (as defined herein), in a concurren! offering oulside the United States and Canada (ihe “International Stock Qffering™
and together wilh the US. Stock Ofering, the “Stock OMering”). subject 1o transfers between the US Underwriters and the
Internationa! Underwriters (collectively, the “Underwriters”). The initial public offering price and the aggregate underwtiling discount
par share are identical for the U S Slock Ofering and the Intermalional Slock Oftering Soo “Underwnting ™ Tho closing of the U.S
Slock Offering and the Inlemational Siock Oftering are condiioned upon each other Pnor to the Stock Offering, there has been no
public marke! for the Class A Common Stock, For fectors considered in determining the intal public offering price, see
“Underwnting.” The Underwrilers have reservied up to 1,880,000 shates of Class A Commaon Stock offered in the Stack ONeting lor
sale at the inital public olfering price to oMicars, directors, employees and other parsons designaled by the Company who have

expressed an interest in purchasing shaies

The Company has two classes of common stock, the Class A Common Stock and the Class B Comman Stack, § 02 par value per
shate (the “Class B Common Stock™ and, together with the Class A Common Stack, the "Common Stock™) The nghts of the Class A
Commaon Stock and the Class B Cammaon Stock are substanlially identical, except Ihal holders of the Class A Common Stock are
entitled 10 one vole per share and holders of the Class B Common Stock are enidied 1o 10 votes per share. The Class B Comman
Stock is lully convertible at any tme into Class A Common Stock, at the ophon of the halder, on a ene-for-one basis. The Common
Stock voles as one class on all mallers generally submitted to a vote of stockholders, including the election of directois See
“Description of Capital Stock."”

Concurrently with the Stock Ofering, Ihe Company is offening 400 milion aggregate principal amount of 9%% Senlor Notes due 2007
(the “New Notes”) pursuant Lo a registration statement filed under the Secunties Act of 1933, as amended (the “Debt Oftering” and,
together with the Stock Offering, the "Oferings™). The consummalion of 1he Stock Offering 1s not contingent wpon the consummation
al the Debt Olering

ANer the Stock Offening. Eagle River, which is conirotied by Craig O McCaw, will own approarnately 83% of the Class B Common
Stock, tepresenting 758% ol the total voling power of the Company See “Risk Factors— Control by Craig O, McCaw, Potential Confiicts
of Interest,” "Secunity Ownership of Centain Benelicial Ownars and Management” and “Descrption of Capial Stock.”

The Class A Commaon Stock has been qualilied for inclusion in the Nasdag National Marke! under the symbal “"NXLEK
See "Risk Factors" beginning on page 9 for a discussion of certain factors which

should be considered by potential investors.

THESE SECURITIES HAVE NOT BEEN APPROVED OR DISAPPROVED BY THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
OR ANY STATE SECURITIES COMMISSION NOR HAS THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION OR ANY STATE
SECURITIES COMMISSION PASSED UPON THE ACCURACY OR ADEQUACY OF THIS PROSPECTUS. ANY
AREPRESENTATION TO THE CONTRARY IS A CRIMINAL OFFENSE.

Price 1o Underwriting " Proceeds to Proceeds to

Publie Discoumt Company (1) Selling Shareholder
PRGOS & v avai aare s o i wiiiaidniia s $17.0000 §1.0625 $159375 $159375
Tolal (@) ...... o $258,400,000 $16.150,000 $101,250000  $51,000,000

(1) Belore deducting oMering oxpensas payable by the Company, estimated o be $625,000

{2) The Company has granied 1o the Underwriters a J0-day option lo purchase up lo an aggregate of 2,280,000 addional shates of
Class A Common Slock at the Price 1o Public, less the Underwriting Discounl, solely 10 cover over-aliotments, i any If the
Underwrilers exercise such oplion in full, the lotal Price to Public, Unde-wnting Discount and Proceeds to Company wil be
£297,160,000. 518,572,500 and §227,587,500, respectvely. See “"Underwnting ™

Tha shares of Class A Common Stock are offered subject 1o receipt and acceptance by the Underwriters, 1o pnor sale and to the

Underwriers’ nghl 1o reject any order in whole or in par and 1o withdraw, cance! or modiy the offer without notice I is expected that

delivery of the shates of Class A Common Stock offored horeby will be made at the office of Salomon Brothers Inc, S- enWaorld Trade

Centor, Now York, New York or through the facilities of The Depotitory Trust Company, on or abou!l October 1. 1997

Salomon Brothers Inc
Merrill Lynch & Co.
Bear, Stearns & Co. Inc.
Lazard Freres & Co. LLC

The date of this Prospectus s Seplember 26, 1897




PROSPECTUS SUMMARY

The following is @ summary of certain information containod elsewhere In this Prospectus. Reference
is made lo, and this Prospectus Summary Is qualilied In its entirely by, the more detailed information,
Including the Company's ConsolidateJ Financial Statements and notes therelo, conlained herein. Unless
the context otherwise requires, the terms "NEXTLINK"™ and the “Company" refer to NEXTLINK Communi-
cations, Inc., 8 Washington corporation, its consolidated subsidiaries and 40% membership interest in
Telecommunications of Nevada, LLC, which operates a network thal is managed by the Company. All
operational statistics of the Company included in this Prospectus include 100% of the operational
statistics of Telecommunications of Nevada, LLC. The Company is the successor o NEXTLINK Communi-
cations, L.L.C., a Washington limited liability company that merged with and into the Company effeclive
January 31, 1997. All financial and operational data presented for periods prior to January 31, 1997 relate
to NEXTLINK Communications, L.L.C. Capitalized terms used in this Prospectus, which are not otherwise
defined herein, have the respective meanings ascribed to them in the Glossary included as Annex A
hereto. Information in this Prospectus, unless otherwise Indicated, (i) gives effect to the 0.441336-for-1
reverse stock split of both the Class A Common Stock and the Class B Common Stock effected in
conneclion with the Stock Offering, (ii) assumes that the Selling Shareholder will convert 3,200,000
shares of Class B Common Stock into 3,200,000 shares of Class A Common Stock at the closing of the
Stock Offering, which shares are being offered hereby and (iii) assumes thal the over-allotment option that
has been granted to the Underwriters in the Stock Offering will not be exercised.

The Company

NEXTLINK was founded in 1994 by Craig O. McCaw, its principal equity owner, to provide local
{acilities-based telecommunications services 1o its largeted cusiomer base of small and medium-sized
businesses. In July 1996, NEXTLINK became one of the first competitive local exchange carriers
(“CLECs") in the United States to provide facilities-based switched local services under the Telecommu-
nications Act of 1996 (the “Telecom Act”), which opaned the entire local exchange market to competi-
tion. In each of the markets it serves, NEXTLINK seeks to become a principal competitor to the
incumbent local exchange carrier (“ILEC") for its targeted customers by providing an integrated pach:
age of high quality, local, long distance and enhanced lelecommunicalions services at competiive
prices.

The market potential for competitive telecommunications services is large and growing. Industry
sources estimate that in 1996 the total revenues from local and long distance teloecommunicahinns

services were approximately $183 billion, of which approximatoly £101 billion woie dotived om local
exchange services and approximately $82 billion from long distance services. Based upon FCC informa-

tion, agarogate revenues for local and long distance services grew at a compounded annual rate of
approximately 5.5% between 1991 and 1996. The Telecom Act, the FCC's issuance of rules for compeli-
tion and pro-competitive policies developed by state regulatory commissions have created opporuni-
ties for new entrants, including the Company, to capture a portion of the ILEC's dominant, and histon-
cally monopoly controlled, market share of local services. The development of switched local services
competition, however, is in its early stages, and the Company believes that CLECs currently serve fewer
than 1% of the total business lines in the United States.

The Company's targeted customer base within the national telecommunications markel is small 10
medium-sized businesses, generally those businesses with fewer than 50 access lines. Based on
consultants’ reports, the Company estimates that as of year end 1996, there were approximately 170
million access lines nationwide, including approximately 55 million business lines

The Company develops and operates high capacity, fiber optic networks wilth broad market cover-
age in a growing number of markets across the United States. In its swilched local service markets, the
Company offers its customers a bundled package of local and long distance services and also offers
dedicated transmission and competitive access services to long distance carriers and end users In

-




ﬂdd“lon. MEHL'NK foﬂl‘ﬂ marﬂ' non-network-based enhanced conunniloatinns worgiens 10 custom:
ers nationwido, including a variety of interactive voice response (“IVR") products and a vintual comimin

cations center for mobile professionals and workgroups.

The Company currently operates 14 facilities-based networks providing swiltched local and long
distance services in 23 markets in seven states. The Compary anlicipates that an additional three
markets will ba served by three additional networks by December 1997. These 26 markets, in addition 1o
four other markets currently under development, have a total of approximately 8.0 million addressatle
business lines. The Company's goal Is 1o add or expand markets and market clusters 1o increase ils
addressable business lines to approximately 11 million by the end of 1998,

NEXTLINK is pursuing its targeted cuslomer base in markels of all sizes. In larger markets, the
Company has operational networks in Los Angeles and Philadelphia, and networks under development
in Chicago and New York City. The Company also has operational networks in medium-sized markets
such as Las Vegas and Nashville as well as sn#ller markets that have been clustered in Orange County,
California and central Pennsylvania. The Company will enter larger markets on a stand-alone basis
where it is economically attraclive to do so and where competitive and other market factors warrant such
entry. The Company also considers pursuing smaller markets where it can extend or cluster an existing
network with relatively little incremental capital. The Company anlicipates that the addressable business
lines in the larger markets that it is currently operating and developing will reprasent the majority of the
Company's addressable business lines by year end 1998

NEXTLINK has experienced significant growth in its customer base. NEXTLINK's customer access
lines in service have increased from 8,511 access lines at December 31, 1996 to 17,409 access lines at
June 30, 1997. In those markets where the Company has offered switched local sarvices for at least 12
months, the Company has increased ils access lines in service from 8,511 at December 31, 1996 1o
15,450 at June 30, 1997. The Company has also achieved significant growth in the rate of quanerly
installations of new ciislomer access lines, from a total ol 1,604 in the founth quarter of 1996 10 6,153 in
the second quarter of 1997, At the end of August 1997, the Company had a total of 26,921 installed
access lines. For those markets in which the Company has offered switched local services for at least 12
months, the rate increased from 1,604 installations in the fourth quarter of 1996 10 4,310 in the sa2cond
quarter of 1997,

NEXTLINK believes that a critical factor in the successful implementation of its strategy is the quality
of its management team and their extensive experience in the lelecommunications industry. The Com.
pany has built a management team that it believes is well suited to challenge the dominance of the ILECs
in the local exchange market. Craig O. McCaw, the Company's founder and principal equily ownet,
Steven W. Hooper, the Company's Chairman of the Board, Wayne M. Perry, the Campany's Vice
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, and James F. Voelker, the Company's President, each has 15 or
more years of experience in leading companies in competitive segments of the lelecommunications
industry. In addition, the prasidents of the Company's operating subsidiaries and the Company's senior
officers have an average of 14 years of experience in the telecommunications industry. Mr. Hooper and
Mr. Perry are the most recent additions to the NEXTLINK executive management team, both of whom
were members of the senior management team at McCaw Cellular Communications, Inc. (“McCaw
Cellular”) during the years in which it became the nation's largest cellular telephone company. Following
McCaw Cellular’s sale to AT&T Corp. in 1994, Messrs. Perry and Hooper were Vice Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer, respectively, of AT&T Wireless Services, Inc.

Business Strategy

The Company has built an end user-focused, locally oriented organization dedicated to providing
switlched local and long distance telephone service at competitive prices to small and medium-sized
businesses. The key components of the Company'’s strategy to become a leading provider of competi-
live telecommunications services and maximize penetration of its targeted customer base are:




Develop High Capacily Fiber Optic Networks with Broad Market Coverage. NEXTLINK has
and Intends o continue to approach network design with a long-term view tocusing on three key
elements. First, the Company designs and builds its networks to provide extensive coverage o'
those areas where the density of business lines is highest and to enable the Company to provide
direct connections to a high percentage of commercial buildings and ILEC central offices situated
near the network. Qver lime, this broad coverage is expected to result in a higher proportion of traffic
that is both originated and terminated on the Company's notworks, which should provide higher
long-term operating margins. Socond, the Company constructs high capacity networks that utilize
large hber bundles capable of carrying high volumes of voice, data, video and Internet trahic as well
as other high bandwidth services. This strategy should reduce potential “overbuild” costs and
provide added network capacity as the Company adds high bandwidth services in the future In
Atlanta, Chicago, New York and Newark, New Jersey, the Company will utilize leased dark fibor and
fiber capacity to launch facilities-based services and begin building a customer base in advance of
completing construction of its own fiber oplic network in these markets. Third, the Company
employs a uniform technology platform based on Nortel DMS 500 switches (ten of which are
currently installed, including one switch that has been installed al the Company’s testing and
network operations control center, and an additional four of which are currently planned to be
installed by the end of the first quarter of 1998), associated distribution technology and other
common transmission technologies enabling the Company to (i) deploy features and funclions
quickly in all of its networks, (ii) expand swilching capacity in a cost effective manner and (iii) lower
maintenance costs through reduced lraining and spare parts requirements. The Company also
utilizes unbundled loops from the ILEC to connect the Company’s switch and network 10 end user
buildings and is evaluating other alternatives for building connectivity, including wireless connec
tions, for the "last mile" of transport.

Continue Market Expansion. The Company's goal is to add or expand markets and market
clusters to increase its addressable business lines to approximately 11 million by the end of 1998.
The Company anticipates continuing to expand into new geographic areas, including additional
large markels, as opportunities arise either through building new networks, acquiring existing
networks or acquiring or leasing darl fiber and fiber capacity. NEXTLINK also believes that its
strategy of operating its networks in clusters (i) offers substantial advantages including economies
of scale in management, markeling. sales and network operations, (ii) enables the Company to
capture a greater percentage of regional traffic and 1o develop regional pricing plans, because the
Company believes that a significarit level of traffic terminates within 300 miles of its origination and
(iil) provides opportunities in smaller markets that are too small to develop on a stand alone basis.

Otfer Enhanced Communications Services. NEXTLINK ofers customers value-added ser-
vices that are not dependent on the Company's local facilities. The Company believes thal with
these services il can establish a customer base in a market in advance of constructing network
facilities as well as offer additional services in markets where the Company has constructed
facilities. The Company plans to market its enhanced communications service offerings in all of its
markets, as well as in areas of planned network expansion, This should increase the Company's
visibility, develop customer relalionships and assist the Company in attracting local exchange
cuslomers when it operates networks in these markets.




The Stock Offering

Class A Common Stock offered by the

net proceeds from the Company Offering for
expenditures relating to the expansion of existing
networks and services, the development and
acquisition of new networks and services and the
funding of operating losses and working capital.
The Company will not receive any of the proceeds
from the sale of 3,200,000 shares of Class A

Company: )
US. Stock Offering . . ..o cvovvnnnannnnn. 9,600,000 shares
International Stock Offering . ........cnvnn 2,400,000 shares
FBIAL L 0 o e e e R S 12,000,000 shares
Class A Conunon Ulouk offmrad by the Salling
Shareholder:
US.StockOffering .. . ...ovvevvnvnnnaaes 2,560,000 shares
International Stock Offering . . . ........... 640,000 shares
TOM . o v oo vavnarssssnmenyssnossss 3,200,000 shares
Common Stock to be outstanding aftor the
Stock Offering(1): -
Class ACommon Stock . .............u- 15,992,174 shares
Class BCommon Stock ................ 34,406,523 shares
TOMB) .+ v eain v m siae s 4 niw ae b 5 ab 08 e 50,398,697 shares
UseoflProceeds .....couuevcvcaonnnnnaan The Company intends o use substantally all of the
Common Slock offered by
Shareholder. See “"Use of Proceeds.”
Nasdaq National Market symbol . ........... NXLK
Concurrent Debt Offering .. ............... Concurrently  with

the Stock OHering,

Company is offering $400.0 million aggregale

principal  amount

consummation of the Stock Offering is not
contingent upon the consummation of the Deb!
Offering. The use of proceeds from the Debt
Ofering are substantially the same as the
Company Ofering. See “Descrnption of Cerain
Indebtedness—Description of the New Notes.”
Dividand Policy <5n cidalia wiedsiiaset sas The Company has not paid and does not

anticipate paying any dividends on the Class A
Common Stock in the foresecable future. See

"Dividend Palicy.”

(1) Based on the number of shares of Class A Common Stock and Class B Common Stock outstanding as of
September 19, 1997, and assuming the consummation of the Stock Offering. Excludes 3,367,216 shares of
Class A Common Stock issuable upon the exercise of options granted 1o directors, officers and employecs of
the Company and 654,858 shares of Class B Common Stock issuable upon the exercise of an option that has
been granted to James F. Voelker. See “Sccurity Ownership of Certain Beneficial Ownors and Management ™
The weighted average exercise price for the combined oplions 1o purchase Class A and Class B Common

Stock outstanding as of September 19, 1997 was $4.35 per share

Risk Factors

See "Risk Factors” lor a discussion ol cerain laclors which should be considered by potential

inveslors.




Summary Historlical Consolidated Financlal and Operating Data
(Dollars In thousands, except per share data)

The summary historical consolidated financial data presented below as of December 31, 1995 and
1996, for the period from inception (September 16, 1994) to December 31, 1994 and for the years ended
December 31, 1995 and 1996 are derived from and qualified by reference to the audited Consolidated
Financial Statements of the Company contained elsewhere in this Prospectus. The Company’s "onsoli-
dated Financial Stctements as of December 31, 1995 and 1996, for the period from inception (Septem-
ber 16, 1994) to December 31, 1994 and for the years ended December 31, 1995 and 1996, have been
audited by Arthur Andersen LLF, independent public accountants. The summary historical consolidated
financial data presented below as of June 30, 1997 and for the three and six month periods ended
June 30, 1996 and 1997, have been derived from the unaudited Interim Consoclidated Financial State-
ments of the Company. In the opinion of mahagement, the unaudited financial statements have veen
prepared on the same basis as the audited financial statements and include all adjustments, which
consist only of normal recurring adjustments, necessary for a fair presentation of the financial position
and the results of operations for these periods. Operaling results for the three and six month periods
ended June 30, 1897 are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expacted for the full year
ended December 31, 1997. The operating data presented below are derived from the Company’s
records. All of the data should be read in conjunction with and are qua'ified by reference to "Manage-
ment's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” and the Consali-
dated Financial Statements of the Company and notes thereto contained elsewhere in this Prospectus
The Company's financial results for the year ended December 31, 1996 and the three and six month
periods ended June 30, 1997 include the results of ITC, which was acquired in Docember 1996, and
Linkatel Pacific, L.P. (“Linkatel"), which was acquired in February 1897, from their respective dates of
acquisition.

F:rloﬂl From
neeption Six Months
15*“1“""";?‘1'; 16. Year Ended Ended Three Months Ended
Decomber 31, ___Decemberdi, —  Junedo,  June o
1994 1995 19’95_ 1996 1897 1996 1697
Statement of Operations Data; o
Raverwe , . . . .. 8T W 5 — § 7552 % 25686 5 1204 5§ 21668 § GG6TY S 1,001
. Cosls and expenses:
Cperating ....... AU, 106 6618 25 094 10813 21,641 6117 12,037
Sellmg, general and
adminustralive . . . ... . . 232 9 563 31,353 12.491 22,103 6975 15829
Delerred compensation , - a7s 90914 1,115 22
Deprociabon and amerization 14 3,458 10,340 4152 8,931 2423 4525
Loss from operations S (352) (12,482} [51.018) (15415) 139,422) (B.744) (21013
Inlgrest income . .. ........ - - 10.446 1099 10.521 2857 5.402
Interes, expense e — {449) (30,876) (8.638) [22.041) (7.902) (10.992)
Loss before munonty inlérests | | (352) (12,861) (71.445) (20.954) {50842, (13.789) (26.423)
Minority imterests |, ., ... 3 230 344 21 71 T2 75
Notloss . ......... " 5 (348) S(12731) & (71,101} § (20,833 5 {5{1_??1] S (VAT S (26.348)
Preferred stock dvidends and o -
accreton of preferred slock
redempton obligation,
including issue costs . ... .. - (17,353) __10.550)
Ne! loss applicable lo common
shares ., ., ..., e e T s (Mmm) $ (68,124) $ (36,898
Pro forma net loss per rhate (1) s {1.65) L (1 80) s (0 98)
Piro forma weighled average -
number ol shares oulstanding
(1) PRS- . . A7.502.010 A7 828888 I B42613

e ————

=l
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) Total captal expenditures, acquisitions, and investiments in affiates were funded as fulloms

{3
Period From
"’“P““".I Bix Months Three Months
Gearts - Year Ended Ended Ended
ember 31, December 31, June 30, June Jﬂ
1694 1995 1996 1996 1997 1996 1097
Cash expended ... ... $600 $15417 $72,042 44408 S100695 527109 § 40008
Debt issued and assumed - 6,554 8,228 6.102 - -
Equity issued . . . . . . - 7.259 5,602 652 - =
Toll s oo s $600 $40230 $85B872 $51.253 S1L0695 827100 § 40.008

(4) As adjusted 10 give efiect 1o the net proceeds of the Company Offering

(5) As adjusted 10 give effect lo the nel proceeds of the Company Oftening and the Debt Otfering

(6) Pledged US. Treasury securities, which represent funds sufficient to provide for payment in full of interest through Aprd 15,
1699 on the Company’s 12¥4% Senior Notes due April 15, 2008

{7} The operating data for all periods subsequent lo March 1996 include the statistics of the Las Vegas network, which the
Company manages and in which the Company has a 40% membership interest

(8) Route miles refers 10 the numbaer of milas of the telecommunications path in which the Company-owned of leased fber oplc
cables are instalied.

(8) Fibes miles refers 10 the number of route miles instalied along a telecommunicatons path, multipled by the Company's
estimate of the number of fibers along it path

(10) Represents buildings physically connected to the Company’s networks, eacluding those connocled by unbundied ILEC
facilites. As of June 30, 1997, the Company had 1,284 buidings physically connected 10 Its networks, including those
buildings connected through unbundled ILEC tacildies

(11) Switches insialled include as of Decomber 31, 1996 and subsequent dates. two long distance switches acgueed in the ITC
acquisition and as of June 30, 1997, the switch inslalicd in NEXTLAB. the Company’s testng laciley

(12) Represents the number of access lines in service, including those knes which are provded thrnugh resate of Centrex senvices
for which the Company is biling services




(3} Total capial expendures, acquisitions, and investments in affliates were funded as foliows

Perlod From

(SeIemBEr 16, Yoy Engeg - -
December 31, December 31, June 30, Junedo,

1994 1995 1994 1996 1997 1098 1997
Cashexponded . ....... £00 $35417 ST2042 544498 35100695 $27109 S 40,008
Detd issued and assumed , . - 6554 B8.228 6,103 - - :
Equity issued . . ........ - 7.259 5,602 652 - - -
Total . , . ; $600 $49230 $85872 §51.253  $100605 $27.109 § 40,008

(4) As adusted o give eflect 1o the net proceeds of the Company Offenng

(S) As adusted to give eflect 10 the net proceeds of the Company Offering and the Debl Offering

(0) Pledged US. Treasury securities, which represent lunds sufficient lo provide lor payment in full of interes! through Apeil 15,
1999 on the Company’s 12'4% Senior Notes due April 15, 2008.

(7) The operating data for all periods subsequent 10 March 1996 include the statistics of the Las Vegas network, which the
Company manages and in which the Company has a 40% membership interes!

(8) Route miles refers 10 the number of miles of the telecommunications path in which the Company-owned of leased fber Gplc
cables are instalied.

(8) Fiber miles refors 1o the number of route miles installed along a telecommunications path, multipled by the Company's
estimale of the number of fibers along tha! path.

{10) Represents buildings physically connected to the Company's networks, excluding those connected by unbundled ILEG
facilites. As of June 30, 1997, the Company had 1,284 buldings physically connected 10 15 networks, ncludirg those
buildings connected through unbundied ILEC facilities

(11) Switches installed include as of Dacember 31, 1996 and subsequent datos, two long distance switches acaured in tho 1T
acquisition and as of June 30, 1897, the switch installed in NEXTLAB, the Company's tosting facility

{12) Represents the number of access lines in service, including thase ines which are provided through resale of Centros servicos,
lor which the Company s billing services




RISK FACTORS

Prospective investors should consider caretully, together with the other information contained in this
Prospectus, the following factors:
Negative Cash Flow and Operating Losses; Limited History of Operations

The development of the Company's businesses and the installation and oxpansion of 115 NEIWOrks
require significant expenditures, a substantial portion of which mus! be made before any revenues may
be realized. Certain of the expendilures aro oxpensed as incurred, while certain other expenditures are
capitalizod. Thoue oxpenditures, together with the associated early operating expenses, 1asull in nega
e cash flow and operating losses until an adequale revenue baso Is ostablished. There can be no
assurance that an adequate revenuo base will bo established for any of the Company's networks. Since
inception, the Company's operations have resulted in net losses of $0.3 million for the period from
September 16, 1894 through December 31, 1994, €12.7 million for the year ended Decemnber 31, 1995,
$71.1 million for the year ended December 31, 1996 and $50 8 million for the six months ended June 30,
1997. The Company will continuae to incur significant expenditures in the future In connection with the
acquisition, development and expansion of its networks, services and customer base. There can be no
assurance that the Company will achieve or sustain profitability or generate positive cash flow in the
future.

The Company was formed in Septembaor 1994 A significant portion of the Company’s revenue for
the years ended December 31, 1995 and 1096 and for the six months ended June 30, 1997, was derived
from tho opetations of the Company’s IVR enhanced service offering, which operations were acquired
by the Company in September 1995. Prospective investors, therelore, have very limited historical
financial infermation upon which to base an evaluation of the Campany's performance in the business
which will be its principal focus in the future. The Company has only recently commenced operations as
a single source service provider of telecommunications services. Given the Company's limited operating
history, there can be no assurance that it will be able 1o compete successfully inthe telecommunications
business and to generate positive cash flow in the future.

Significant Future Capital Requirements; Substantial Indebtedness

Expansion of the Company's existing networks and services and the development and acquisition
of new networks and services will require significant capital expendiures. The Company estimates that
the cash required to fund its anticipated capital expenditures and operating losses (excluding acquisi-
tions and interest to be funded by pledged securities) for the second hall of 1997 and for 1998 will
approximate $370 million. The Company's anticipated growih subsequentto 1998 will require substan-
tial additional capital. The Company will also continue 10 evaluale additional revenue opportunities in
each of its markets and, as and when attractive additicaal opportunities develop, the Company plans to
make capital investments in its networks that might be required o pursue such opportunities The
Company expecls to meel its additional capital needs with the proceeds from credit facilities and other
borrowings, the proceeds from sales of debt securities, the sale or issuance of equity securities and
through joint ventures. There can be no assurance, however, that the Company will be successful in
raising sufficient additional capital on terms that it will consider acceptable or that the Company's
operations will produce positive cash flow in sufficient amounts 1o service ils debt and 1o pay cash
dividends on the Company's 14% Senior Exchangeable Redeemable Preferred Shares, par value $.01
per share (the “14% Preferred Shares"). Failure to raise and generate sufficient funds may require the
Company to delay or abandon some of its planned future expansion or expenditures, which could have
a material adverse effect on the Company's growth and its ability to compete in the telecommunications
services industry. See “Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations—Liquidity and Capital Resources.”

The Company expects 10 incur substantial additional indebtedness (including secured indebted
ness) during the next few years to finance the acquisition, construction and expansion ol networks, the




purchase of additional switches, the offering of switched local and long distance services, the introduc-
tion of other new service offerings and the development and implementation of a comprehensive
information technology platform. As of June 30, 1997, alter giving pro forma effect to the Debt Offering,
the amount of total consolidated liabilities of the Company would have been approximately $791.8
million.

The future funding requirements discussed above are based on the Company's current estimates.
There can be no assurance that actual expenditures and funding requirements will not be significantly
higher or lower.

Risks Assoclated with Implementation of Growth Strategy

The expansion and development of the Company's operations (including the construction and
acquisition of additional networks) will depend on, among other things, the Company's ability 10 assess
markets, identify, finance and complete suitable acquisitions, design fiber optic network backbone
routes, install fiber optic cable and facilities, including switches, and obtain rights-of-way, building
access rights and any required government authorizations, franchises and permits, all in a timaly
manner, al reasonable costs and on satisfaclory lerms and conditions. In addition, the Company has
experienced rapid growth since its inception, and the Company believes that sustained growth places a
sirain on operational, human and financial resources. In order to manage its growth, NEXTUINK must
continue to improve its operating and administrative systems including the continued development of
effective systems relating to ordering, provisioning and billing for telecommunications services.
NEXTLINK must also continue to attract and retain qualified managerial, professional and technical
personnel. As a result, there can be no assurance that the Company will be able to implement and
manage successfully its growth strategy. The Company's growth strategy also involves the following
risks:

Qualified Personnel. NEXTLINK believes that a critical component for its success will be the atirac-
tion and retention of qualified managerial, professional and technical personnel. During 1997 the
Company has experienced significant competition in the attraction and retention of personnel that
possess the skill sets that the Company is seeking. Although the Company has been successiul in
attracling and retaining qualified personnel, there can be no assurance that NEXTLINK will not experi-
ence a shortage of qualified personnel in the fulure.

Switch and Equipment Installation. An essential element of the Company's current strategy is the
provision of swilched local service. There can be no assurance thal the installation of the required
switches, fiber optic cable and associated electronics necessary to implement the Company's business
jplan will continue to be completed on time or that, during the testing of these switches and related
equipment, the Company will not experience lechnological problems that cannol be resolved. The
failure of the Company to install and operate successfully additional switches and other network
equipment could have a material adverse effect upon the Company's ability to enter additional markets
as a single source provider of telecommunications services

Interconnection Agreements. The Company has agreements for the interconnection of its net-
works with the networks of the ILEC covering each market in which NEXTLINK either has o is construct-
ing a network, with the exception of those markets in lllinois, New York, Georgia and New Jersey.
NEXTLINK may be required to negotiate new, or renegoliate exisling interconnection agreements as it
enlers new markets in the future. There can be no assurance thal the Company will successfully
negotiate such other agreements for interconnection with the ILEC or renewals of exisling interconnec-
tion agreements. The failure to negotiate required interconnection agreements could have a material
adverse eflect upon the Company’s ability to enter rapidly the telecommunications market as a single
source provider of telecommunications services,

Ordering, Provisioning and Billing. The Company has developed processes and procedures and is
working with external vendors, including the ILECs. in the implementation of cuslomer orders for
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their networks, the income of competitors to the ILECs, including the Company, could be materially
adversely affected. If future regulatory decisions afford the ILECs increased access services pricing
flexibility or other regulatory relief, such decisions could also have a material adverse eflect on competi-
lors to the ILEC, including the Company.

The Company also faces, and expects o conlinue to face, competition from other current and
potential market entrants, including long distance carriers seeking to enter, reenter or expand entry into
the local exchange market place such as AT&T Corp. ("AT&T"), MCI Communications Corporation
("MCI") and Sprint Corporation (“Sprint”), and from other CLECs, compolitive accoss providors
("CAPs"), cable television companios, oloctic ulilition, mictowave camiorns, wirnloss tolephone system
operators and private networks bullt by large end-users, In addition, a continuing trend toward combina-
tions and strategic alliances in the telecommunications industry could give rise to significant new
competitors, The Telecom Act includes provisione which impose cerain regulatory requirements on all
local exchange carriers, including competitors such as the Company, while granting the FCC expanded
authority to reduce the level of regulation applicabie to any or all telecommunications carriers, including
ILECs. The manner in which these provisions of the Telecom Act are implemented and enforced could
have a material adverse effect on the Company’s ability to successfully compete against ILECs and
other telecommunications service providers. The Company also competes with equipment vendors and
installers, and telecommunications management companies with respect to certain portions of its
business. Many of the Company's current and potential competitors have financial, personnel and other
resources, including brand name recognition, substantially greater than those of the Company, as well
as other compelitive advantages over the Company.

The Company also competes with long distance carriers in the provision of long distance zervices
Although the long distance market is dominated by four major competitors, AT&T, MCI, Sprint and
WorldCom, Inc., hundreds of other companies also compete in the long distance markelplace

Regulation

The Company is subject to varying degrees of federal, state and local regulation, The Company is
not currently subject to price cap or rate of return regulation, nor is it currently required to obtain FCC
authorization for the installation, acquisition or operation of its network facilities. Further, the FCC has
determined that non-dominant carriers, such as the Company and its subsidiaries, are not required to file
interstate tariffs for interstate access and domestic long distance service on an ongoing basis On
February 13, 1997, the United States Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia granted motions for a
stay of the FCC detariffing order pending judicial review of that order. The result of this stay is that carriers
must continue to file tariffs for interstate long diclance services. The FCC requires the Company and its
subsidiaries to file interstate tarifis on an ongoing basis for interstate and international interexchange
traffic. The Company's subsidiaries that provide or will provide intrastate services are also generally
subject to certification and tariff or price list filing requirements by state regulators. Although passage of
the Telecom Act should result in increased opportunities for companies that are competing with the
ILECs, no assurance can be given that changes in current or future regulations adopted by the FCC or
state regulators or other legislative or judicial initiatives relating to the telecommunications industry
would not have a material adverse effect on the Compeny. In addition, although the Telecom Act
provides incentives 1o the ILECs that are subsidiaries of Rogional Boll Operating Companios (“RBOCs")
lo onter tho long distance service market, there can be no assurance that these ILECs will negotiate
quickly with competitors such as the Company for the required interconnection of the competitor's
networks with those of the ILEC. On July 2, 1997, SBC Communications Inc. ("SBC") and its local
exchange carrier subsidiaries filed a lawsuit in the United States District Court for the Northern District of
Texas challenging on Constitutional grounds the Telecom Act restrictions applicable to the RBOCs only
The plaintiffs in the case seek both a declaratory judgment and an injunction against the enforcement of
the challenged provisions. See "Business—Regulatory Overview.”




On May 8, 1997, the FCC released an order establishing a significantly expanded federal telocom-
munications subsidy regime which both increased the size of existing subsidies and created new
subsidy funds. Although the FCC order describes a method for determining the amount the Company
must contribute to support these subsidies, the Company is currently unable to quantify the amount ol
these payments that it will be required to make, or the effect that these required payments will have on its
financial condition. In the May 8 order, the FCC also announced that it will soon revise its rules for
subsidizing service provided to consumers in high cost areas. See “Business—HRequlatory Overview."”

On July 18, 1997, the United Stales Court of Appeals for the Eighth Circuit overturned many ol the
rules the FCC had established pursuant 1o the Telecom Act governing the terms under which CLECs
may, among other things, interconnect with ILECs, resell ILEC services, lease unbundied ILEC network
elements and terminate traffic on ILEC networks. The Eighth Circuit decision substantially limits the
FCC's jurisdiction and expands the state regulators’ jurisdiction 1o set and enforce rules governing the
development of local competition. As a result, it is more likely thal the rules governing local compelition
will vary substantially from state 1o state. Most stales, however, have already begun to establish rules for
local competition that are consistent with the FCC rules overturned by the Eighth Circuit. It a patchwork
of state regulations were to develop, it could increase the Company's costs of regulatory compliance
and could make compelitive entry in some markets more difficult and expensive than in others. See

“Business—Regulatory Overview.”

Dependence on Large Customers

To date the Company has derived a substantial proportion of its revenuas from certain large
customers of its competitive access services and its IVR enhanced communication service offerings, the
loss of ane o more of which could have a material adverse eflect on the Company's operating resulls
The Company's 10 largest customers accounted for approximately 66%, 51% and 28% of the Com-
pany’s revenues in 1995 and 1996 and for the six months ended June 30, 1997, respectively. The
Company does not have long-term service contracts with most of these cuslomers The Company will
continue to be dependent upon a small number of customers {or the majority of its revenues until such
time, if any, as the Company generales substantial revenues from the provision o! swilched local and
long distance communications services.

Rapid Technological Changes; Licenses

The telecommunications industry is subject 10 rapid and significant changes in technology. The
effect on the Company of technological changes, including changes relating 10 emerging wirelhne and
wireless transmission and switching technologies, cannot be predicted. The Company from time to ime
receives requests lo consider licensing cartain patents held by third parties that raay have beanng on s
IVR and vidual communications center services. The Company considers such requesls on their ments,
but has not to date entered into any such license agreements Should the Company be raquired 10 pay
license fees in the future, such payments, if substantial, could have a material adverse eftect on the
Company's results of operations.

Dependence on Key Personnel

The Company's businesses are managed by a smal! number of koy oxecutive officers, the loss of
certain of whom could have a material adverse offoct on the Company. The Company believes that its
futuro succoss will dopend In large part on its ability to develop a large and sophisticaled sales force and
its ability to attract and retain highly skilled and qualified personnel. Most of the executive officers of the
Company, including the presidents of its operating subsidiaries, do not have employment agreements.
Although the Company has been successfulin attracting and retaining qualified personnel, there can be
no assurance that NEXTLINK will not experience a shortage of qualified personnel in the future




-

Common Stock for a period of 180 days from the dale of this Prospectus, withoul the prior written
consent of Salomon Brothers Inc, except under limited circumslances. See "Underwriting.”

The Company has filed A registration statement on Form S0 (File Na 00 2R007) o reyglsler
4,410,400 shiaios of Glass A Loiinan Hiuok resaived 1ol lasuance of sale undel the Flan

In addition, the Company has granted certain holders of its capital stock nghts to require the
registration for sale of such capital stock under the Securities Act. See “Description of Capital Stock —

Registration Rights.”

The actual sale or the perceived potential for the sale o! shares of Common Stock could have an
adverse effect on the market price for tha Class A Common Stock. See "Shares Eligible for Future Sale.”

Dilution of Shares
Purchasers of the Class A Common Stock offered hereby will experience immediate and substantial
dilution in net tangible book value per share of $15.95. See “Dilution.”

Risks Regarding Forward Looking Statements

The statements contained in this Prospectus and in associated prior filings by the Company withthe
Securities and Exchange Commission which are not historical facts are “{orward-looking stalements™
(as such term is defined in the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1895), which can be identified
by the use of forward-looking terminology such as "believes”, “"expects”, "may”, “will", “should”, or
“anticipates” or the negative thereof or other varations thereon of comparable terminology, or by
discussions of strategy that involve risks and uncertainties. Management wishes 10 caution the reader
that these forward-looking statements, such as the Company's plans to build and acquire networks in
new areas, its anticipation of revenues from designated markets, and statements regarding the develop-
ment of the Company's businesses, the markets for the Company's services and products, the Com-
pany's anticipated capital expenditures, regulatory reform and other stalements contained herein
regarding matters that are not historical facts, are only predictions. No assutance can be given that the
future results will be achieved; actual events or results may differ materially as a result of risks facing the
Company. Such risks include, but are not limited to, the Company's ability to successiully market its
services to current and new customers, access markets, identity, finance and complele suitable acquist-
tions, design and construct fiber optic networks, install cable and facilities, including switching electron:
ics, and obtain rights-of-way, building access rights and any required governmental authorizalions,
franchises and permits, all in a timely manner, at reasonable costs and on satisfactory terms and
conditions, as well as regulatory, legislative and judicial developments that could cause actual resulls 10
differ materially from the future results indicated. expressed or implied, in such forward-looking
stalements

THE COMFPANY

NEXTLINK Communications, L.L.C., the predecessor to the Company, was organized on Septem-
ber 16, 1994, to provide local facilities-based telecommunications services with a focus on delivering
switched services to commercial customers. On January 31, 1997, NEXTLINK Communications, L.L.C
was merged with and into the Company, a Washington corporation. The principal executive offices of the
Company are located at 155 108th Avenue N.E., Bth Floor, Bellevue, Washington 98004. The telephone
number is (425) 519-8900.
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USE OF PROCEEDS

The nel proceeds to the Company from the sale of the Class A Common Stock offered in the
Company Oftering aie esliimaled W ba appiosimataly 3100 6 milllon (8227 O million i the Undarsitens
over-allotment option is exercised in full) after deduction of Underwiiters’ discounts and estimaled
expenses payable by the Company. The Company intends to use substantially all of the net proceeds
from the Company Offering for expenditures relating to the expansion of existing networks and services,
the development and acquisition of new networks and services and the funding of operaling losses and
working capital. The Company has agreements or agreements in principle to efect three acquisition
transactions for aggregate consideration of $22.5 million in cash, a promissory note payable in the
aggregate principal amount of $5.0 million, 698,487 shares of Class A Common Stock and the assump-
tion of $8.5 million in debt. See "Management's Decision and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations — Liquidity and Capital Resources" and "Business—The Company’s Telecom-
munications Services."” Pending such uses, the net proceeds to the Company will be investod in ot
term, investment grade securities.

Concurrently with the Stock Offering, the Company is offering $400.0 milion aggregate principal
amount of New Notes pursuant to the Debt Offering. The consummation of the Stock Offering is not
contingent upon the consummation of the Debt Offering. The uses of proceeds from the Debt Oftering by
the Company are substantially the same as the Company Oflering. Should the Debt OHering not be
consummalted, the Company intends to seek additional capital. See “Management’s Decision and
Analycis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Liquidity and Capital Resources.”

The Company will not receive any proceeds from the sale of the 3,200,000 shares of Class A
Common Stock being offered by the Selling Shareholder. The primary owner of the Selling Shareholder
is Craig O. McCaw. Mr. McCaw and his wife are in the process ol dissolving their marriage which the
Company has been informed is the reason such stock is being sold.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has no! paid any cash dividends on its Class A Common Stock The Company
intends to retain future earnings, if any, to finance the development and expansion ol its businesses and,
therefore, does not anlicipate paying any dividends on the Class A Common Stock in the foreseeable
future. The decision whether to pay dividends will be made by the Board of Directors in light of
conditions then exisling, including the Company’s results of operations, financial condition and require-
ments, business conditions and other factors. The terms of the 14% Prelerred Shares prohibit the
payment ol dividends on any capital stock thal does nol expressly rank senior 1o, or on a parily with, the
14% Prelerred Shares as to dividend rights until full cumulative dividends are paid on the 14% Prelferred
Shares. In addition, the terms of the Company's 12'4% Senior Notes due Apnl 15, 2006 (the "12V:%
Notes") and the New Notes offered pursuant 1o the Debt OHering, restrict the Company’s ability lo pay
cash dividends.
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CAPITALIZATION
(Dollars In thousands)

The following table sets forth as of June 30, 1897, the actual capitalization of the Company, the capitalization
of the Company as adjusted to reflect (i) the issuance of the Class A Common Stock pursuant to the Stock
Offering and (ii) the conversion of 3,200,000 shares of Class B Common Stock which are being converted into
3,200,000 shares of Class A Common Stock offered for sale hereby by the Selling Shareheolder and thn
capitalization of the Company as further adjusted to reflect the Debt Offering. This table should be read in
conjunction with the Selected Consolidated Financial and Operating Data and the Consolidated Financial

Statements and notes thereto included elsewnhere In this Prospectus,
As of June 30, 1097

As Adjusted  As Adjusled

for the for the

Actual Stock Oﬂtr!ﬂq = Eﬂ_n_r_i_rtg_! )

Cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities . . . .......... $275,288  $465913 § 854,413
Ploedged securitiesil) . ... cvcensasenmmssvamnsavsrreannns 82,277 g2277 82277
ORI ¢ o micw w8208, e L Y A e o 81 03805 $357,565  $548,180 § 936,690
Current portion of long-term obligations and payable to affiliate ... $ 2810 $ 2810 § 2810
Capital lease obligations, less currentportion .. .............. 5,357 5357 5,357
12%%% Senior Notes due 2006 350,000 350,000 350,000
9%% Senior Notes due 2007 . ... ..o i i i nimno i innsnennans — = qgg,_ggq
1[40 [0 [~ | IS el PR R e St Ty Fu TN Lok P 358,167 358,167 758,167
Minority Interests{2) .. ... ouivi e minn e e e e e 137 137 137

14% Preferred Shares, par value $.01 per share, 25,000,000 shares
authorized and 5,901,706 shares issued and outstanding, net of
ISSUANCE COSISIAN 4 o v v v os aiv vt nis oisia nimnmim s me ainis s wbaieiiis 291,353 291,353 291,353
Class B Common Stock, par value $.02 per share, 519,950 shares
issued and outstanding subject to redemption by the
COMPRIYIRY 7 riias s v s i arera s a b wres o 4 h e vl Wi w0l 4,950 4,950 4,950
Shareholders’ equity (deficit):
Common Stock, par value $.02 per share, staled at amounts
paid in; Class A, 110,334,000 shares authorized, 176,534
issued and outstanding (15,376,534 shares issued and
outstanding, as adjusted); Class B, 44,133,600 shares
authorized, 36,165,259 shares issued and outstanding

(32,965,259 shares issued and outstanding, as adjusted)(5] .. 82,290 272915 272,915
Deferred compensation .. ..........0c0eeeennnnunaannn ; {(4,011) (4,011) (4,011)
Accumulated delichl .. ..o see s viinror s anas s e ( 1;._2_,:;:15_.; (152,305) (152,305)

Total shareholders’ equity (deficit) .. ...... ......... = (74.026) 116,599 116,599

Total capitalization . ........coiiiinivsnniniasss. . $5B80,581 $771.206 $1.171,206

{1} Piedged U S, Treasury securities which represent lunds sufficient fo pravide lor payment in Iull of interest through Apal 15, 1999 on the
Company’s 12'4% Senior Notes due April 15, 2006.

{2) Minority interests primarily represent a nominal equity investment in substantially all of the Company's subsidianes from a company that
is wholly ownoed by Craig O McCaw.

(3)  The Company has not ascnbod any value to the Contingent Warrants 1o purchase an aggregate of 5% of each class of Junigr Shares (as
delned) of the Company on a lully diluled basis as of February 1, 1908 (the " Contngent Warrants™) The Contingent Warants become
exercisable on February 1, 1998, but will expire upodn the consummation of the Stock Offonng  Underattau) ioacounts and ssunnce
costis in the offering of the 14% Prefered Shares wore approximatoly $11 mullon

{4) The Company has provided 10 the holders of these shares an opbion 1o requie the Company 10 repJrchase such shares ot §19 B2 pet
share beginning in the fourth quarter of 1999. Such repurchase oblgation shall terminate if duning the three year penod commencing
upon the 180t ﬂ;‘lJ afor the date of this Prospecius, tha average daiy closing price of the Class A Common Stock duting any
consecutive 60 tracing day period is greater than $19.92 :

(5) lIssued and outstanding does nol include 3,392,734 and 1,576,172 shares of Class A Comman Stock and Clasvs B Common Slock
fespoctively, issuable upon erercise ol oulstanding options
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SELECTED HISTORICAL CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL AND OPERATING DATA
(Dollars In thousands, except per share data)

The selectod historical consolidated financial data prosonted bolow as of Decembor 31, 1995 and
1996, for the period lrom inception (September 16, 1994) to December 31, 1994 and lor the years ended
December 31, 1995 and 1996 are derived from and qualified by reference to the audited Consolidated
Financial Statements of the Company contained elsewhere in this Prospectus. The Company’s Consali
datod Financial Statements as of Docember 31, 1995 and 1600, for the period lrom inception (Soptem:
ber 16, 1994) lo December 31, 1994 and for the years ended December 31, 1995 and 1996, have been
audited by Arthur Andersen LLP independent public accountants. The summary historical consolicated
financial data presented below as of June 30, 1997 and for the three and six month periods ended
June 30, 1996 and 1897, have been derived from the unaudited Interim Consolidated Financial State-
ments of the Company. In the opinion of management, the unaudited financial statements have been
prepared on the same basis as the audited financial statements and include all adjustments, which
consist only of normal recurring adjusiments, necessary ior a fair presentation of the financial position
and the results of operations for these periods. Operating results for the three and six month periods
ended June 30, 1997 are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for the full year
ended December 31, 1997. The operating data presented below are derived from the Company’s
records. All of the data should be read in conjunction with and are qualified by reference 1o "Manage-
ment's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” and the Consoli-
dated Financial Statements of the Company and notes thereto contzined elsewhere in this Prospeclus.
The Company's financial results for the year ended December 31, 1996 and the three and six month
periods ended June 30, 1997 include the results of ITC, which was acquired in December 1996, and
Linkatel Pacific, L.P. ("Linkatel"), which was acquired in February 1997, from their respective dates ol
acquisition.

Perlod From

Inceplion
‘slp'ml""m 16, Year Ended Six Months Ended Three Months Ended
December 31 December 31, ~ June3do, June 30,
1994 1885 1996 1996 1597 1996 1097
Stalement of Operations
Data:
Revenue . & = § 7552 & 25686 S5 12041 5 21668 5 €671 8 11,601
Cosls and expenses
ab A 106 6618 25004 10813 21940 6117 12,037
Selling, general and
adminisiralive 232 G 563 31,353 12,441 46,100 6975 15,820
Delerred compensat:on ars G914 1915 22
Deprecaton and
amartizalisn 14 3,458 10.340 4152 BES1 2323 4525
Loss from operatons (352) (12.462) (51.015) (15415) (39.422, 18.744) {21.013)
Interest income . . . . - - 10,446 3009 10.521 2857 5492
Interest capense - (499} (30,876) {8 638) (&2 1041) (7.902) (10.902)
Loss before minonty '
nlorests {A52] {12.9461) iT1.445) [0 0%4) (%0942 (13 TED fon 423)
Minonty interosts 3 230 344 M 7 72 75
Netloss . . . . $ (349) S(12.731) € (71.101) € (20833 S (S0771) SNITNT) S (26.348)
Preferred stock dividends ' ' o - N
and accreton of
preferred stock
redemption gbhgahon,
including 1Issue costs . - {17,35]) (10.550)
Net loss apphicable 1o - - ; _—
common shares . . .. . $§  (Mm) §  (6B124) & (36.898)
Pro forma net loss per T s .
share (1) 5 {1 89) 5 (1 BD) 5 (0 98)
Pro forma woighled T .
averape numbaer of
shares oudstandag (1) AT LOxF B19 A7 B8 Ann \WF R4 GIA
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exponditures and working capital requirements. See “Consclidated Staternents of Cash Flows ©

(3} Total capital exponditures, BCQUISIONS, and investments in aflales were tunded as follows

Perlod From
Inception Three Months
*“m 16, Year Ended Six Months Ended Ended
Do, Deomber3t, oo W, June 30,
1994 1995 _1“1 1906 1997 1006 1987
Cash pxponded . . . $600 $35.417  $72.047  B4a4nn RIS L2700 B40.000
[ebil insund s assuried 0 nh4 nrene 0103
Lagurity issued . . . . e i —_ 7.259 5,602 652 — = —
Towl . . ... RS R SE $600 £49.230 S$B5872 $51.253 $100.695 $27.109 $40.008

(4) As adjusted 1o give effect 10 the net proceeds of the Company Offenng

5) ummumwmwummuumwwmmm Debt Oftening

(6) Pledged US. Treasury securities, which represent funds sufficient to provide for payment in full of interest through April 15,
1999 on the Company’s 12'4% Seniof Notes due April 15, 2006

{7) The operaling data for all periods subsequent 10 March 1996 include the statstes of the Las Vegas network, whech the
Company manages and in which the Company has a 40% membership interest

(8 Route miles refers 10 the number of miles of the telecommunications path n which the Company owned ot leased Lbet 0pic
cables are installed .

{9) Fiber miles relers 10 tha number of route miles instalied along & telecommunscations path, muitphed by the Company s
estmate of the number of libets along that path .

(10} Represents buidings physically connecied 10 the Company’s networks, excluding those connected by unbundled ILEC
{acities. As of June 30, 1897, the Company had 1,284 buildings physically connected 1o its networks, including those
buildings connected through unbundied ILEC faciites

(11] Switches instalied include as of December 31, 1906 and subsequent dates, fwo lang distance swilches acquited in the ITC
acquisition and as of June 30, 1997, the switch instalied in NEXTUAB, the Company's testing facildy

(12) Represents the number of access ines in serce, including those knes which are provided Ihvough resale of Controx senaces
for which the Company Is billing services
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION
AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONY

Uveiview

Since its inception in 1994, the Company has executed a strategy of constructing and acquiring
fiber optic networks and acquiring related telecommunications businesses. Over this period, the Com-
pany has begun development or construction of. acquired, leased fibers or capacity on, or entered into
agreements to acquire local tele ~ommunications networks in 30 markets in 11 slales.

The Company's primary focus is providing swilched local and long distance and enhanced commu:
nications services to small and medium-sized commercial end-user customers. As of July 31, 1997, the
Company offered such services in 23 of its 30 markets. The Company expects 1o commence the offering
of switched local and long distance services in an additional three markets by December 1997 and four
additional markets In 1998. In addition, the Company plans to acquire, build or develop networks in now
areas, expand its current networks, and also explcre the acquisition or licensing of additional enhanced
communications services and other telocommunications service providers. These ellorts should allow
the Company to increase lts presence In the marketplace, and facilitate providing a single source
solution for the telecommunications needs of its customers.

The Company builds its networks to encompass the significant business concentrations in each
area it serves, focusing on direct connections to end-user locations and ILEC central offices. The
Company employs a uniform technology platform for each of its loca! exchange networks that is based
on the Nortel DMS 500 digital local and long distance combination swilching platform and associated
distribution technology. As of July 31, 1897, the Company had nine operational Nortel DMS 500 switches
and currently plans to install four additional switches by the end of the first quarter of 1998. The
Company aiso has installed a Nortel DMS 500 switch in its NEXTLAB facility, a fully functional model of
one of the Company's networks, which serves as atesling facility for switch software and the Company's
products and services and will serve as the Company's network operations control center.

The Company also provides enhanced communications services including: (1) interaclive voice
response services, which provide an interface between the Company's clients and their customers for a
variety of applications; and (i) Magic Number, the Company’s virtual communications center that allows
mobile prolessionals and workgroups 10 access a suite of commonly used communications Services
from any telephone in the public switched telephone network. Historically, the Company has denved a
substantial proportion of its revenues from these services. As local and long distance revenues are
erpected to grow more rapidly than revenues for the Company's enhanced communicalions services,
the Company anlicipates that, over the next five years, local and long distance revenues will account tor
a significantly higher percentage of total revenues.

The development of the Company's businesses and the construction, acquisition and expansion of
its networks require significant expenditures, a substantial portion of which are incurred before the
realization of revenues. These expenditures, together with the associaled early opeoraling expenses,
result in negative cash flow until an adequate customer base is established, However, as the cuslomer
base grows, the Company expects that incremental revenues can be generated with decreasing incre-
mental operating expenses, which may provide positive contributions to cash flow. The Company has
made the strategic decision to build high capacity networks with broad market coverage, which Initially
increases its level of capital expenditures and operating losses. The Company believes that over the
long term this will enhance the Company's financial performance by increasing the traffic flow over the
Company's networks. The Company has recenltly entered into leased dark fiber and fiber capacity
arrangements, which allow the Company, by installing one or more swilches and related electronics, lo
enter a market prior to completing construction of its own fiber oplic network

a2




Prior to January 31, 1997, the Company was a limited liability company thal was classified and taxed
as a partnership for federal and state income lax purposes. As of January 31, 1997, the Company was

subject to federal and state income tax.

Results of Operations

Three and Six Month Periods Ended Juna 30, 1997 Compared with Three and Six Month
Pariods Ended June 30, 1996

Revenue increased 74% to $11.6 million during the second quarter of 1997, from $6.7 milliun in the
same period in 1996. Year to date revenue of $21.7 million represented an 80% increase from the $12.0
million reported for the comparable period in 1996. The increase was, In par, due to the acquisition of
ITC, a switch-based long distance reseller, in December 1996, as well as 27% year to date growth in local
and long distance services (both switched and resale) and enhanced communications services. The
second quarter 1997 revenues included $5.4 million derived from local and long distance services (both
switched and resale), $4.4 million derived from enhanced communications services and $1.8 million
from competitive access and dedicated line services. This compares to $1.0 million derived from iocal
and long distance services (both switched and resale), $4.3 million from enhanced communications
services and $1.4 million from competitive access and dedicated line services during the second quarter
of 1996. The Company's interactive voice response subsidiary contributed 30% and 58% of the Com-
pany’s revenues during the second quarters of 1997 and 1996, respectively. The revenues generated by
this subsidiary, while generally increasing over lime, have tended to fluctuate on a quarter 10 quarter
basis as the revenues are generally event driven and seasonal in nature

The Company began offering switched local and long distance services in seven of its markels in
July 1996, an eighth market in January 1997, three additional markets including Cleveland and Colum:
bus, Ohio, as well as Las Vegas, in April 1997 and in 12 additional markets including Philadelphia, Los
Angeles, and cluster markets in Orange County, California, in July 1987. In addition, the Company has
resold Centrex access lines since April 1895, The Company increased its quarterly customer access line
installation rate from 2,745 in the first quarter of 1997 10 6,153 during the second quarter of 1997. As of
June 30, 1997, the Company had 17,409 access lines in service compared to 8,511 as of December 31,
1996, and 5,079 as of June 30, 1996. Revenues from the provision of such services are expected to
continue to increase as a component of total revenues over future periods.

Operating expenses consist of costs directly related to providing facilities-based network and
enhanced communications services and also include salares and benefits and related costs of opera-
tions and engineering personnel. Operaling expenses increased 97% in the second quarter of 1897 10
$12.0 million, up $5.9 million over the second quarter of 1896. For the six months ended June 30, 1997,
operaling expenses rose $11.1 million. or 103%, over the same period in 1996. These increases were
attributed to factors including the effect of the ITC acquisition, an increase in network costs related to the
provision of increased volumes of lacal, long distance and enhanced communications services and the
Company's increase in employees as well as other costs primarily related to expanding the Company's
switched local and long distance service businesses in its existing and planned markets.

Selling, general and administrative expenses ("SG&A”) include salaries and related personnel
costs, facilities expenses, sales and marketing, consulting and leg al fees, and equity in loss of affiliates.
SGAA increased 127% and 133%, respectively, in the three and six month periods ended June 30, 1997,
as compared to the corresponding periods in 1996. The increase was due to the ITC acquisition and the
Company's increase in employees, as well as other costs associated with the expansion ol the Com-
pany's switched local and long distance service businesses in its existing and planned markels.

Delerred compensation expense was recorded in connection with the Company's Equity Option
Plan until April 1897, and in connection with the Company's Stock Option Plan, which replaced the
Equity Option Plan, subsequent to April 1997. The options granted under the Equity Option Plan were
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during 1996 and 1995, respectively, resulting from an increase in value of the underlying securities as
well as the grant of additional options. See Note 10 1o the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Depreciation expense increased during 1996 primarily due to placement in service of addilional
telecommunications network assets, including switches, fiber optic cable, network electronics and
related equipment as well as due to acquisitions completed during 1995 and early 1996. Amortization ol
intangible assets increased as a result of acquisitions completed during 1995 and 1996.

Interest expense during 1996 (net of $0.9 million capitalized) pnmarnily reflects the interest expense
associated with the 12%% Notes. See “—Liquidity and Capital Resources.” Pursuant to Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 34, the Company capitalizes a portion of its interes! cosls as par of
the construction coslt of its communications networks. Interest income results from certain securities that
have been pledged as collatera. for interest payments on the 12'%% Notes and invesiment of excess

cash.

Year Ended December 31, 1995 Compared with Period from Inception (September 16, 1994) 10
December 31, 1994

From inception through December 31, 1995, the Company acquired certain operating assets and
one company. These acquisitions have been accounted for utilizing the purchase mu hod of accounting,
and accordingly, the Company's Consolidated Financial Statements include the results of operations of
these acquisitions from the dates of acquisition. The acquired assels and liabilties were recorded at thei
estimated fair value on the acquisition dates, and appropriale amounts were allocated to intangible

assets, including goodwill.

The Company generated its first revenues, a total of $7.6 million, in 1995. Of these revenues, $3.2
million were derived from competitive access and dedicated line services, $1.0 million from local
exchange resale services and $3.4 million from interaclive voIC@ response senvices.

Operating expenses increased from $106,000 in 199410 $6.6 million in 1995. This increase is due 1o
the acquisitions described above and expansion of the business.

SGAA increased from $232,000 in 1994 to $9.6 million in 1995. SG&A increased substantially as a
resull of acquisitions and the development of the Company’'s systems and structure to suppor the
anticipated growth of ils business.

Depreciation increased from $6,500 in 1994 to $1.1 million in 1995 due 1o the added property, plant
and equipment as a result of the acquisitions and expansion of the networks completed in 19395,
Amortization of intangible assets increased from $7,000 in 1834 to $2.3 million in 1995 cduc to the
acquisitions and the resulting increase in intangible assets.

Interest expense was $499,000 in 1995 and related primarily to a nole 1o Eagle River Ihat was
subsequently converted to contributed capital on December 1, 1995

Minority interest in net losses increased from $3,00. in 189410 £230,000 in 1995, duc v Increases in
losses and the addition of minority members' interest in certain of the Company's acquired su bsidiaries
The net loss belore minority interest was $13.0 million and the net loss was $12.7 million in 1995
compared to $352,000 and $349,000, respectively for 1994,

Liguidity and Capital Resources

The competitive local lelecommunications service business is a capital intensive business. The
Company's existing operations have required and will continue to require substantial capital investment
for the acquisition and installation of fiber, electronics and related equipment in order to provide
switched services in the Company's networks and the funding of operating losses during the start-up
phase of each market. In addition, the Company's strategic plan calls for expansion into addiional

25




market areas. Such expansion will require significant additional capital for: potential acquisitions of
businesses or assels; design, development and construction of new networks; and the funding of
operating losses during the start-up phase of each market. During the first six months of 1997, the
Company used $45.8 million in cash for operating activities, compared 1o $6.2 million for the same
period in 1996. The increase was primarily due to a substantial increase in the Company's activitiés
associated with the development and initiation of switched local and long distance services and, to a
lesser degree, due to the activities associated with the Company's enhanced communications services
operations. During the first six months of 1997, the Company invested an additional $100.7 million in
cash in property and equipme.it, acquisitions of telecommunications businesses and equily invesl-
ments in telecommunications businesses. During the same period in 1896, the Company invested $44.5
million in cash in property and equipmen! and acquisitions of telecommunications assels and

businesses.

In August 1997, the Company enlered in a non-binding letter of intent to acquire all outstanding
shares of Start Technologies Corporation (“Start"), a shared tenant services provider serving commer-
cial buildings in Dallas, Austin and Corpus Christi, Texas and Phoenix, Arizona. Services offered by Start
include local and long distance services, Internet access and customer premise equipment manage-
ment. Start currently provides services under long term conlracts 1o 600 corporate customers, of
approximately 13,000 end users. If a definitive agreement is executed, the Company is expecled o pay
consideration for the transaction consisting of $20.0 million in cash, 441,336 shares of Class A Common
Stock and the assumption of approximately $3.6 million of liabilities.

In July 1897, the Company executed a definitive agreement to acquire all of the outstanding shares
ol Chadwick Telecommunications Corporation ("Chadwick"), a switch-based long distance reselier in
central Pennsylvania, through a merger transaction between Chadwick and a wholly owned subsidiary
of NEXTLINK. Chadwick serves approximately 11,500 customers throughout the central and eastern
Pennsylvania regions. The merger is anticipated to close in the third quarter of 1997. Upon closing. the
Company will issue consideration for the transaction consisting of a promissory note payable in the
aggregate principal amount of $5.0 million, 257,151 shares of Class A Common Stock and the nssump-
tion of long term debt totaling $4.9 million. The merger agreement also provides lor additional payments
of up to a maximum of 192,863 shares of Class A Common Stock over a two year peried, with these
payments being contingent upon the acquired operation achieving specified performance goals

In September 1997, the Company entered into a definitive agreement to acquire cenain telecommu-
nications assets of Unicom Thermal Technologies, Inc. (“UTT"), including two existing route miles of
network plus 13 miles of conduit in downtown Chicago. The Company also has the right lo participate in
the ongoing expansion of UTT's network in Chicago. The existing network currently provides connectiv-
ity to 28 buildings. The Company agreed to pay $2.5 million in cash, plus upto an additional £560,000 for
the acquisition of certain additional telecommunications facilities. The Company will alse be required to
issue certain additional consideration to UTT for a portion of the network expansion cosls, up 10
$3.4 million in cash plus the issuance of up to 60,022 shares of Class A Common Stock.

In June 1997, the Company entered into an eight year exclusive agreement, with an oplion to renew
for five additional years, with a company that has excess fiber capacity in each of Atlanta, Chicago, New
York City, Newark, New Jersey and Philadelphia, which it agreed to make available to the Company in
each of those markets at a substantial discount. In addition to the capacity arrangement described
above, the Company also has entered into a 20-year lease ol capacity over an existing 47-mile fiber
network in New York City, which extends from the Wall Street area north to midtown Manhattan. In June
1997, the Company paid $11 million in full satisfaction of its obligations under this lease, $G million of
which has been placed in escrow pending completion of certain building connections by the lessor.
These arrangements will allow the Company 1o accelerate its entry into each of these markets by
enabling the Company to avoid a significant portion of the infrastructure development and construction
ume that would otherwise be required to launch switched local and long distance Services in theso

26




also acquire or invest in businesses that consist of existing networks or companies engaged in busi-
nasses similar to those engaged in by the Company and its subsidiaries or other complementary

businesses.

As of June 30, 1997, the Company had unreslricted cash and investments of $275.3 million and
$854.4 million on a pro forma basis after giving effect to the Offerings. The Company estimates that the
cash required to fund its anticipated capital expenditures and operating losses (excluding acquisitions
and interest 1o be funded by pledged securities) for the second half of 1997 and for 1998 will approxi-

mate $370 million.

The Company’s planned growth subsequent to 1998 will require substantial additional capital to
fund capital expenditures, acquisition opportunities, waorking capital and any futuro opoerating lossos
The Company will continue o evaluate additional revenue opportunities in each of its markets and, as
attractive opportunities develop, the Company plans to make additional capital investments in its
networks to pursue such opportunities. The Company expects to meet its additional capital needs with
the proceeds from sales or issuance of equity securities, credit facilities and other borrowings, sales of
additional debt securities, and through joint ventures. There can be no assurance, however, that the
Company will be successful in raising sufficient additional capital on terms that it will consider accept-
able or that the Company’s operations will produce positive consolidated cash flow in sufficient amounts
1o meel its interest and dividend obligations on outstanding securities. Failure to raise and gencrate
sufficient funds may require the Company to delay or abandon some of its planned future expansion or
expenditures, which could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s growth and its ability to
compete in the telecommunications services industry.

In addition, the Company’s operaling flexibility with respect tn certain business matters is, and will
continue to be, limited by covenants associated with the 12'4% Notes and the New Notes. Among other
things, these covenants limit the ability of the Company and its subsidiaries to incur additional indebted-
ness, creale liens upon assets, apply the proceeds from the disposal of assets, make dividend payments
and other distributions on capital stock and redeem capital stock. In acdition, the terms of the 14%
Preferred Shares contain certain covenants that may limit the Company’s operaling flexibility with
respect to the incurrence of indebtedness and issuance of additional preferred shares. There can be no
assurance that such covenants will not adversely atfect the Company's ability 10 finance its future
operations or capital needs or 1o engage in other business activities that may be in the interest of the
Company. The Company was in compliance with all covenants associated with the 12'.% Notes and
14% Preferred Shares as of June 30, 1997.

Na2w Accounting Standard

In February 1897, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement No. 128, "Earn.ags
Per Share” ('SFAS 128"), which revises the calculation and presentation provisions of Accounting
Principles Board Opinion 15 and related interpretations, SFAS 128 is effective for the Company's fiscal
year ending December 31, 1997, and retroactive application is required. The Company does not expect
the implementation of SFAS 128 1o have a material effect on earnings per share amounts reported prior
to that date.
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BUSINESS

Overview

NEXTLINK was founded in 1994 by Craig O. McCaw, its principal equity owner, 1o provide local
facilities-based telecommunications services lo its largeted customer base of small and medium-sized
businosses. In July 1996, NEXTLINK became one of the first competitive local exchange carriers
("CLECs") in the United States to provide facilities-based switched local services under the Telecommu-
nications Act of 1996 (the “Telecom Act”), which opened the enlire local exchange market to competi-
tion. In each of the markets it serves, NEXTLINK seeks to become a principal competitor to the
incumbent local exchange carrier ("ILEC") for its largeled customers by providing an integrated pack-
age of high quality local, long distance and enhanced telecommunications services at competitive
prices,

The market potential for competitive telecommunications services is large and growing. Industry
sources estimate that in 1986 the total muanuas from local and long disiance telacommunications
sarvices were approximately $183 billion, of which approximately $101 billion were derived from local
exchange services and approximately $82 billion from interLATA long distance services. Based upon
FCC information, aggregate revenues for local and long distance services grew at a compounded
annual rate of approximately 5.5% between 1991 and 1996. The Telecom Act, the FCC'’s issuance of
rules for competition and pro-compeliive policies developed by stale regulatory commissions have
created opportunities for new entrants, including the Company, lo caplure a portion of the ILEC’s
dominant, and historically monopoly controlled, market share of local services. The development of
swilched local services competition, however, is in ils early stages, and the Company believes that
CLECs currently serve fewer than 1% of the total business lines in the United States

The Company'’s largeted customer base within the national telecommunications market is small to
medium-sized businesses, generally those businesses with fewer than 50 access lines. Based on
consultants’ reports, the Company estimates that as of year end 1996, there were approximately 170
million access lines nationwide, including approximately 55 million business lines

The Company develops and operates high capacity. fiber optic notworks with broad market cover-
age in a growing number of markets across the United States. In its switched local service markets, the
Company offers its customers a bundled package of local and long distance services and also offers
dedicated transmission and compelitive access services to long distance carriers and end users. In
addition, NEXTLUINK offers several non-network-based enhanced communications services 1o custom-
ers nationwide, including a variety of interactive voice response (“IVR") products and a virtual communi-
cations center for mobile professionals and workgroups.

The Company currently operates 14 facilities-based networks providing switched local and leng
distance services in 23 markets in seven stales. The Company anlicipates that an additional three
markets will be served by three additional networks by December 1997. These 26 markels, in addition 1o
four other markets currently under development, have a total of approximately 8.0 million addressable
business lines. The Company's goal is to add or expand markets and market clusters to increase its
addressable business lines to approximately 11 million by the end of 1998,

NEXTLINK is pursuing its targeted customer base in markets of all sizes. In larger markets, the
Company has operational networks in Los Angeles and Philadelphia, and nelworks under development
in Chicago and New York City. The Company also has operational networks in medium-sized markets
such as Las Vegas and Nashville as well as smaller markets that have been clustered in Orange Courity,
California and central Pennsylvania. The Company will enter larger markets on a stand-alone basis
where it is economically attractive to do so and where competitive and other market factors warrant such
entry. The Company also considers pursuing smaller markets where it can extend or cluster an existing
network with relatively little incremental capital. The Company anticipates that the addressable business




lines in the larger markets that it is currently operaling and developing will represent the majority of the
Company's addressable business lines by year end 1998.

NEXTLINK has experienced significant growth in its customer base. NEXTLINK's customer access
lines in service have increased from 8,511 access lines at December 31, 1996 to 17,409 access lines at
June 30, 1997. In those markets where the Company has offered switched local services for at leasl 12
months, the Company has increased its access lines in service from 8,511 at December 31, 1896 to
15,450 at June 30, 1997. The Company has also achieved significant growth in the rate of quarterly
installations of new customer accoss lines from a total of 1,604 in the fourth quarter of 1996 to 6,153 in
the second quarter of 1997. At the end of August 1997, the Company had a total of 26,921 installed
access lines. For those markets in which the Company has offered switched local services for at least 12
months, the rate increased from 1,604 installations in the fourth quarter of 1996 to 4,310 in the second

quarter of 1997,

NEXTLINK believes that a critical factor in the successful implementation of its sirategy is the quality
of its management leam and their extensive experience in the telecommunications industry. The Com-
pany has huilt a management team that it believes is well suited 1o challenge the dominance of the ILECs
i thie local oschangs marhal Cialg O MoCaw, the Company’s Toamdsr and peingipal oquily ownet
Steven W. Hooper, the Company's Chairman of the Board, Wayne M. Perry, the Company's Vicu
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, and James F. Voelker, the Company’s President, each has 15 or
more years of experlence in leading companios in compolitivo sogments of the telecommunications
industry, In addition, the presiden's ol the Company's opetaling subsidiaries and the Company's sonior
officers have an average of 14 years of experience in the telecommunications industry. Mr. Hooper and
Mr. Perry are the most recent additions to the NEXTLINK executive management team, both of whom
were members of the senior management team at McCaw Cellular Communications, Inc. ("McCaw
Cellular™) during the years in which it became the nation’s largest cellular telephone company. Following
McCaw Cellular's sale to AT&T Corp. in 1894, Messrs. Perry and Hooper were Vice Chairman and Chiaf
Executive Officer, respectively, of AT&T Wireless Services, Inc.

Market Opportunity

Prior 1o 1984, AT&T dominated both the local exchange and long distance matkolplaco by gwring
the operating entilies that provided both local exchange and long distance services 10 most of the U.S.
population. While long distance competition began to emerge in the late 19705, the critical event
triggering the growth of long distance competition was the breakup ol AT&T and the separation of ils
local and long distance businesses as mandated by the Modified Final Judgment relating 1o the breakup
of AT&T (the "MFJ"). To foster competition in the long distance market, the MFJ prohibited AT&T's
divested local exchange businesses, the RBOCs, from acling as a single sourze provider of lelecommu-
nications services.

The Company believes that a similarly critical event occurred in 1996 with the passage of the
Tolecom Acl. In most locations throughout the United States, the ILEC has operated with a virtual
monapoly over the provision of most local exchange services Howover, just as compotition slowly
emerged in the long distance business prior to the MFJ, competitive opportunities also have slowly
emerged over the last 10 years at the local level.

Industry sources estimate that in 1996 the total revenues from local and long distance telecommuni-
cations services were approximately $183 billion, of which approximately $101 billion were derived from
local exchange services and approximately $82 billion from interLATA long distance services. Based
upon FCC information, aggregate revenues for local and long distance services grew at a com pounded
annual rate of approximately 5.5% between 1991 and 1836. Although the MFJ relating to the breakup of
ATAT established the preconditions for competition in the market for long distance services in 1984, the
markel for local exchange services has until recently been virtually closed 1o compatition and has largely
been dominaled by regulated monopolies. EHorts to open the local exchange markel began in the late
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business lines. The Company's market research indicales that these customers prefer a single
source for all of their telecommunications requirements, including products, billing. installation,
maintenance and customer service. The Company has chosen to focus on this segment based on
its expectations that higher gross margins will generally be available on services provided 1o these
customers as compared with larger businesses, and that ILECs may be less likely to apply signifi-
cani resources towards retaining these customers. The Company expects to atlract and retain these
customers through a direct sales effort by offering: (i) bundled local and long distance services, as
well as the Company's enhanced communications sarvices; (i) up to a 10% 1o 15% discount to
comparable pricing by the ILEC, depending on the individual market, and (jii) responsive customer
service and support provided on a local level.

Foster Decentralized Local Management and Control. The Company believes that its success
will be enhanced by building locally based management leams that are responsible for the success
of each of its operational markets. The Company has recruited experienced entrepreneurs and
industry executives as presidents of each of the Company's operating subsidiaries, many of whom
have previously built and led their own start-up telecommunications businesses. The local presi-
dents and their teams are charged with achieving growth objectives in their res pective markets and
have decision making authority in key operating areas, including customer care, network growth
and building connectivity, and managing the relationship and provisioning eflorts with the ILEC. The
Company has established an incentive based compensation policy for these managemen! teams
that is based upon the achievement of targeted growth and operational objectives. The Company
believes that this local management focus will provide a critical comj:etitive edge in customer
acquisition and retention in each market.

Further Develop Effective Direct Sales and Customer Care Organizations. NEXTLINK s buila-
ing a highly motivated and experienced direct sales force and customer care organization that is
designed 1o establish a direct and personal relationship with its cusiomers. The Company has
expanded its sales force from 98 salespeople al year end 1996 to 150 salespeople at June 30, 1997
The Company expects to further increase its sales force to approximately 200 salespeople by year
end 1897. Salespeople are given incentives through a commission structure that targets 40% of a
salesperson's compensalion to be based on performance. To ensure custumer satisfaction, each
customer will have a single point of contact for customer care who is responsible for solving
problems and responding to customer inquiries. The Company has expanded its cuslomer care
organization from 36 customer care employees at year end 1996 to 81 customer care employees al
June 30, 1997,

Continuously Improve Provisioning Processes to Accelerate Revenue Growth. The Company
believes that the Immediate challenge for CLECs will be developing effective provisioning systems,
which include the complex process of transitioning ILEC customers to the Company’s network.
Accordingly, the Company has begun to identify and will focus, as a koy compettive stralegy, on
implementing best provisioning practices in each of its markets thia! will provide for rapid and
seamless transitions of customers from the ILEC to the Company. To support the provisioning of its
services, the Company has begun the long-term development of a comprehensive information
technology platiorm geared toward delivering information and automated ordering and provision-
ing capability directly to the end-user as well as to the Company's internal stall. The Company
believes that these practices and its comprehensive information tec hnology platform, as developed,
will provide the Company with a long-term competitive advantage and allow it to implement maore
rapidly switched local services in its markets and to shorten the time between the receipt of a
customer order and the generation of revenues.

Develop High Capacity Fiber Optic Networks with Broad Market Coverage. NEXTLINK has
and intends to continue to approach network design with a long-term view focusing on three key
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Company's operating subsidiary in each local market, has been generally 10% 1o 15% lower than the
pricing for comparable local services from the ILEC. The Company's current product offering includes:

« Standard dial tone, including touch tone dialing, 811, and operator assisted calling;
« Multi-trunk services, including direct inward dialing (DID) and direct outward dialing (DOD);
« Long distance service, including 1+, 800/888 and operator services,

+ Voice messaging with personalized greetings, send, transfer, reply and remote retrieval capabili-
ties; and
« Directory listings and assislance

Curtrently, the Company offers CAP services in 23 markets, focusing on long distance carriers and
the private line needs of high volume customers. In addition, data services that are currently offered by
the Company include Ethernet, TOKEN rings, and Fiber Distributed Data Interface (FODI).

The Company’s CAP services, which are used as both primary and back-up circuits, fall inlo th-se
principal categories: (i) special access circuits that connect end-users 10 long distance carriers,
(il) special access circuits that connect long distance carriers’ facilities to one another; and (iii) private
line circuits that connect several facilities owned by the same end-user.

Enhanced Communications Services

NEXTLINK's IVR platform allows a consumer to dial into a computer-based system using a toll-free
number and a touch tone phone, and, by following a customized menu, 10 access a variety of informa-
tion and 1o leave simultaneously a profile of the caller behind for use by either NEXTLINK cor its chents
Currently, NEXTLINK provides four types of IVR services:

» LeaveWord—prompts the consumer to leave messages of any length or complexity, ranging from
catalog requests and contest entries to specific product questions and surveys;

« Dealer Locator—helps a consumer to locate the nearest dealer of the client's products by
instantly identifying the consumer's area and responding with the names, addresses and phane
numbers of the client’s locations within any desired mileage radius;

« Automated Order Entry—allows consumers to purchase products using the interactive phone
service 24-hours a day, with real-time order and credit card confirmation as well as arranging for
delivery of the new item 1o the consumer’s desired address; and

« Interactive Call Center—provides the consumer with a menu of selections that include Dealer
Locator, Automated O:der Entry and other functions, including receiving a catalog, registenng the
warranty of a product, contest entry and an option for callers 10 be forwarded 10 a live operator.

NEXTLINK also provides a virtual communications center for mobile professionais and workgroups
through its Magic Number service, which offers a suite of personal communications services. These
services are made available through a specialized personal telephone number. The key services pro-
vided by this center are the following:

+ Follow-Me—Iinstructs the communications center to forward any calls made to a Magic Numberto
a particular wireline or wireless telephone number;

« Voice Messaging—allows subscribers to receive, send, keep, transfer, instantly reply 1o or
request future delivery for voice messages;

« Call-out—enables subscribers to make calls from the communications center without hanging up
between calls or dialing another PIN number;
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« Paging—nolifies subscribers via pager of new and urgent messages,

« Caller ID—provides the ability to capture the lelephone number of anyone who calls the sub-
scriber, which is also displayed on the subscriber's pager;

« Fax Messaging—stores an incoming fax and delivers it 1o the nearest fax machine designated by
the subscriber when the subscriber calls in to retrieve it; and

« Teleconferencing—handles all teleconferencing needs through a teleconierencing operator.

The Company has dev.loped its enhanced communications service offerings through acquisitions,
marketing agreements and equity investment. In June 1995, the Company acquired certain enhanced
communications services assets from City Signal, Inc. These assets are used by the Company 1o offer its
Magic Number service. In September 1995, the Company acquired a fully operational interactive voice
response business through which the Company offers its IVR services. The Company anticipates that it
will continue to explore other enhanced communications services opportunities £,nd may acquire, invest
in or establish marketing relationships with, additional service providers in the future that support its

overall business and marketing strategles.

Sales and Customer Care

Overview

The Company utilizes a two-pronged sales stralegy in each of its markets, one directed to the sale of
local and long distance services and the other to enhanced communications services. The primary sales
efforts in the Company's markets are for switched local and long distance services focusing on small
and medium-sized businesses and professional groups with fewer than 50 business lines. The Com-
pany's market research indicates that these customers prefer a single source for all of their telecommu-
nications requirements, including products, billing, installation, maintenance and customer service. The
Company utilizes a direct sales effort offering combined local and long distance sorvices with prices that
are generally at a 10% to 15% discount from the ILEC. Providing a combination of local and long
distance services provides the Company’s customers a level of convenience that has been generally
unavailable since the break-up of AT&T. The Company is also marketing its enhanced communications
services through a separate direct sales force in each market, which is expected to increase the number
of customers for all of NEXTLINK's telecommunications services in that marke! at a faster rate. In
addition, the Company is conlinuing its sales efforts for traditional CAP services to long distance carriers
and large commercial users,

Sales Force

The Company is building a highly motivated and experienced direct sales force and cusiomer care
organization that is designed to establish a direct and personal refationship with its cusiomers. The
Company seeks to recruit salespeople with strong sales backgrounds, including salespeople from long
distance companies, telecommunications equipment manufacturers, network sysiems integrators and
the ILECs. The Company has expanded its sales force from 98 calespeople al year end 1996 1o 150
salespeople at June 30, 1997. The Company expects to further increase its saleslorce io approximately
200 salespeople by year-end 1997. Salespeople are given incentives through a commission structure
that targets 40% of a salesperson’s compensation to be based on performance. With respect to
traditional CAP services, the Company currently utilizes a national sales force 1o establish and expand
long distance company access service sales. Sales efforts for long distance carriers are centralized in
order 10 provide a single point of contact for these customers.

The Company anlicipates that its enhanced communications service offerings will continue 1o be
sold across the country by its existing national sales force for these services. The Company has also
augmented these efforts with a separate, targeted, locally based sales force in cach of its markets. The
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Nevada. In April 1996, the Company became a 40% member in, and rmanager of, a joint venture
that provides local telecommunications services in Las Vegas, which the Company believes is one of tha
fastest growing areas in the United States. The Company has provided a license to the joint venture to
operate under the name NEXTLINK Nevada. The joint venture began providing switched local and long
distance services in April 1897 in addition to the competitive access services that wore previously
provided over a fiber optic network covering approximately 400 route miles throughout Las Vegas. The
Company will provide strategic planning and management of the business for a ten year period through
one of iis subsidiaries.

California. On February 4, 1897, the Company acquired substantially all the assets of Linkatel, a
Los Angeles-based compelitive access telecommunications provider. At the time of the acquisition,
Linkatel operated an 80-mile fiber optic telecommunications network covering several markets from the
downtown Los Angeles area to .he City of Irvine in Orange County. The Los Angeles/Orange Counly area
represents one of the largest telecommunications markets in the United States, with over 2 million
addressable business lines. The Company assumed management of this operation in November 1936.
As part of the assets acquired, the Company obtained access 1o approximately 250 route miles of righ!
of-way, of which 183 miles have been completed, creating one network In Los Angeles and one network
in the Orange County area. The Company has been providing competitive access services over these
networks since the acquisition date and launched switched local and long dictance services in

July 1997,

lllinois, New York, New Jersey and Georgia. In June 1997, the Company entered into an eight year
exclusive agreement, which contains a five year renewal option, with a company that has excess fiber
capacity in each of Atlanta, Chicago, New York, and Newark, New Jersey, which il agreed to make
available to the Company in each of those markets at a substantial discount. This capacity will allow the
Company to accelerate its entry into each of these markels by enabling the Company 1c avoid a
significant portion of the infrastructure development and construction time that would otherwise be
required to launch swilched local and long distance services in these markets.

Chicago. The Company anticipates launching swilched local and long distance services in
Chicago in the first quarter of 1998. In addition to establishing the capacity arrangement for Chicago
described above, the Company has located and anticipates commencing Installation of its first
switch for Chicago in the third quarter of 1997. The Company also has received its CLEC certifica-
tion from the lllinols Corporation Commission, is in negotiations with Ameritech lllinois for intercon-
nection of services and is negotiating with the City of Chicago for a franchise.

New York. The Company anticipates launching switched local and long dislance services in
Manhattan in the second quarter of 1998. The Company has received its CLEC authority from the
New York State Public Service Commission, is in negotiations with NYNEX Corporation for intercon-
nection, and is engaged in negotiations with New York City for a franchise. In addition 1o the
capacity arrangement described above, the Company also has entered inlo a 20-year lease of
capacity over an existing 47-mile fiber network, which extends trom the Wall Street area north 1o
midtown Manhattan.

Newark, New Jersey and Atlanta. The Company is in the process of commencing its develop-
ment activities in Newark, New Jersey, and Atlanta, and anticipates completing the necessary
regulatory applications and beginning interconnection and franchise negotiations in tha third quar-
ter of 1997, with an anticipated launch of services in Newark in the third quarter of 1998 and Atlanta
in the fourth quarter of 1998.
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Network Archllecture

Design

The Company builds or acquires its own fiber optic networks because it believes that facilities-
based full service lelecommunications companies whose networks are directly connected lo their
customers will have the ability to respond more quickly 1o customer needs for capacity and services.
Moreover, the Company believes that facilities-based carriers develop a more knowledgeable, coopera-
tive relationship with their customers, improving their ability to provide new services and other telecom-
munications solutions, which should result in higher long-term operaling margins.

The Company believes that the future telecommunications market will be an interconnected net-
work of natworks. The Company believes that calls will flow between local networks, with customers
selecting their service provider based on high quality and differentiated products, responsive customer
service and price. In some circumstances, depending in part upon regulatory conditions, the Company
will utilize its own network for one portion of a call and resell the services of another carrier for the
remaining portion of a call. In other instances, both the origination and termination of calls will take place
on the Company's networks. The Company's networks are designed 1o maximize connectivity directly
with significant numbers of business end-users, and 1o easily interconnect and praovide a least-cos!
routing flow of traffic between the Company's network and other networks in the marketplace.

In general, the Company seeks to build wide, expansive networks, rather than a simple coreringin a
downtown metropolitan area. The Company believes that this type of broad coverage of the markets in
which it operates will result in the following advanlages!

- an increased number of buildings that can be directly connected 1o the Company’s network,
which should maximize the number of businesses 1o which the Company can offer its services,

« ahigher volume of telecommunications traffic both originating and terminating on the Company's
network, which should result in improved operating margins;

« the ability to leverage its investment in high capacity switching equipment and clectromics, and

- the opportunity for the Company's network to provide backhaul carriage for other telacommun:
cations service providers such as long distance and wircless carriers.

The Company seeks to further utilize this network design to increase the number of builldings and
customers directly connected 10 its networks. The Company believes that as compared 10 the extensive
use of unbundled loops ana pursuing a pure resale business strategy, having a direct connection o iis
customers will provide the Company with the highest long-term operating margins, allow the Company
to provide greater feature and quality control as wel! as ofier customer sarvice that is bolk prompt and
effective, because the network 10 be serviced is controlled by the Company and not another service
provider.

The Company seeks to build high capacity networks using a backbone density ranging between 72
and 240 strands. A single pair of glass fibers on the Company's networks can currently transmit 32,256
simultaneous voice conversations, whereas a typical pair of copper wires can currently carry a maximum
of 24 digitized simultaneous voice conversations. The Company believes that installing high count fiber
strands will allow the Company lo offer a higher volume ol voice and broadband soervices without
incurring significant additional construction costs.
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Uniform Technology Platform

The Company is implementing a consistent technology platiorm based on the Noitel DMS 500
swilch throughout its networks, Unlike a traditional long dislance of local switch, the Nonal DMS 500
switch will enable the Company to provide local and long distance services from a single platform The
Company believes that having a standardized switch platform will enable it to (i) deploy features and
functions quickly in all of its networks, (ii) expand switch capacity in a cost effective manner and (iii) lower
maintenance costs through reduced training and spare pars requirements. In addition, the scalability
and capacity of these switches will aliow the Company 10 switch calls from more than one market, which
enhances the Company's ability to use a clustered approach 10 the building of its networks

The Company also is establishing & uniform transmission technology utilizing SONET design and
standardized digital access and cross connect syslems (“DACCS") and other ancillary transmission
equipment. DACCS provide the ability to aggregate and disaggregate capacity along the fiber optic
network. Using the DACCS, the capacity of 24 DS-0s can be aggregated to form a DS-1 and, again
through the DACCS, 28 DS-1s can be aggregaled 1o form a DS-3.

The Company's NEXTLAB facility contains a fully functional Nortel DMS 500 switch in a configura-
tion that simulates the working environment of the Company’s operationa! switches as well as distribu-
tion and ancillary equipment. Located in Plano, Texas, NEXTLAB operates separate and apart from the
Company'’s operational switches as a testing facility and will serve as the Company’s network operalions
control center (NOCC). NEXTLAB provides the Company with a means 1o test swilch software and
service configurations prior to their release on the Company's networks. The Company believes that this
process should: (i) minimize network outages; (i) save network operating and training costs; and
(i) improve levels of cuslomer service.

Implementation of Local Telecommunications

A company preparing to offer local exchange services not only requires an installed switch, but also
must have numerous network and routing arrangements in place. NEXTLINK has established all of these
arrangements for Pennsylvania, Tennessee, Washington, Utah. Ohio, Nevada and California. These key

elements include:

Interconnection. The Company has executed interconnection agreements for all of s current
operating networks: in Nashville and Memphis, Tennessee. with BeliSouth Telecommunications, Inc.; in
Harrisburg, Reading, Lancaster and Allentown, Pennsylvania, with Bell Atlantic-Pennsylvania, Inc.; in
Cleveland and Columbus, Ohio with a division of Ameritech; in Spokane, Washington, and Salt Lake City
and Provo/Orem, Utah with U S WEST Communications, Inc.; in Los Angeles, California and the
surrounding markets, with Pacific Bell and GTE Corporation; and in Las Vegas, Nevada with a division of
Sprint. The Company is currently negoliating interconnection agreements with NYNEX Corporation for
New York and Ameritech for Chicago, and plans 10 begin negotiations with BeliSouth for an inlerconnec-
tion agreement to cover Atlanta by the end of the third quarter of 1997. In addition, the Company beligves
that interconnection arrangements between the ILECs and other CLECs or the Company will be in place
in other markets that the Company may enter. The Company likely will initially "piggy-back” on these
other arrangements while pursuing more favorable long-term arrangements.

The Company's approach to interconnection has been a two-slep process. To accelerate its launch
of switched local services, the Company has entered into initial interconnection arrangements that allow
for the immediate exchange of local traffic with the ILEC. These arrangements allow the Company to
commence service immediately and then work to optimize its arrangements with the ILEC. The Com-
pany’s ILEC agreements are now being re-negoliated under Sections 251 and 252 of the Telecom Acl.
The actual operating experience gained through the Company's initial interconnection agreements
gives the Company critical knowledge for negotialing longer term arrangements, In some cases, where
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Insue Definition Anticipated Effect B
Interconnection Efficient network interconnection to Allows a CLEC 1o service and
transfer calls back and forth between  terminate calls to and from customers
ILECs and competitive networks connected to other networks
(including 911, 0+, directory
assistance, efc.)
Local Loop Allows competitors to selectively gain  Reduces the capital and operating
Unbundling access to ILEC wires which connect cosls ol a CLEC 1o serve cuslomers
ILEC central offices with customer not direclly connected to its networks
pramises
Reciprocal Mandates reciprocal compensaticn Improves the CLEC's marging lor
Compensation  for local traffic exchanges helween local service

ILECs and competitors

Allows customers to change local
carriers without changing numbaers;
true portability allows incoming calls
to be routed directly to a competitor,
Interim portabllity allows incoming
calls 1o be routed through the ILEC to
a competitor at the economic
oquivalent of true portability

Mandates assignment of new
telephone numbers to compelilive
telecommunicalions provider's
customers

While the interconnection rights established in the Telecom Act are a necessary prerequisite to the
introduction of full local competition, they must be properly implemented to be effective. Significant
implementation issues remain to be resolved, including modifications to, and expansion ol, the ILEC
network interface facilities, before the barriers to entry into the local telephone business are sufficiently
lowered to permit widespread competitive entry. See “Federal Legislation” for a more comp'ete explana-
tion of the potential effect of the Telecom Act on the Company's business.

Allows customers 1o swilch to a
CLEC's local service without changing
phone numbers

Number Portability

Allows CLECs to provide telephone
numbers 1o new cuslomers on the
same basis as the ILEC

Access to Phone
Numbers

Federal Legislation

The Telecom Act, enacted on February 8, 1996, substantially revised the Communications Act of
1934, The Telecom Act establishes a regulatory framework for the introduction of local competition
throughout the United States. Among other things, the Telecom Act preempts any state or local govern-
ment from prohibiting any entity from providing telecommunications service. This provision eliminated
prohibitions on entry found in almost hall of the states in the country at the time the Telecom Act was
passed.

The Telecom Act also establishes a dual federal state regulatory scheme for eliminating other
barriers to competition faced by compelitors to the ILECs and other new entrants into the local lelephone
market. Specifically, the Telecom Act imposes on ILECs certain interconnection obligations, some of
which are 1o be implemented by FCC regulations. The Telecom Act contemplates that states will apply
the federal regulations and oversee the implementation of all aspects of interconnection not subject to
FCC jurisdiclion as they oversee interconnection negotiations between ILECs and their new
competitors.

The FCC has significant responsibility in the manner in which the Telecom Act wili be implemented
especially in the areas of universal service, access charges and price caps. The details of the
rules adopted by the FCC will have a significant effect in determining the extent to which barriers 10
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competition in local services are removed, as well as the time frame within which such barriers are
oliminated. The FCC may also grant ILECs increased pricing flexibllity to enable them to respond to
compelition for special access and private line services. To the extent such pricing flexibility is granted,
the Company's ability to compete for certain services may be adversely affected.

The state PUCs have an even more significant responsibility in implementing the Telecom Act.
Specifically, the stales have authority to establish interconnection pricing, including unbundled loop
charges, reciprocal compensation and wholesale pricing. The states are also chargud under the
Telecom Act with overseeing the arbitration process for resolving interconnection negotiation disputes
between CLECs and the ILECs.

In addition, the Telecom Act provides that ILECs that are subsidiaries ol RBOCs cannot combine in-
region, long distance services across local access and transport areas (“LATAs") with the local services
they offer until they have demonstrated that (i) they have entered into an approved interconnection
agreement with a facilities-based CLEC or that no such CLEC has requested intL;connection as of a
statutorily determined deadline, (i) they have satisfied a 14-element checklist designed to ensure that
the ILEC is offering access and interconnection to all local exchange carriers on competitive terms and
(ili) the FCC has determined that in-region, interLATA approval is consistent with the public interest,
convenience and necessity.

Federal Regulation

The FCC was granted authority to eliminate tariff and reporting requirtements for non-dominant
carriers such as the Company. Acting under that authority, the FCC has eliminated tariff filing require-
ments for such carriers providing interstate access and domeglic interstate long distance services. On
February 13, 1997, the United States Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia granted motions for
stay of the FCC order detariffing domestic interstate long distance service pending judicial review of that
order. The result of this stay is that carriers must continue to file 1ariffs for interstate long distance
services. Regulatory compliance measures remain in place for international traffic. In addition, the
Telecom Act now requires that ILECs provide CLECs with physical collocation on rates, terms and
conditions that are just and reasonable, unless the ILEC can demonstrate to stale regulators that
physical collocation is not practical. The Company believes that either physical or virtual collocation ol its
facilities in a timely fashion for appropriate rates and terms will accommodate ils purposes.

The FCC has taken several actions related to the assignment of telephone numbers, first in
July 1295 mandating that over the course of the next year responsibility for administering and assigning
local telephone numbers be translerred from the RBOCs and a few other ILECs to a neutral entity, and
second in July 1996 adopting a regulatory structure under whizh a wide range of number portability
issues would be resolved. In March 1397, the FCC affirmed its number portability rules, but it extended
slightly certain deadlines for the implementation of true number portability. The FCC plans 10 establish
cost recovery rules for true number portability.

On August 8, 1996, the FCC issued an order containing rules providing guidance to the ILECs,
CLECs, long distance companies and state PUCs regarding several provisions of the Telecom Act. The
rules include, among other things, FCC guidance on: (i) discounts for end-to-end resale of ILEC lccal
exchange services (which the FCC has suggested should be in the range of 17%-25%); (ii) availability of
unbundled local loops and other unbundled ILEC network elements; (iii) the use of Total Element Long
Run Incremental Costs (“TELRIC") in the pricing of these unbundled network elements; (iv) average
default proxy prices for unbundled local loops in each state; (v) mutual compensation proxy rates for
termination of ILEC/CLEC local calls; and (vi) the ability of CLECs and other interconnectors to opt into
portions of interconnection agreements negotiated by the ILECs with other parties on a most favored
nation (or a “'pick and choose") basis. See below for a discussion of the Eighth Circuit Court of Appeals
decision invalidating certain aspects ol this order.
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On May B, 1897, the FCC released an order establishing a significantly expanded federal telecom-
munications subsidy regime. For example, the FCC established new subsidies for services provided to
qualifying schools and libraries with an annual cap of $2.25 billion and for services provided to rural
health care providers with an annual cap of $400 million. The FCC also expanded the federal subsidies
1o low-income consumers. Providers of interstate lelecommunications service, such as the Company, as
well as certain other entities, must pay for these programs, The Company's share of the schools, libraries
and rural health care funds will be based on its share ol the total industry telecommunications sefvice
and certain defined telecommunications end user revenues. The Company’s share of all other federal
subsidy funds will be based on its share of the lotal interstate telecommunications service and cenain
defined lelecommunications end user revenues. Although the FCC order describes a method for
determining the amnunt the Company must contribute to support these subsidies, the Company is
currently unable to quantify the amount of these payments that it will be required to make, and the effect
that these required payments will have on its financial condition. In the May 8 order, the FCC also
announced that it will soon revise its rules for subsidizing service provided to consumers in high cost
areas. Several parties have appealed the May B order. Such appeals have boen consolidated and
transferrad to the United States Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit where they are currently pending. In
addition, on July 3, 1897, several ILECs filed a petition for stay of the May B order with the FCC. That

petition is also pending.

In a combined Report and Order and Notice of Proposed Rulemaking released on December 24,
1996, the FCC made changes and proposed further changes in the interstate access charge structure. In
the Report and Order, the FCC removed reslrictions on ILECs’ ability o lower access prices and relaxed
the regulation of new swilched access services in those markels where there are other providers of
access services. I this increased pricing flexibility is not eflectively monitored Evy lederal regulators, it
could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s ability 1o compele in providing interslate access
services. On May 16, 1997, the FCC released an order revising its access charge rate structure. The new
rules substantially increase the costs that ILECs subject to the FCC's price cap rules (“price cap LECs")
recover through monthly, non-traffic sensitive access charges and substantially decrease the costs that
price cap LECs recover through traffic sensitive access charges In the May 16 order, the FCC also
announced its plan 1o bring interstate access rale levels more in line with cost. The plan will include
rules to be established sometime this year that grant price cap LECs increased pricing flexibility upon
demonstrations of increased competition (or patential compelition) in relevant markets. The manner in
which the FCC implements this approach to lowering access charge levels will have a material effect on
the Company's ability to compete in providing interstale access services. Several parties have appealed
the May 16 order. Those appeals have been consolidated and transferred lo the United States Court of
Appeals for the Eighth Circuit where they are currently pending.

As part of its overall plan to lower interstate access rales, the FCC also released an order on May 21,
1997, in which the FCC revised its price cap rules. In the otder, the FCC increased the so-called X-Faclor
(the percentage by which price cap LECs must lower their interstate access charges every year, net of
inflation and exogenous cos! increases) and made it uniform for all price cap LECs. The results of these
rule changes will be both a one-time overall reduction in price cap ILEC interstate access charges and an
increase in the rate at which those charges will be reduced in the future. Several parties have appealed
the May 21 order. Those appeals were consolidated and transferred to the United States Count of
Appeals for the Tenth Circult, They have been subsequently transierred to the United States Court of
Appeals for the District of Columbia where they are currently pending

On January 2, 1997, Ameritech of Michigan became the first RBOC to apply for authority 1o provide
in-region interLATA service. Ameritech withdrew its application on February 11, 1997, after the FCC
struck from the record the inlerconnection agreement between Ameritech and AT&T which formed the
basis for the application. On May 21, 1997, Ameritech refiled its application for in-region interLATA
authority in Michigan. That application was denied on August 19, 1997. In denying the application, the
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FCO established specific and substantial critoria that inust bo met betore future Seclion 271 applications
will be granted.

On April 11,1867, SBC applied to the FCC for authority to provide in-tegion inlerLATA service in tho
state of Oklahoma. On June 26, 1897, the FCC released an order rejecting SBC's application on the
grounds that SBC had not demonstrated either that SBC had entered into an approved interconnection
agreement with a facilities-based CLEC or that no CLEC had requested Interconnection as of the
statutory deadline, On July 3, 1897, SBC filed an appeal of the June 26 order with the United States Coun
of Appeals for the District of Columbia. That appeal is currently pending.

On July 2, 1997, SBC and its local exchange carrier subsidiaries filed a lawsuit in the United Stales
District Court for the Northern District of Texas challenging on Constitutional grounds the Telecom Act
restrictions applicable 10 the RBOCs only. The plaintiffs in the case seek both a declaratory judgment
and an injunction against the enforcement of the challenged provisions.

The Company anticipates that the FCC will initate a number of additional proceedings, o its own
volition and as a result of requests from CLECs and others, as a result of the Telecom Act. Whilo the
Eighth Circuit's recent decision in the appeal of the August 8, 1996 order limits the FCC’s jurisdiction
over the local competition provisions of the Telecom Act, such proceedings may nonetheless further
define and construe the Telecom Act's terms.

Court of Appeals Decision

Various parties, including ILECs and state PUCs, filed appeals of the FCC's August 8, 1996 order in
various U.S. Courts of Appeal, and several parties pelitioned the FCC and the courls lo stay the
eflectiveness of the FCC's rules included in the FCC's order, pending a ruling on the appeals. Many of
the appeals were consolidated and transferred to the U.S. Coun of Appeals for the Eighth Circuit. On
October 15, 1996, the Eighth Circuit issued a partial stay of the FCC's rules until the full appeal on the
FCC's rules could be heard. The stay vias limited to two areas of the FCC's rules: (1) the pricing
rules other than those dealing with commercial mobile radio service providers; and (2) the CLECs" ability
to utilize a most favored nation procedure to select lavorable provisions from other imerconnectors’
agreements.

On July 18, 1997, the Eighth Circuit overturned the pricing rules established in the August B, 1956
order, except those applicable to commercial mobile radio service providers. The Eighth Circuit held
that, in general, the FCC does not have jurisdiction over prices for interconnection, resale, leased
unbundled network elements and traffic termination. The Eighth Circuil also overturned the FCC's "pick
and choose" rules as well as certain other FCC rules implementing the Telecom Act's local competition
provisions. In addition, the Eighth Circuit decision substantially imits the FCC’s authority 1o enforce the
local competition provisions of the Telecom Act. The FCC has indicated that it will seck Supreme Court
review of the decision.

In the short term the Company believes that the Eighth Circuit decision will not have a material
adverse effect on il, because the Company already has interconnection agreements in place, or expeclts
to have such agreements in place, under the provisions of the FCC's order and the Telecom Act which
were not invalidated by the Court. The decision does not delay the implementation of the Tolecom Act by
the parties and by the state PUCs, but rather eliminates the guidance on pricing and most favored nalion
procedures as well as other issues that the FCC sought to provide to the parties and the state PUCs

In the long term, the Eighth Circuit's decision makes it more likely that the rules governing locnl
competition will vary from state to state. Most states have already begun 1o establish rulos for local
competition that are consistent with the FCC rules overturned by tho Eighth Circuit If a patchwork of
state regulations were to develop, it could incroaso tho Company's costs ol regulatory compliance and
could make compotitive enlry In some markets more difficult and expensive than in others.
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competes with the ILECs in its markets for local exchange services on the basis of
product offerings, reliability, stato-ol-the-an technology, price, route diversity, easo ol ordering and
customer service. However, the ILECs have long-standing relationships with their customers and pro-
vide those customers with various transmission and swilching services that the Company. in many
cases, does not currently offer. The Company has sought, and will continue 10 seek, to achieve panty
with the ILECs In order 1o become able to provide a full range of local telecommunications services. See
“Regulatory Overview" for additional information concerning the regulatory environment in which the
Company operates. Existing competition for private line and special access services is based primarniy
on quality, capacity and reliability of network facilities, customer service, response lo customer needs,
service features and price, and is not based on any proprietary technology. As a result of the compara-
tively recent installation of the Company's fiber optic networks, its dual path architectures and the state-
ol-the-art technology used in its networks, the Company may have cost and service quality advantages
over some currently available ILEC networks.

The Company

Other Competitors

The Company also faces, and expects to continue to face, competition from other pote ntial compet-
itors in certain of the markets in which the Company offers its services. In addition to the ILECs and
CAPs, potential competitors capable of offering switched local and long distance services include long
distance carriers such as AT&T, MCI, Sprint and WorldCom, Inc., cable television companies, such as
Tele-Communications, Inc. and Time Warner Inc., electric utilities, microwave carners, wireless tele-
phone system operators and privale networks built by large ‘end-users.

The Conipany believes that the Telecom Act as well as a recent series of completed and proposed
transactions between ILECs and long distance companies and'cable companies increase the likelihood
that barriers to local exchange competition will be removed. The Telecom Act states that entry barriers
must be lowered in the areas served by ILECs that are subsidiaries of RBOCs before such ILECs are
permitted to provide in-region, interLATA services. When ILECs that are RBOC subsidiaries are permit-
ted 1o provide such services, they will be in a position to offer single source service. ILECs that are not
RBOC subsidiaries may offer single source service presently.

In some cases, cable television companies are upgrading their networks with fiber oplics and
installing facilities to provide fully interactive transmission of broadband voice, video and data communi-
cations. In addition, under the Telecom Acl, electnc utilities may install iber oplic telecommunicalions
cable and may facilitate provision of telecommunications Services by elecinc utilities over those nel-
works if granted regulatory authority to do so Cellular and PCS providers may also be a source of

competitive local 1elephone service.

The Company also competes with equipment vendors and installers, and telecommunications
management companies, with respect to certain portions of its business.

A continuing trend toward business combinations and aliances in the telecommunications industry
may create significant new compelitors to the Company. In addition, many of the Company’s existing
and potential competitors have financial, personnel and other resources, including name recognition,
significantly greater than those of the Company.

The Company also competes with long distance carriers in the provision of long distance services.
Although the long distance market is dominated by four major competitors, AT&T, MCI, Sprint and
WorldCom, Inc., hundreds ol other companies also compete in the long distance marketplace.

With respect to the Company's enhanced communicalions senice offerings, each is subject 10
competition. For example, there are several competitors that offer IVA services, such as Call Interactive,
which the Company believes focuses its sales efforts on large volume IVR service users. Another
compelitor, Telemedia, vhich is owned by Sprint, also offers significant call volume capacily with
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respect to Magic Number, the Company's vitual communications center, there are numerous competi-
tors with product offerings that include some or all of the services offered by Magic Number.

Purchasing and Distribution

With respect 1o the Company's fiber optic networks, which conslitute the Company’s most signifi-
cant capital investments, the Company has entered into general purchase agreements with key equip-
ment suppliers for fiber and fiber optic transmission equipment, with Nortel for telecommunications
switches. and with other suppliers for various other components ol each system Thono agroomonts
provide the basic framowork under which purchase ordors for theso system components will be made.

The specilic purchases made for each network depend upon the configuration and other factors related
to the network, such as the pro.pective customer base and location and the services to be offered over
the network. Once these decisions are made, purchase orders for the appropriate fiber and selected
equipment types are placed under the genesal purchaso agreements. In connection with the Company's
provision of long distance services, it purchases capacity at wholesale rates from long distance carriers.

Properties

The Company owns or leases, i its operating territories, telephone property which includes: fiber
optic backbone and distribution network facilities; point-to-point distribution capacity; central office
switching equipment; connecting lines between customers’ premises and the central offices; and
customer premise equipment.

The fiber optic backbone and distribution network and connecting lines include aerial and under-
ground cable, conduit, and poles and wires. These facilities are located on public streets and highways
or on privately owned land. The Company has permission 1o use these lands pursuant 1o consent of
lease, permit, easement, or other agreernents. The central office swilching equipment includes elec-
tronic switches and peripheral equipment.

The Company and its subsidiaries lease facilities for their administrative and sales offices, network
nodes and warehouse space. The various leases expire in years ranging from 1997 to 2016. Most have
renewal options. Additional office space and equipment rooms will be leased as the Company's opera-
tions and networks are expanded and as new networks are constructed.

Employees

As of July 31, 1997, the Company employed B85 people, including full-time and part-tme employ-
ees. The Company considers its employee relations to be good. None of the empioyees of the Company
is covered by a collective bargaining agreement.

Trademarks and Trade Names

The Company uses the name "NEXTLINK" as its primary business name. In July 1995, the Com-
pany filed for federal trademark protection of this name and reccived its notice of allowance fromthe U.S.
Patent and Trademark Office (the “"PTO") on July 1, 1997. In addition, the Company has received a
notice of allowance from the PTO of its distinctive floating X and related marks as protected trademarks
under federal law. The Company from time to time receives requests to consider licensing certain
patents held by third parties that may have bearing on its IVR and virtual communications center
services. The Company considers such requests on their merits, but has not to date entered into any
such license agreements.

Legal Proceedings

The Company is not currently a party to any legal proceedings, other than regulatory and other
proceedings that are in the normal course of its business.
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The following are brief biographies of persons identified above.

Steven W. Hooper. Mr. Hooper has been Chairman of the Board since July 21, 1997. Prior to that,
Mr. Hooper was Vice Chairman of the Company since June 16, 1997. Mr. Hooper was formerly President
and Chief Executive Officer of AT&T Wireless Services, Inc., following the merger with McCaw Cellutar.
Prior to being appointed President and Chief Executive Officer, he served as Chief Financial Officer for
two years. This was preceded by five years as Regional President for Cellular One’s Pacific Northwest/
Rocky Mountain region, where his responsibilities included managing the cellular operations in six
western states and Alaska. Mr. Hooper is a member of the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors.

Wayne M. Perry. Mr. Perry has been Chief Executive Ofiicer of the Company since July 21, 1997 and
Vice Chairman of the Company since June 16, 1897. Mr. Perry was formerly Vice Chairman of ATAT
Wireless Services, Inc. since September 1994, following the merger with McCaw Cellular. Prior to the
merger, he served as Vice Chairman of the Board of McCaw Cellular since June 1989, and before that
served as President since December 1885. Prior to becoming President of McCaw Celiilar, Mr. Perry
served as Executive Vice President and General Counsel and was primary legal officer from 1976 to
1985. Mr. Perry was appointed Vice Chairman of the Board of LIN Broadcasting Corporation on March 5,
1990. He also served as Chairman of the Board of Directors of the Cellular Telecommunications Industry
Association, the nationwide wireless industry association, for the 1993/84 term. Mr. Perry is a member of
the Executive Committee of the Board of Directors.

James F. Voelker. Mr. Voelker has been the President of NEXTLINK since April 1995 and is responsi-
ble for developing the company vision and guiding overall aperations. He is recognized as one ol the
early entrepreneurs Iin the business of bullding and delivering competitive local exchange service.
Mr. Voelker's career in telecommunications spans almost two decades and includes experience in very
different segments of the industry in a variety of executive positions. From 1981 to 1984 he served as vice
president of sales, marketing and customer service for Lexitel Corporation, the forerunner of Alinet
Communications. Mr. Voelker co-founded Digital Signal Inc. and served as chief operating officer and
chiel executive officer from 1885 through the company's sale to SP Telecom in 1990. Digital Signal
operated a nation wide fiber optic network supplying capacity, engineering, provitioning and opera-
tional support lo over one hundred interexchange carriers. In the CAP arena, Mr. Voolker became vice
chairman of City Signal Inc. in 1882, which constructed and operated networks in six markets. Subse-
quently, he served as its chiel executive officer after the company merged with its sisler company
Teledial America to form U.S. Signal. Based in Grand Rapids, Michigan, U.S. Signal was one of the first
fully certified CLECs in the country. Mr. Voelker has served as vice chairman of ALTS, the industry
Association of Local Telephone Service providers and as a director of Phoenix Network Inc., a publicly
held long distance company. Mr. Voelker is also a member of the Executive Committee of the Board ol
Directors.

Jan Loichle. Ms. Loichle has been Vice President, Chief of Local Exchange Operations of NEXTLINK
since Oclober 1596. Prior 1o that, Ms. Loichle was the President of NEXTLINK Solutions (the virtual
communications center) from July 1995. Prior to joining NEXTLINK, Ms. Loichle was Executive Vice
President at U.S. Signal in Detroit and Grand Rapids, Michigan from April 1993 to July 1995. At US.
Signal Ms. Loichle led the development of an enhanced service platform (Magic Number) from concept
through production system and implementation. From 1980 to 1993, Ms. Loichle was Assistant Vice
President of Finance for SP Telecom in San Francisco. Prior 1o that, Ms. Loichle was Vice President of
Financial Operations for Lexitel/Alinet/ALC in Birmingham, Michigan from December 1980 to
October 1989.

Kathleen M. Iskra. Ms. Iskra has been Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer of
NEXTLINK since January 1896. Prior to that, she was President and Chief Executive Officer of Horizon
Air, a wholly owned subsidiary of Alaska Air Group. Prior to her appointment at Horizon Air, Ms, Iskra
served as stafl vice president of finance and controller of Alaska Airlines and Alaska Air Group.
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Ms. Iskra's service wrh Alaska began in 1987, when she was appointed Controller. Prior to joining
Alaska, she was an audit manager with Arthur Andersen.

A. Bruce Easter, Jr Mr. Easter has been Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary of
NEXTLINK since January 1995. From 1986 to Decembor 1004, Mr Eastor was an associate and then
partner in the law firm of Davis Wright Tremaine In Seattle, Washington, where he focused on communi-
calions law and media matters.

Charles P Daniols. Mr. Daniels has been Vice President, Chiel Technology Officer since July 1897,
Priof to that, Mr. Daniels was Vice President, Chiel Marketing Officer of NEXTLINK from November 1995,
From 1992 to 1895, Mr. Daniels worked for MCI where he was the founder and Program Manager of the
network MCI Developers Lab. Mr. Daniels was also a founding member of MCI's Advanced Technology
Group. Prior to joining MCI, Mr. Daniels worked for Manufacturers Hanover Trust from 1989 to 1992 as
Vice President/Strategic Technology & Research, where he was responsible for evaluating and imple-
menting new technologies that either reduce® Cosis of generated new revenue.

R. Gerard Salemme. Mr. Salemme has been Vice President, External Affairs and Industry Relations
since July 1997. Prior to joining NEXTLINK, Mr. Salemme was Vice President -Government Affairs at
AT&T Corp. from December 1894. Prior to joining AT&T Corp., Mr. Salemme was Senior Vice President—
External Atairs at McCaw Cellular from 1991 to December 1994.

Bruce Allenbaugh. Mr. Allenbaugh has been Vice President, Marketing Services since July 1997
Prior to that, Mr. Allenbaugh was Director of Marketing for the Company from December 1994. Prior to
joining NEXTLINK, Mr. Allenbaugh was Director of Market Development with the Pepsi-Cola Company
from August 1993 to December 1994, Director of New Products from April 1991 to August 1993 and
Director of Advertising from September 1990 to April 1991. '

Craig O. McCaw. Mr. McCaw has been a director of the Company since Seplember 1994 and was
Chiel Executive Officer of NEXTLINK from September 1994 lo July 21, 1997. Mr. McCaw is also Chairman
and Chief Executive Officer of Eagle River, a company formed and owned by Mr. McCaw 10 make
strategic investments In telecommunications ventures. Mr. McCaw was the founder, chairman and chief
execulive officer of McCaw Cellular Communications, Inc. ("McCaw Cellular”), the nation’s leading
provider of wireless communications services, until the company was sold to AT&T in August 1894 Prior
to entering the cellular telephone business in 1983, Mr. McCaw was requested by his lamily 1o assume
responsibility for the daily operations of a small cable television operation in Centralia, Washington, that
he and his three brothers owned. This one-system operation serving 4,000 subscribers eventually grew
1o be the nation’s 20th largest cable operator serving 450.000 subscribers In 1974, the cable company's
services expanded by entering the paging and conventional mobile telephone industries. The company
eventually became the fifth largest paging operator in the country, serving approximately 320,000
subscribers in 13 states. In 1981, the company began 10 develop broad-based cellular telephone
services. Later, McCaw Cellular became the nation's largest cellular telephone operator, with cellular
system positions in more than 100 U.S. cities, representing more than 100 million potential customers
The company also had interests in wireless dala transmissions, personal communications services, air-
1o-ground phone systems and satellite communications at the time of its sale to AT&T. Mr. McCaw is one
of the two principal owners of Teledesic Corporation, which in March 1994 announced plans for a
worldwide sateliite-based telecommunications system. Mr. McCaw is indirectly a significant stockhalder,
a director and Chairman of the Operating Committee of Nextel Communications. Inc., a pravider of
wireless telecommunications services.

Dennis Weibling. Mr. Weibling has been a direclor of the Company sinc January 1997 and had
been Executive Vice President of NEXTLINK since September 1894. Mr. Weibling is also President of
Eagle River, Inc., since October 1993, Mr. Weibling is a director and member of Nextel Communications,
Inc.’s board, operations, audit and compensation committees. Nextel is a leading provider of integrated
witeless communications services for teams of mobile workers. Mr. Weibling serves on the board and
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No dealer, salesperson or any other person has
been authorized to give any Information or to
make any representaticns other than those
contained In this Prospectus In connection with
the offer made by this Prospectus and, If glven or
made, such Information or representations must
not be relied upon as having been authorized by
the Company or by any of the Underwriters.
Neither the delivery of this Prospectus nor any
sale made hereunder shall, under any
circumstances, create any implication that there
has been no change in the aHairs of the
Company since the dates as of which
information Is given In this Prospectus. This
Prospectus does nol constitule an olfer or
solicitation by anyone in any jurisdiction in which

such an offer or solicitation is not authorized or

In which the person making such offer or
solicitation Is not qualified to do so or to anyone
to whom it is unlawful to make such offer or
solicitation.
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Sound Response Corporation

Notes to Financlal Stlatements
August 31, 1995

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES:

Organization and Principles of Consolidation

The financial statements include the accounts
corporation. The Company was formed August 12, 1001,
and operation of enhanced or inelligent communicalions sonvicos.

ol Sound Responso Corporation, an Orogon S
and ls principally ongagod in the ownorship

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue In the period thal sorvice is provided. Bad debl expense ol

$2.052, $28,739 and $40,000, are included In selling, general and administrative expenses for the
periods ended December 31, 1993 and 1894, and August 31, 1995, rospoctively.

Property and Equipment

‘Pmpumf and equipment are statec a! cosl. Provisio
straight-line method over estimated useful lives, which range from five t
month an asset is put into service. Leaschold improvements are am

method over the term of the lease.

s for dupreciation are computed using the
o sovon years, beginning in the
ottizod using the straight-ine

Income Taxes

The Company has been organized and operated undor i subichopte
manner thal is intended to result in the classification of the Company as a p
tax purposes. Accordingly, no provision for income taxes has boon made

6 tax status structured in a
artnership for lederalincome

Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments which potentially subject the Company o concentration of credit nsk consist
principally of accounts receivable. Concentrations of credil risk with rospect 1o accounts receivable are
nong different industrios and remadies

limited due to the dispersion of the Company's customer baso o
provided by terms of contracts and statutes

Certain of the Company's customers provide i significant porion o
Customers providing more than 10% of the Company's fevenues during the pe
ber 31, 1993 and 1994 and August 31, 1995 are as follows!

 tho Company’s 1evenuos
tiods onding Decem:

ot
Yenar Ended onths
Decomber 31, nulﬁnu.ﬂﬂh
1903 1904 1995
Numberof customers . .........cc00een> v 3 2 2
. % 42% 97%

Percentage of revenues .. ..o

Use of Estimates

Tha preparation of financial staterments in conformity with gonorally accopl
requires management to make estimales and assumptions that affoct tho roported amounts

od accaunting principles
ol nusels
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aw
. Sound Response Corporation
Statements of Operations
Fighi
" ks
 December 31, adad
1993 1958 1995
REVENUIE - i b el v e e e o e e i a s Wil $1,888,805 $3,232,907 $8,285,795
COST AND EXPENSES: '
Operaling . ..covvvvrevsvnrrsssrsanenseassans 606,690 885,781 2,565,889
Selling, general and administrative . .............. 1,094,155 1,889,106 3,330,860
Depreciation and amortization ........ccoceuv e 70,410 102,012 151,328
1,771,255 2,876,899 ) 6,048,077
INCOME FROM OPERATIONS . ... v vvnvvnnannrenrn 117,550 356,008 2,237,718
INTEREST EXPENSE ......00vvineinninninennsnns 17,563 20,320 16,848
HETINECOME: oo osmammnmnmosive s msmmse s e i § 99987 § 335688 $2,220,870

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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Report of Independent Public Accountants

To the Shareholders of
Sound Response Corporation:

We have audited the accompanying statements of oporations of Sound Response Corporation (an
Oregon corporation) for the years ended December 31, 1693 and 1994, and for the eight months ended
August 31, 1895, These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally accepled auditing standards. Those stan-
dards require that we plan and perform the audit to oblain reasonable assurance about whether tho
financial statements are ‘ree of material misstalement. An audit includes examining, on a lest basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used ang significant estimates made by management, as well as
evalualing the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable

basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the statements of operations referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,
the results of operations of Sound Response Corporation for the yoars ended December 31, 1993 and
1994, and for the eight months ended August 31, 1995, in conformity with generally accepted account
ing principles.

ARTHUR ANDERSEN LLP

Seattle, Washington,
March 22, 1996
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NEXTLINK Communlications, L.L.C. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financlal Statements (Continued)
December 31, 1996

12. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS: (Continued)

The conversion of the Company 1o a taxable corporalion will result in the Company recording fully
reserved net deferred tax assets. Major items giving rise 1o deferred tax assets include deferred compen-
sation and certain operating expenses capitalized for tax purposes. Management believes that, based
on a number of factors, the available objective evidence creales sufficient uncertainty ragarding the
realization of the net deferred tax assets. Accordingly, a valuation allowance will be pravided for tho not
deferred tax assels of the Company.

Financing

On January 31, 1997, the Company completed the sale of 5.7 million units consisting of (1) 14%
senior exchangeable redeemable preferred shares (Preferred Shares), liquidation preference $50 per
share, and (i) contingent warrants 1o acquire in the aggregate 5% of each class of outstanding junior
shares (as defined) of the Company on a fully diluted basis as of February 1, 1998, which resulted in
gross proceeds to the Company of $285 million and proceeds nel of underwnling discounlts, adv:sory
fees and expenses of $274 million. Dividends on the Preferred Shares will accrue from January 31, 1997
and will be payable quarterly commencing on May 1, 1997 at an annual rate of 14% of the hiquidation
preference thereof. Dividends may be paid, at the Company's option, on any dividend paymenl date
occurring on or prior to February 1, 2002 either in cash or by issuing additional Preferred Shares with an
aggregate liquidation preference equal 1o the amount of such dividends. The Company is required to
redeem all of the Prelerred Shares outstanding on February 1, 2009 at a redemption price equal to 100%
of the liquidation preference thereol, plus accumulated and unpaid dividends 1o the date of redemption.

Subject to certain conditions, the Preferred Shares are exchangeable in whaole, but not in par, at the
option of the Company, on any dividend payment date, for the 14% senior subordinated notes (Senior
Subordinated Notes) due February 1, 2009 of the Company. All terms and conditions of the Senar
Subordinated Notes would be substantially the same as those of the Preferred Shares.

The contingent warrants are only exercisable on any business day afier February 1. 1998 if a
Qualifying Event has not occurred on or prior 1o February 1, 1998, A Qualifying Event means a public
equity offering (as defined) or one or more strategic equity invesiments (as delined) which in either case
results in aggregate net proceeds to the Company of not less than $75 million

In the event of a change in control of the Company, the Company will be required 1o ofler to
purchase all of the then outslanding Preferred Shares at a price equal 1o 101% of the lquidation
preference thereo!, plus accumulated ar.d unpaid dividends to the date of redemption

Acquisition

On February 4, 1997, the Company completed the acquisition of substantially all of the assets ol
Linkatel Pacific, L.P (Linkatel), a Los Angeles-based compelitive access telecommunications provider.
At the time of acquisition, Linkatel operated an 80 mile fiber optic telecommunications network covering
several markets in the Orange and Los Angeles county areas. The acquired assets consist primarily of
fiber optic network equipment and rights-of-way. The Company plans to expand the network and add
switching facilities in order to provide switched local services during 1997. The total purchase price of
$42.5 million consisted of a cash payment of $36.1 million, the repayment of debt of $5 6 million and the
assumption of net liabilities of $0.8 million
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NEXTLINK Communications, L.L.C. and Subsidiarles

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
December 31, 1996

11. QUARTERLY SUMMARY OF OPERATIONS (Unaudited): (Continued)
Summarized quarterly financial data for 1995 and 1996 is as follows (unaudited, in thousands):

1995 B

T e we am

BEONUIE & s s ssari o v $ 399 $ 1000 $ 2825 S 3,328
Costand expenses .............. 2003 3289 5271 9,451
Loss from operations .. .. ......... (1,604) (2,289) (2,446) (6,123)
Other income, net ............... 43 36 (99) (253)
Netloss ...................... $(1,561) S (2,253) § tz._541} S (6.376)
_wes

W 2nd @ am

ROVBOUE - o i e e e e s $5370 56671 S 6919 $ 6,726
Costand expenses .............. 12041 15415 23,050 26,195
Loss from operations . . . .......... (6.671) (8.744) (16.131) (19,469)
Other income (expense), nel ..... .. (445) (4.973) {7.371) (7.297)
Netloss .......... . ..... $(7.116) S(13.717) $(23,502) $(26.766)

12. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS:

Incorporation

On January 31, 1897, the Company was merged into NEXTLINK Communications, Inc_ (Communi-
cations), a Washington corporation in a tax-free transaction. In the merger, the Company’s Class A
membership interests were converted into shares of Class B common stock of Communications, and
options to purchase Class B membership interests were converted into options to purchase shares of
Class A common stock of Communications. Communications Class A common stock and Class B
common stock will be identical in dividend and liquidation rights, and will vote together as a single class
on all matters, excep! as otherwise required by applicable law, with the Class A shareholders entitled to
casl one vote per share, and the Class B shareholders entitled 1o cast 10 voles per share. In calculating
the number of shares of Communications common stock that each of the Company’s Class A members
received in the merger, the Company applied a formuia that reflected each members' revalued capital
account balance as of January 31, 1997. Class B membership options wure converted on a one 1o one
basis. After the incorporation, Communications had 44,133,600 and 36,685,209 shares of Class B
common stock authorized and outstanding, respectively and 110,334,000 and 0 shares of Class A
common stock authorized and outstanding, respectively with options to purchase 2,060,559 shares of
Class A common slock outstanding. Communications also has 25,000,000 shares of Preferred Shares
authorized, 5,700,000 are outstanding. See below under “Financing.” The amount of Class B common
stock outstanding excludes 1,576,172 shares of Class B common stock issuable upon exercise of an
option granted to Mr. James F. Voelker, the Company's President
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NEXTLINK Communications, L.L.C. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
December 31, 19986

10. MEMBERS' EQUITY: (Continued)

Units are granted in connection with the Company's Amended and Restaled Equity Optio.n Plan (EQP).
Although Class B Units, when exercised, will constitute an ownership interest in the Company, the
interest is limited to the appreciation in the value of the Company, that is the distributable profits interest,
if any, of the Company. On January 31, 1897, the Company merged with and into NEXTLINK Communi-
cations, Inc. (see Note 12),

The valuation of membership units is detenminod by the EOP Administiative Committes. The value
of Clans A Unils as of Decomber 31, 1995 and 1996 was determined to be approximately $3.29 and
$9 .84, respectively, and the appreciation interest per unit for Class B Units was approximately $1.00 and
57.93 as of the same dates.

Recapitalization

Effective January 1, 1996, the Company merged four of its five operaling subsidiaries with newly
formed entities owned by the Company (the Recapitalization). As-a resull of these mergers, the entities
and individuals holding minority interests in the subsidiaries exchanged these interests for 1,695,263
Class A Units of the Company (representing an approximate 5.9% ownership interest in the Company)
which were valued at approximately $5.6 million. NEXTLINK Washington, L.L.C. did not participate in the
merger. The transaction has been accounted for as a purchase of minority interests. Accordingly, the
$2.9 million excess of the purchase price over the book value of the interests acquired was recorded as
qoodwill,

In addition to the exchange ol equity interests, the Company exchanged options 1o acquire equity
interests in the subsidiaries for oplions o acquire Class B Units in the Company. In connection with this
transaction, the Company issued 862,219 options with exercise prices ol $0.02 and four-year vesting
schedules. These oplions had substantially the same economic values and vesting schedules as the
subsidiary options which were exchanged. These options are included in the summary of information
regarding the EOP that follows.

Equity Option Plans

The Company and certain of its subsidiaries provided for grants of equity option interests (EQ
Interests) during 1994 and 1995. The various oplion granls, including those granted pursuant to the
Recapitalization, are considered compensatory and are accounted for similar to stock appreciation
rights. The Company recognizes compensation expense over the vesling period based an the excess of
the fair value of the Class B Units, as determined by the Administrative Committee, over the exorcise
price of the option and such expense is periodically adjusted for changes in the fair value of the Class B
units.

Eftective January 1, 1996, the various option plans mentioned above were replaced by the EOP The
EQP provides for the grant of EO Interests in the Company. Options generally expire 15 years from the
date of grant and vest 25% at the end of each of the next faur years. Previously granted options continue
to vest under their previous schedule which, in most cases, vested 20% at employment and 20% at the
end of each subsequent year.
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NEXTLINK Communications, L.L.C. and Subslidlaries

Notes to Consolidated Financlal Statements (Continued)
December 31, 1996 -

8. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES:

Capitalized leases consist of loases of telecommunications equipment and fiber optic netwarks. The
Company s also leasing premises under various operating leases which, in additionto rental payments,
require paymants for insurance, maintenance, property taxes and other execulory costs related to the
loases. The lease agreements have various expiration dates and renewal options through 2015
pasos and oporating leases and agreements

Future minimum payments required under the capital |
in excess of one year at December 31, 1996

that have an initial or remaining noncancoelable lease term
aro summarized bolow.

Capital Operating

Years ending I.:n:a_i_mbor A, Leases Leases
' "~ {in thousands)

1997 $ 2322 S$2562
1998 230 2,563
1999 2213 2,537
2000 1,921 2,338
2001 285 1,971
TIBEERIEE . . . v sssv e s s biuie s v mi i s bdiim e s snn s 1,376 6.051
Total minimum lease payments . . 10,427
Amounts representing intorest . . . (2,971)
Present value of future minimum lease payments . ........ 7,456
Less amounts due in ONe YBAT . ......uvor e ey (1,199)

5 ﬁ_izﬁz

Total rent expense amounted to $18,000. 579,000 and $2,248,000, in 1954, 1995 and 1996,
respectively.

The Company is obligated under a supply agreement with a telecommunications equipment vendor
to purchase & cerain dollar volume of equipment over the next four years in order 10 obtain specal
pricing. If the Company is unable to meet the required purchase commiment, the Company will be
obligated to pay additional amounts for previous purchases.

9. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLAN:

The Company offers a 401 (k) Plan to eligible employees as part of a 401(k) Plan administered by an
affiliate and Company member. All employees who have worked at least 1,000 hours and have attained
the age of 21 are eligible to participate in the plan. Company contributions 1o the plan totaled $50,000
and $357,000 in 1995 and 1996, respectively.

10. MEMBERS' EQUITY:

Membership Units

The Company's limited liability company agreement provides for both Class A and Class B mem-
bership interests in the Company. Class A Unil holders are entitled 1o a prefetred return on their
investment in the Company plus a return of their capital upon the dissolution of the Company. Class B
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NEXTLINK Communications, L.L.C. and Subslidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financlal Statements (Continued)
December 31, 1996

3. ACQUISITIONS: (Continued)

Those resulls are not nocossarily indicative of the results that actually would have been attained o the
acquisitions had been in effect at the beginning ol 1995 or which may be attained in the Tuture

o Decemvat M.
1995 1996
{unaudited, in
thousandas)
REVENUE '« . s ssemesiansssdnamesssnssss IR, - a1t . $25620 536105
L IO . « o o veisan s aidld s d amslaus e iaTa/i e o Wisidie 4 FLHSmus 0 pimeiee .. $(15,992) S{67.616)
4. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT:
December 31,
1995 1996
(in thousands)
Telecommunicalions networks .. ... ... - oo aeSie 515,358 $66.762
Office equipment, leasehold improvements. furniture and other 3,710 18,097
19,068 a4 859
Less accumulated depreciation . .. ... ..o . g d z (1.125) (8.369)
17,943 76,490
Network construction in progress . . vas 11,721 21.294

29664 £97.784

5. OTHER LONG-TERM ASSETS:

December 31,
1995 19%6
(in thousands)

Financingcosts . ........... e e : -3 $ 9822
Cash held in escrow for acquisitions ....... b 8.682
Equity invesIments . .......ccocsrrnenracncnneos A S e T TPR P 3,853
Advancesto businesstobeacauired . . ........ .. e in e ¥ 1,490
Other NONCUIMBNL BSSBLS . . . v v v v v veuioanmenaassasstasaesens . 250 B854

250 247
Less accumulated amortizalion . .. ... ..o ; ara (728)

$250 $23.973

The Company's equity investments include (i) a 40% investment in Telecommunicatians of Nevada,
L L.C., which oporates a fiber optic telecommunications network serving the Las Vegas markeot and (i) &
$3.2 million investment in convertible preferred stock of Intermind Carporation, representing a 13 6%
voling interest. Intermind markets an interactive communications tool for the World Wide Web and
intranel applicalions,
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NEXTLINK Communications, L.L.C. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financlal Statements (Continued)
December 31, 1996

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES: (Continued)
Pledged Securities

In connection with the sale of Senior Noles (see Note 6), a portion of the net proceeds were uiilized
1o purchase a portfolio consisting of U.S. government securities, which mature al dates sufficien! lo
provide for payment in full of interest on the Senior Notes through April 15, 1999. The pledged securities
are stated at cost, adjusted for premium amortization and accrued interest. The fair value of the pledged
secunties approximates the carrying value,

Froperty and Equipment

Property and equipment are staled al cost. Direct costs of construction are capitalized, including
$853,000 of interes! costs related to construction during 1996. There were no interest costs capitalized
prior to 1996, Depreciation is compuled using the straight-line method over estimated uselul lives
beginning in the month an assel is put into service.

Estimated useful lives of property and equipment are as follows:

Telecommunications swilching and other equipment . . . 5-10 years
Fiberoplicnetwork. . . ........ ..., . 15-20 years
Office equipment, furniture andother . . . . .......... 3-5 years
Leasehold improvements . .. . ... .. .. i ... the lesser of tho

estimated uselul ives or
the terms of the leases

Intangible Assels

Intangible assels primarily represent costs allocated in acquisitions to customer bases and con-
tracts, software and related intellectual property and goodwill. Intangible assets are amortized using the
straight-ine method over the estimaled useful lives of the assets as follows

Customercontracts . ... ......uivivas v ... term of the contracts

Customorbases ................c000. . 5 years

Software and rolated intelleclual propoery h yoars

Goodwill . . ... ... : . 1520 years
Long-Lived Assets

The Company periodically reviews the carrying value of i1s long-lived assets, including propeny,
equipment and intangible assets, whenever events or changes in circumslances indicate that the
carrying value may not be recoverable. To the extent the estimated future cash inflows attributable tc the

asset, less estimated future cash outflows, is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss i3
recagnized.
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NEXTLINK Communications, L.L.C. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidatec Financlal Statements (Continued)
December 31, 1896

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES: (Continued)

Income Taxes

The Company has been organized and operated under a limited liability company agreement
structured in @ manner that is intended to result in the classification of the Company as a parinership for
federal income tax purposes. Accordingly, no provision for income taxes has been made. See Note 12
for discussion regarding the effect of the Incorporation.

Concentration of Credit Risk

The Company is exposed to concentration of credit risk principally from accounts receivable. The
Company had three customers whose revenue each represented approximately 12-14% of the
Company's 1995 revenue and one customer whose revenue represented approximately 23% of the
Company’'s 1996 revenue.

Estimates Used in Financial Statemen! Presentalion

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with generally accepled
accounting principles requires managemeant to make estimates and assumptions that aliect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the
financial statements. Actual results could difer from those estimales.

Reclassificalions

Cenain reclassifications have been made to prior period amounts in order o conform to the current
presentation.

Pro Forma Net Loss Per Share

Pro forma net loss per share has been computed using the number of shares of Common Stock and
Comman Stock equivalents outstanding using the treasury stock method. Pursuant to Securities and
Exchange Commission Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 83, shares issued and stock options granted at
prices below the initial public oHfering price of $17.00 per share during the twelve-month peniod preced-
ing the date of the initial filing of the Registration Statement have been included in the calculation of
common stock equivalent shares, using the treasury stock methaod, as if such shares and oplions were
outstanding for the year ended December 31, 1996,

3. ACQUISITIONS:

In December 1996, the Company acquired ITC, a switched-based long-distance raseller based in
Salt Lake City, Utah. ITC has approximately 9,000 long-distance customers in Utah, Coloradc, Arizona,
New Mexico and Idaho. Consideration for the acquisition of ITC consisted ol a cash payment of $4.0
million, of which $2.6 million was placed into escrow to be paid during 1998, plus the issuance of
397,202 Class A Units of the Company. The Company has granted the seller an option requiring the
Company to repurchase the units at $26.06 per unit beginning three years from the date of the closing of
the acquisition in the event that the Company has nol completed a public offering ol its equily securities
prior to that time. The Company has valued the unils, including the put option, at $4.950,000, or $12 46
per unit.
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NEXTLINK Communications, L.L.C. and Subslidlaries

Notes to Consolidated Financlal Statements
December 31, 1986

1. ORGANIZATION:

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of NEXTLINK Communications, LL.C.,
a Washington limited liability company, and its majority-owned subsidiaries (the Company). The Com-
pany, through predecessor enlities, was formed on September 16, 1994 and, through its subsidiaries,
provides competitive local telecommunications services in selected markets in the United Statos Tho
Company is a majority-owned subsidiary of Eagle River Investments, L.L.C. (Eagle River).

Prior to January 31, 1997, the Compagy was organized and operated under a limited hability
company agreement. The agreement provided, among other things, for specific allocation of net profits
and losses to each member, allocations and distributions to members, and a preferred rotum 1o
members on their respective contributions invested in the Company, as well as a return of their rospoc
tive investments in the Company. On January 31, 1007, NEXTLINK Communications, L.L.C. merged with
and imo NEXTLINK Communications, Inc., a Washington corporation (the Incorporation). See Note 12
for further discussion. Unless otherwise Indicated all information presented herein is presented for
periods prior to the Incorporation, and therefore relate to the ime that the Company was a limited liability

company.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES:

Principles of Consolidation

The Company's consolidated financial statements include 100% of the assels, liabilities and results
of operations of subsidiaries in which the Company has a controlling interest of greater than 50% The
ownership interests of the other members or partners are reflected as minority interests. The Company's
investiments in entities in which it has voling interests of at least 20% bu! not miore than 50% are
accounted for using the equity method and investments in entities in which it has voting interests of not
more than 20% are actounted for using the cost method. All significan! intercompany accounis and
transactions have been eliminated.

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue on lelecommunications and enhanced communicalions ser-
vices in the period that service is provided.

Cash and Cash Equivalgnts

Cash equivalents consist of highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less
at the time of purchase.

Marketable Securities

Marketable securities consist ol U.S. government securities and commercial paper with original
maturities beyond three months, but less than 12 months. Marketable securities are staled at cost,
adjusted for discount accretion and premium amortization. The securities in the Company's portfolio are
classified as "held lo maturity,” as management has the intent and ability to hold those secunties 10
malurity. The fair value of the Company’s markelable securtios approximates the carrying value
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NEXTLINK Communlcations, L.L.C. and Subsldiaries
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

For the Perlod From Inception (September 16, 1994) to December 31, 1994,

and for the Years Ended December 31, 1895 and 1696

(Dollars In thousands)

1994

OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
[P I T, DR I P MO P (O S SR S R SUU I RS

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating
activities:

Deferred compensalion @xXPense . . ... .coo v or oo s —
Equity inloss of affillates . .............coruoeeooennnns -
Depreciation and amortization . . . . . ...oovercccnn s 14
Minority interest in loss of consolidated subsidiaries . . ... .. .. : (3)
Changes in assels and liabilities, net of eftfects from acquisitions:
Accounts receivable . . . . . G T e P S R T ~
Other CUBNL ASSBIS . . . . . o v vvv vt iorarassaaransanaas —
Other loNg-1erM @ssets . . . .. «.ovvvvwnannnre s —_— (79)
Accounts payable . ............. S A
Accrued expenses . . ... ..o o o 21
Accrued interest payable . ........ ..o .
Total adjustments . ........co0cen.- I i, (47)
Net cash used in operating aclivities . . . . . S A (396)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
{140)

Purchase of property and equipment. . . .. e .
Net assets acquired in business and assel acquisitions (460)

Cash placed into escrow for business acquisition

Investments in unconsolidated affiliates . . . . . . L

Purchase of pledged securities . . . ............ .-

Maturity of pledged securities . . .. ............ . ¥
Purchase of marketable securitiesnet .. .............. - =

Net cash used in investing activities. . . ....... {600}

FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds from issuance ol senior notes
Capital contributions . . ........... ;
Proceeds from payable to affiliates .. .. ..
Repayment of payables to affiiates .
Bank overdralt . ... .......... A e
Costs incurred in connection with financing . . . .
Repayment of capital lease obligations . . .

Net cash provided by financing activities . ... .........ooovoe e 1,021

Net increase in cash and cash eguivalents . . . . . ... oo o 25
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period. .. . . .. C

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period . $ 25

SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW DISCLOSURES:
Cash paid for interest, net of amount capitalized .. .......... $ —

1.021

F-16

1695

$(349) $(12,731)

375

3,458
(230)

(2.529)
(638)
(500)

2,163
1,452

3551
(9.180)

(17.778)
(17.639)

(35.417)

37.0m
7,458

1,373

45,922

1,325
e 2
il wd

$ 1350

S 16

1996

$(71,101)

9,914
1,100
10,340
(344)

(1.659)
(42)
(1.430)
993
2,416
9250
30,538
(40.563)

(51,920)
(15,169)
(6,000)
{4,953)
(117.688)
16,431
{47.713)

(227.012)

350,000
9,935
28,766
(33,703)
(1.373)
(9.822)
_71)
343,032
75,457
1.350

s 76,807

$ 20912




NEXTLINK Communications, L.L.C. and Subslidiarles

Consolidated Balance Sheels
December 31, 1995 and 1996
(Dollars In thousands)

ASSETS

Current assols!
Cash and cash equivalents. . ............. R
Markolable securiiés . .. .....cvn v mnen e
Accounts receivable, Nt ... ... ...
B o G e e B T R S e i
Pledged securities . . .. ........ 000 vr i immr e
Total current assets . .. ...................
Pledged securities ......... -
Properly and equipment, not
Goodwill, not . . . A
Othor intangiblo 8ssels, NBL . . . . o v v v v v vvensaroness
Other long-term assets, nol . . ................. .

Tolal assels. . ... . oo o i e e

T R R R I N e

Current liabilities:
Bankoverdraft........... ..o
Accountspayable . ...............

ACCIUBd eXPeNSES . . ..o v eeinn st s va e
Accrued interest payable . .................
Current portion of capital lcase obligations . ... ...
Payable to affiliates ........ T

Total current liabilities . .. ................
Long-term liabilities:
Longtermdebt ........ .0 iiniiiias
Capital lease obligations . ...............
[62](1" 1 (R S = P

Total liabilities . ...........
Commitmenls and contingencies
Minority interests. . . i ciine s s i v ia s s i i
Equity units subject to redemplion (397,202 unils outstanding as of

December:-81, 1086) v oo imijoii e o el aa S a0 a0 e ST R
Members' equity (deflicit) (21,977,941 and 28,154,509 unils oulstanding as of

December 31, 1995 and 1996, respectively) . ............
Total liabilities and members’ equi'y (deficit) . . . ......... ... ..

1995

§ 1,350

J.563
746

5,659
29,664
12.137

5,751

$ 53.461

& 1,373
4,315
1,266

4,937
11,89

1,965
13,856

2.886

36,719
$ 53,461

The accompanying notes are an integial part ol these consolidaled statements
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1996

$ 76,807
47,713
7.008
607
anzro
171,905
61,668
97,764
24110
11,243
23973

390,683

€
18,622
4,112
9.250
1,194
1.500
34,678
350,000

6,262
13,139

«04,079
Jos
4,950

(18,654)
$390.683




NEXTLINK Communloations, Ing,

Notes to Interim Consolidated Financlal Statements (Continued)
(Dollars In thousands, except per share amounls)
(Unaudited)

8. RECLASSIFICATIONS:
Cortain reclassifications have been made to prior period amounts in order 1o conform to the current
presentation.

9. INIT!AL PUBLIC OFFERING:

On July 21, 1997, the Company's Board of Directors authorized management 1o file a registration
statement with the Securities and Exchange Commission to permit the Company 1o sell shares ol its
Class A common stock 1o the public.

On Augusl 27, 1997, the Company offectod a 0.441336-for-1 roverse stock split of the issund and
outstanding shares of Class A and Class B common stock. All common stock, mombaership units, and
per share amounts in the consolidated financial statements included in this Prospecius have been

adjusted retroactively to give effect to the reverse stock split.
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Report of independent public Accountants

To the Members of NEXTLINK Communications, LLC:

We have audited the accompanying consonda\ed palance sheets of NEXTUNK Gommunicmlor\s.
LLC.(a Wwashington [imited liability company) and subsid jaries as ol December 31, 1695 and 1996, and
\he related €O nsolidated statements of operations, changes in members’ equily {deficit) and cash flows
{or the period {rom inception (Septembar 16, 1994) 10 December 31 1994, and for the years ended
December 31, 1995 and 1996. These financial slaternents are the respcnsubihly ol the Company s
managemenl. our respons‘-bility is 1o express an opinion 0N {hese financial glatements pased on our
audits.

We conduclad our audits in accordance with gcneraﬂy accepted auditing standards. Those stan-
dards require that we plan and perform the audit 10 oblain reasonable assurance aboul whether the
financial statements aré {ree of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a8 test basis.
gvidence supporing {he amounts and disclosures in the financial statements An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principlos used and significant eslimates made by management, as well és
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation: Wao boliove that ou audits provido @ reasonable
pasis for our opinion

in our opinion. the financial gtatoments colorred 1o above present tairly, in all matarial respects. the
financial posi'.ion of NE)(TL'.NK Communications. LL.C.and subsidianes av of Decembe! 41, 1995 and
1996, and the results of their operations and their cash llows for the period {rom nceplion (Septem
per 16, 1994) 0 pecember 31, 1994, and for {he years ended December 41,1995 and 1996in conformity
with generally accepted accounting principles:

ARTHUR I\NDERSEM LLP

Seatlle, Washington.
seplember 22, 1997
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NEXTLINK Communicatlons, Inc.

Notes to Interim Consolidated Financlal Statements (Continued)
(Dollars In thousands, except per share amounts)
(Unaudited)

7. STOCK OPTION PLAN: (Continued)

provide services to the Company. The Plan provides for the granting of qualified and non-qualified stock
aptions. All oplions oulstanding under tho Equity Oplion Plan woro regranted under the new Plan with
terms and condilions substantially the same as under the Equity Option Plan, oxcept that uption holdors
will no longer have the option ‘o require the Company ta repurchase units for cash upon exercise of such
units, nor will the Company have the option 1o repurchase exercised units for cash. The Company has
reserved 4,413,360 shares of Class A common stock fot issuance under the Plan The oplions vest
ratably over four years and expire no later than 10 years afler the date of grant, with the exception of
options originally granted under the Equity Option Plan, which expire 15 years after the date of grant.

The exercise price of qualified stock options granted under the Plan may no! be less than the fair
market value of the common shares on the date of grant. The exercise price of non-qualiied stock
options granted under the Plan may be greater or less than the fair market value of the common stock on
the date of grant, as determined by the Board of Directors in its discretion. Stock options granted at
prices below fair marke! value at the date of grant are considered compensatory, and compensation
expense is deferred and recognized ratably over the option vesting period based on the excess of the
fair market value of the stock at the date of grant over the exercise price of the option. In connection with
the regranting of options under the new Plan, the Company reclassified the deferred compensation
liability relating to compensatory options issued under the Equity Option Plan to additional paid-in
capital (included in Class A common stock, stated al amounts paid in). The remaining, unrecognized
compensation expense aftributable to these compensatory options was also recorded as delerred
compensation, a contra-equity balance, and will be recognized over the remaining vesting periods of the
oplions.

During the six months ended June 30, 1997, the Company recorded $223,000 and $892,000 of
delerred compensation expense related to the Stock Option Plan and Equity Option Plan, respectively

Information with respect to the Plan is as follows: Welghted
Shares Subject Average Exercise
_J_EQP','?? Qp_llgn Frl:.n H!ﬂgl Price
Balance, December 31,
1986....... o 2.004 646 $0.02 — 793 50 45
Granted ......... < 1,550,041 57.93 $793
Exercised . .......... {9,102) 5002 s0.02
Canceled ........ : (152,851) $0.02 — 7.93 $0 52
Balance, June 30, 1997 3,382,734 $0.02 — 7.93 $3.77

As of June 30, 1997, there were 923,493 options vested, with a weighted average exercise price of
$0.20. As of June 30, 1997, there were 1,020,626 shares of Class A common stock avalable for future
grants. The Company intends to make the complete annual disclosures required under Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 123, "Stock-Based Compensation,” in its financial statements as of
and for the year ended December 31, 1997.




NEXTLINK Communications, Inc.

Notes to Interim Consolidated Financlal Statements (Contlnued)
(Dollars In thousands, except per share amounts)
{(Unaudited)

4. PREFERRED STOCK:

On January 31, 1997, the Company completed the sale of 5.7 million units consisting of (i) 14%
senlor exchangeable redeemable prelerred shares (Preferred Shares), liquidation preference $50 per
share, and (ii) contingent warrants to acquire in the aggregate 5% of each class of cutstanding junior
shares (as defined) of the Company on a fully diluted basis as of February 1, 1898, which resulted in
gross proceeds to the Co.npany of $285 million, and proceeds net of underwriting discounts, advisary
fees and expenses of $274 million. Dividends on the Preferred Shares will accrue from January 31, 1997
and will be payable quarterly commencing on May 1, 1997 at an annual rate of 14% of the liquidation
preference thereof. Dividends may be paid, at the Company’s oplion, on any dividend payment date
occurring on or prior to February 1, 2002, either in cash or by issuing additional Prelerred Shares with an
aggregate liquidation preference equal to the amount of such dividends. The Company is required 1o
redeem all of the Preferred Shares outstanding on February 1, 2009 at a redemption price equal .2 100%
of the liquidation preference thereol, plus accumulated and unpaid dividends to the date of redemption,

Subject 1o certain conditions, the Preferred Shares are exchangeable in whole, but notin part, at the
option of the Company, on any dividend payment date, lor the 14% senior subordinaled notes (Senior
Subordinated Notes) due February 1, 2009 of the Company. All terms and conditions (other than
interest, ranking and maturity) of the Senior Subordinated Notes would be subslantially the same as
those of the Company’s outstanding 12 1/2% Senior Notes due April 15, 2006.

The contingent warrants are exercisable on any business day after February 1, 1998, il a Qualifying
Event has not occurred on or prior lo February 1, 1998. A Qualifying Event means a pulilic equity offening
(as defined) or one or more strategic equity investments (as defined) which, in ether case, results in
aggregate net proceeds to the Company of not less than $75 million.

5. ACQUISITION:

On February 4, 1997, the Company acquired substantially all of the assets of Linkatel Pacilic, L.P
(Linkatel), a Los Angeles-based compelitive access telecommunications provider, Al the time of the
acquisition, Linkatel operated an 80 mile fiber oplic telecommunications network covering several
markets from the downtown Los Angeles area to ihe city of Irvine in Orange County. As par of the assels
acquired, the Company oblained access to approximately 250 route miles of right-of-way, of which 183
miles have been completed, creating one network in Los Angeles and one network in the Orange County
area. The Company has been providing compelitive access services over these networks since the
acquisition dale and launched switched local and long distance services in July 1997. The total pur-
chase price of $42.5 million consisied of a cash payment of $36.1 million, the repayment of debt of
$5.6 million and the assumption of net liabilities of $0.8 million.

The assets acquired and consideration given were as follows (in thousands):

Falir value of tangible assels and liabilities acquired ... ............ $12,003
Fair value of intangible assets acquired . ... .................... 29,682

*_54_1 ,685
Cash paid for assets, including repayment of debt . . . .......... ... 941,685
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NEXTLINK Communications, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(Dollars In thousands)
(Unaudlted)

OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

Netloss .....cocvinnnnrrncncenrsaasas I P IR

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operaling activibes:

Dolorred componsation @XpPense . . . .. .c.o o v v o e
Equity inlossof affliates . ..........cccoiininnnnernannnnen.
Depreciation and amortization. . . . .. .ocinati i
Minority interests in loss of consofidated subsidiaries . ..............

Changes in assets and liabilities, net of effects from acquisitions:

Accounts roColVEDI® - ... cvcvvssmsvorscrsans i vans e nreesns
Other CUMMBML BBSBLE .+ o 4 v v v v o vem s e s nn s asasmmsmssonsssnennss
Other long-1erm BSOS, . . . . . v v cvvvrannranssoaanareaciansns
Accounts payable . .. ..ot i e i e
ACCrUOd BXPBNSBSE . . o v v v v v o v s s vasssas s st b

Accrued interest payable . . ...

Other long-term habilities . . . .............. R s R

Net cash used in operaling aclivities . ............... e
INVESTING ACTIVITIES:

Purchase of property and equipment . . .. ............ A TP

Net assels acquired in business and asset acquisitions (net of cash
acquired) .......0c0004.

Cash withdrawn from escrow to be used in busmess acquis:t-nn e
Investrnents in unconsolidated alfiliales . . . ........... ... uei.an

Maturity uLFledged BOCUMUBE | . s i e g et o i
Purchase

FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Net proceeds from issuance of redeemable preferred slock . . . ... .. ...
Capilal contributiond .. . v v viivesinainvmns s somsan e s
Proceeds from payableto affiliates . ............... .....c0cuan.
Repayment of payableto affiliate . ............................
Repayment of capilal lease obligalions . ............. ... .. o.vas,
B AR OV i S o 5 s e e e e, b N e e B T 6 e B e R e

Costs increased in connection withfinancing . . . ... ... .............
Proceeds from issuance ol seniornoles. . ... . ... ... oo v v v nnnens

Net cash provided by financing activities . . .. ............c0ovrueann

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents . . ... .. ...................
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning ol period . . . . ..................

Cash and cash equivalents, endofperiod ... .......... ..o eans

SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW DISCLOSURES:
Noncash financing and investing activities:

Class A common slock issued under lease arrangement . ... ... ..uus
Redeemable preferred stock dividends, paid instock ... ............
Accrued cumulative redeemable preferred stock dividends, payable in stock .
Cashpaidforinterest. . . . .......0oiiinn e nnsnsennnss

markelable securities, NBL. . . ... .. .. e
Net cash used in invesling activites . .. ............ R At -

Six Months Ended
June 30,

T 1997

$(20,833) $(50.771)

= 1,115
— 1.015
4,152 8.931
(121) (171)
(3.446)  (2.764)
82 815
{1 ,254) (351)
4,733 (5,333)
2522 1,959
8,021 (365)
(74) 123

ags g
l,'G.2‘IB]- (45,797)

(31,495)  (55,181)
(10,503) 141 ,239)
6.000

(2500)  (4.275)
= 18.049
(117,668)  (26.812)

(162,186) (105,458)

— 274,000
9.921 5

28,766 =

(32.203)

(1.373)
(9.700)
350000 —
345411 273211
177.007 121,956
1,350 76,807

$178,357 $198,763

(TES)

$ — § 1400
s_—_'___ 51_0055
s — $ 6,885

$ l??? 522406

e

See accompanying notes to unaudited interim consolidated financial stalements.
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NEXTLINK Communications, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Operations

(Dollars In thousands, except per share amounts)

{(Unaudlited)
Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30,
- 1996 e 1996 1997
ROVBNUBE . ovaviii nwinis e ssiss s snnsns £ 6671 § 11,601 $1204) § 21,668
Conts and oxpunsos,
Oporaling i ssversvnaaniiie 6,117 12,037 21,941
Selling, general and administrative ........ 6.975 15,829 20,103
Deferred compensation . ............... — 223 1,115
Dapreciation v viie s enais i E e 1,310 3,206 6,054
Amortization. . .. .oiiveeiiieiiiniinaa 1,013 1,318 2,877
Tolal cosls and expenses . . .......... 15415 32,614 61,090
Loss from operations . . ... ...c.ouiuninneas (B,744) (21,013) (39,422)
Interest INCOME ... v v e v e s mmeos i m s ie e 2,857 5,492 10,521
Inlerest @XPeNSe ... ..cvvevneenronsonnas ~(7.802)  (10,802) ~ (22,047)
Loss belore minority interests . . . . .......... (13,789) - (26,423) (50,942)
Minority interests in loss of consolidated
T (a3 T L e e ST S Pl R e . 75 o -
Nt omS: e i e el Ve e e o $(13,717) &  (26,348) S [?Q._??‘l]
Preferred stock dividends and accretion of
preferred stock redemption obligation,
including iSSU@ COSIS . ... ..vvvuinnannsn (10.550) (17,353)
Net loss applicable lo common shares . . ... .. S (36,898) (68.124)
Pro Forma:
Netlosspershare . ......c.ccvvvnevannnn 5 (0.98) (1.80)
Shares used in computation of pro forma net
lOSS PBRIShAre. .. .cvvvcvuvvronnnsass 37,842,613 ;3_3.825.!385

See accompanying noles to unaudited intenim consolidated financial statements.
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Balance ai December 21, 1696

Merger of NEXTUINK
Communicabions,
L.L.C. with and into NEXTUNK

Conversion of Equity Option Pian
into Stock Option Plan. . . .. ...

Compensation aftributable to stock
options vesting .

Issuance of :mn lludt ununr
leasing arrangemeant . . . . . .

Cumulatve redoemable pmlorr-a
slock gvidends . A

Accration of Dfllnrrld ﬂﬂﬂl

Balance at June 30, 1097

NEXTLINK Communications, Inc.
Consolidated Statement of Changes In Shareholders’ Delicit
For the Six Months Ended June 30, 1897

(Dollars in thousands)

(Unaudited)

Cuwan A Comman Class B Commaon Deturred

Srarss  Amount Shares  Amount  Compensstien et
- 5 — .- $§ — !
- — 36,165,259 65527
- 15.363 - (4,234)
A5 = - 223

176,534 1,400 —

/ 'I?'SE.'H $16. 762 26165250 565627 $4011)

Agruroieied

Wamtery
Copial |

$(B4IBY) § 65527 S(18.654)

(65,527)
11139
222
1.400
(16.471) (16971
(382) (1)
(50,771) (50.771)
Z(74.026)

$(152.305) § -

Seo accompanying noles to unaudiled interim consolidated financial statements
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NEXTLINK Communications, Ino.
Consolidated Balance Sheet
(Dollars In thousands, except per share amounts)

ASSETS
Curran! assets.
Cash and cash equivalents . ... ..

Marketable securities . . . ... ..
Accounis receivablo, net . . . .. ...

mmmmq'blenml ncl
Othet assets, net e mmc s e e T B

Tolalassols . .......cc0uuieesas

UIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' DEFICIT
Current Labiibes:
Accounts payable .. ..........

Accrued expenses . . .. . ..
Accrued inlorest payable . .

mrmmwmmliﬁgﬂm .

Payable to aftdate .. ............

Total curtent habiliios
Longlermdedl . ... ......
Capdal lpase ubﬁg&m .....
Delerred curnpanut-un
Other . o

Tolal hablites . . .

Commitments and conbngencies
Minonty interests . . . ... ...

Redeemable preferred stock (par value $0.01 per share, aggregate ligucaton prelerence $301,471,

5,901,706 shates issued and oulstanding)

Class B commaon slock, subject to redemption (par vals.c £0 02 por srare 518 950 sharos ssued and

oulstand:ng) . . ..
Shareholders’ detcil

Class A common slock (par value $0.02 per share, stated al amounts pad n, 110,334,000 shares

(Unaudited)

authorzed, 176,534 shates issued and oulstanding)

Class B common stock (par value $0 02 pes share. staled at amounts pa:d in. 44 133600 shares

authorized, 36,165,259 shares issued and Mslandmg}

Delerred compensation |, . . ..
Accumulated delicit . . ... ... ...

Total shareholders” debeit | . .

Tota! kabdties and shareholders’ deficd

See accompanying notes to unaudited interim consolidated financial statements
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5$158.76)
76,525
8,700
127
40,970

RTATS
41,207
161,250
54.:25‘
11,304
18,345

$614.210

137
291,353

490

16,763

65527
{4,011)
1152,305)

(74,026)
$614.210




Local exchange—A geographic area determined by the appropriale state regulatory authority in
which calls generally are transmitted without toll charges 1o the caliing or called party.

Line—an electrical path between a ILEC central office and a subscriber.

Long distance carriers (interexchange carriers)—Long distance carriers provide sorvices between
local exchanges on an interstate or intrastate basis. A long distance carrier may offor services over s
own or another carrier’s facilities.

Number portability—The ability of an end-user 10 change lncal exchange carriers while retaining the
samo telophone numbar,

POPs (points of presence)—Locations where a long distance carrior has installod ransmission
equipment in a service area that serves as, or relays calls to, & network swilching center of that long
distance carrier.

PUC (public utility commission)—A state regulatory body, established in most states, which regu-
lates utilities, including telephone companies providing intrastate services.

Private line—A dedicated telecommunications connection between end-user locations.

Reciprocal compensation—The compensation paid to and from a new competitive local exchange
carrier and the ILEC for termination of a local call on each other's networks.

Route mile—The number of miles of the telecommunications path in which the Company-owned or
leased fiber optic cables are installed.

Special access services—The lease of private, dedicated telecommunications lines or “ercuits”
along the network of a ILEC or a CAP, which lines or circuits run to or fromthe long distance carrier POPs.
Examples of special access services are telecommunications lines running between POPs of a single
long distance carrier, from one long distance carrier POP to the POP of another long dislance carrier or
from an end-user 10 a long distance carrier POP.

Switch—A device that opens or closes circuils or selects the paths or circuils to be used for
transmission of information. Switching is a process of interconnecling circuits to form a transmission
path between users.

Switched services—Transmission of switched calls through the local switched network
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otherwise prevail in the open markel; and these activities, if commenced, may be discontinued at any time.
These transactions may be effected on the Nasdaq National Market in the over-the-counter market or otherwise.

VALIDITY OF SHARES

The validity of the Class A Common Stock will be passed upon for the Company by Willkie Farr &
Gallagher, New York, New York and for the Underwriters by Sullivan & Cromwell, New York, New York. As to
matters of Washington law, Willkie Farr & Gallagher and Sullivan & Cromwell will rely upon the opinion of Davis
Wright Tremaine LLF, Seattle, Washington.

EXPERTS

The audited financial ..atements included in this Prospectus have been audited by Arthur Andersen LLP,
independent public accountants, as indicated in their reports with respect thereto, and are included herein in
reliance upon the authority of said firm as expgrts in accounting and auditing in giving said reports.

AVAILABLE INFORMATION

The Company has filed with the Commission, Washington, D.C. 20549, a Registration Statement on Form
S-1, Commission File No. 333-32001, under the Securities Act with respect to the shares of Class A Common
Stock offered by the Stock Offering. This Prospectus, which is part of the Registration Statement, does not
contain all of the information set forth in the Registration Statement and the exhibits and schedules therelo.
For further information with respect to the Company and the Class A Common Stock, relerence is made 1o the
Registration Statement and the exhibits and schedules filed therewith. Statements contained in this Prospec-
tus as to the contents of any contract or any other document 1o which reference is made are necessarily
summaries thereof, and in each instance reference is made to the copy of such contract or other document
filed as an exhibit to the Registration Statement, each such statement being qualified in all respects by such
reference.

NEXTLINK is subject to the informational requirements of the Securities Exchange Acl ol 1934 (the
“Exchange Act") and in accordance therewith files reports and other information with the Commission
Copies of the Registration Statement, periodic reports and other information filed by the Company with the
Commission may be inspected at prescribed rales al the public reference facilities maintained by the Com-
mission at Room 1024, 450 Fifth Street, N.W., Washington, D.C 20549, or at its regional offices located at
Northwestern Atrium Center, 500 West Madison Streel, Suite 1400, Chicago, lllinois 60661 and Seven World
Trade Center, Suite 1300, New York, New York 10048. In addition, the Commission maintains a websile that
contains periodic reports and other information filed by the Company via the Commission’s Electronic Data
Gathering and Retrieval System (EDGAR). This website can be accessed al www.sec.gov. Copies of such
material can be also be obtained from the Company upon request by contacting the Company at its principal
executive office.

The Company intends to furnish its shareholders with annual reports containing linancial statements
audited by an independent public accounting firm and quarterly reports for the first three quarters of each
tiscal year containing unaudited intesim financial information.
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directly or indirectly, or announce an offering of, any shares of Class A Common Stock or any securities
convertible into, or exchangeable for, shares of Class A Common Stock for a period of 180 days from the cate
of this Prospectus, without the prior written consent of Salomon Brothers Inc, excepl (a) in the casa of the
Company, (i) grants of options and issuances and sales of Class A Common Stock issued pursuant to any
employee or director stock option plan, stock ownership plan or stock purchase plan in effect on the date of
the Underwriting Agreement, () Issuances ol Class A Common Stock upon the conversion ol securities or the
axercise of warrants outstanding on the date of the Underwriting Agreement, {iii) issuance of Class B Common
Stock upon exercise of options outstanding on the date of the Underwriting Agreement, (iv) issuance of
Common Stock pursuant to agreements in effect on the date of the Underwriting Agreement, (which issu-
ances will not involve the issuance of a material amount of shares Common Stock) or (v) issuance of Common
Stock in connection with acquisitions; provided that the recipients of such shares of Common Stock agree in
writing with Salomon Brothers Inc to be bound by the unexpired term of this agreement not 1o sell; and (b} in
the case of directors, executive officers and stockholders of the Company (including the Seling Shareholder),
shares of Class A Common Stock disposed of as bona fide gifts or pledges where the recipients of such Qifts
of the pledgees, as the case may be, agree in writing with Salomon Brothers Inc to be bound by the terms of

such agreement.

The Representatives have informed the Company that they do nol expect sales 10 accounts over which
they exercise discretionary authority to exceed five percent of the total number of shares of Class A Commaon
Stock sold in the Stock Offering.

At the request of the Company, the Underwriters have reserved up to 1,980,000 shares of Class A
Common Stock for sale at the initial public offering price to certain officers, directors, employees and other
persons designated by the Company. The number of shares of Class A Common Stock available for sale to
the general public will be reduced to the extent such persons purchase such reserved shares. Any reserved
shares not so purchased will be offered by the Underwriters 1o the general public on the same basis as the
other shares offered hereby.

Prior to the Stock Offering. there has been no public market for the Class A Comman Stock. The initial
public offering price was negotiated among the Company, the Selling Shareholder and the Representatives
Among the factors considered in determining the initial public offering price of the Class A Common Stock, in
addition 1o prevailing market conditions, was the Company’s histoncal performance, estimates ol the busi-
ness potential and earnings prospects of the Company, an assessment of the Company's management and
the consideration of the above factors in relation to market valuation of companies in related businesses.
There can be no assurance that the price at which shares of Class A Common Stock will sell in the public
market after the Stock Offering will not be lower than the price at which they are sold in the Stock Offering by
the Underwriters.

The Class A Common Stock has been qualified for inclusion in the Nasdag National Market under the
symbol "NXLK."

In connection with the Stock Offering, the Underwriters may purchase and sell the Class A Common Stock
in the open market in accordance with Regulation M under the Exchange Act. These transaclions may include
over-allotment and stabilizing transactions and purchase to cover syndicale shon positions created in connec-
tion with the Stock Offering. Stabilizing transactions consist of certain bids or purchases for the purpose of
preventing or retarding a decline in the market price of the Class A Common Stock: and syndicate shor
positions involve the sale by the Underwriters of a greater number of shares of Class A Common Stock than they
are required 1o purchase from the Company in the Stock Ofering. The Underwritors also may impose a penalty
bid, whereby selling concessions allowed to syndicate members or other broker-dealers in respect ol the
securities sold in the Stock Offering for their account may be reclaimed by the syndicate if such securilies are
repurchased by the syndicate in stabilizing or covering transactions. These activitics may stabilize, maintain or
otherwise affect the market price of the Class A Common Stock, which may be higher than the price that mught
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SHARES ELIGIBLE FOR FUTURE SALE

On a pro forma basis for the Stock Offering, as of September 18, 1997, the Company had outstand-
ing 15,992,174 shares of Class A Common Stock, excluding options to purchase 3,367,216 shares of
Class A Common Stock which have been granted under the Plan, 436,643 of which are fully vested, but
have not been exercised. Of these shares, the 15,200,000 shares of Class A Common Stock sold in the
Stock Offering will be freely tradable without restriction or further registration under the Securities Act,
except for any Shares purchased by an Affiliate of the Company, which will be subject 1o the imitations of
Rule 144 (“Rule 144") under the Securities Act.

In general, under Rule 144 as currently in effect, a person (or persons whose shares are aggre-
gated) who has beneficially owned his or her restricted securities (as thatterm is defined in Rule 144) for
al least one year from the date such securities were acquired from the Company or on affiliate of the
Company would be entitled to sell within any three-month period a number of shares that does not
exceed the greater of () one percent of the then outstanding shares of the Common Stock and (i) the
average weekly trading volume of the common stock during the four calendar weeks preceding a sale by
such person. Sales under Rule 144 are also subject 1o certain manner-ol-sale provisions, nolice require-
ments and the availability of current public information about the Company. Under Rule 144, however, a
person who has held shares for a minimum of two years from the later of the date such securities were
acquired from the Company or an affiliate of the Company and who is not, and for the three months prior
to the sale of such shares has not been, an affiliate of the Company, is free to sell such shares without
regard to the volume, manner-of-sale and certain other limitations contained in Rule 144.

The Company has filed a registraticn statement on Form S-8 (File No. 333.25907) to register
4.413,360 shares of Class A Common Stock reserved for ‘issuance or sale under the Plan. As of
September 19, 1997, there were outstanding options to purchase a total of 3,367,216 shares of Class A
Common Stock of which 436,643 shares of Class A Common Stock were subject to vested options All
such shares of Class A Common Stock issuable upon the exercise of options under the Plan are frecly
tradable without restriction under the Securities Act, unless such shares are held by an Aftiliate al the
Company.

The Company, its directors and its executive officers, who hold, as ol September 19, 1997 and alter
giving pro forma effect to the Selling Shareholder's conversion of Class B Common Stock Lo Class A
Common Stock. in the aggregate 516,686 shares of Class A Common Stock (or currently exercisable
options to purchase Class A Common Stock) and 31,005,864 shares of Class B Comman Stock (or
currently exercisable options to purchase Class B Common Stock), have agreed not 10 ofter, sell or
contract to sell, or otherwise dispose of, directly or indirectly, or announce an oftering of. any shares of
Class A Common Stock or any securities convertible into, or exchangeable for, shares ol Class A
Common Stock for a period of 180 days from the date of this Prospectus, without the prior writien
consent of Salomon Brothers Inc, except under limited circumslances,

In addition, the Company has granted certain holders of its capital stock rights 1o require the
registration for sale of such capital stock under the Securities Act. See “Doscription of Capital Stock
Registration Rights.”

Prior 1o the Stock Offering, there has been no established market for the Common Stock and no
predictions can be made about the effect, if any, that market sales of shares of Class A Common Stock or
the availability of such shares for sale will have on the market price prevailing from time to lime
Nevertheless, the actual sale of, of the perceived potential for the sale of, Class A Comman Stock in the
public market may have an adverse effect on the market price for the Class A Commaon Stock.
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interest thereon, it any, 1o the dale of redemption, provided that at least $266.7 million of aggregate
principal amount of New Notes remains outstanding immediately after such redemption. Except In
connection with a Change of Control (¢s defined in the New Indenture) of the Company, the Company is
not required to make mandatory redemption or sinking fund payments with respect to the New Notes.

Covenants. The New Indenture restricts, among other things, the Company’s ability to incur
additional indebtedness, pay dividends or make certain other restricted payments, incur certain liens to
secure pari passu or subordinated indebtedness, engage in any sale and leaseback transaction, sell
assign, transfer, lease, convey or otherwise dispose of substantially all of the assets of the Company,
ontor into cortaln transactions with affiliates, or incur indebtedness that is subordinate in right of payment
1o any senlor indeblodness and senior in right of paymont to the Now Notos Tho Now Indenturo pormits,
under certain circumstances, the Company's subsidiaries lo be deemed unrestricted subsidiaries and

thus not subject to the restrictions of the indenture.

Events of Defaull, ‘The New Indenture contains standard events of dofault, Including () defaults In
the payment of principal, premium or interest, (i) defaults in the compliance with covenants contained in
the indenture, (iii) cross defaults on more than $10 million of other indebtedness, (iv) failure to pay more
than $10 million of judgments and (v) certain events of its subsidiaries

Description of the 122% Notes

General. The Company and NEXTLINK Capital, Inc., a ‘Washington corporation and a wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company (“Capital” and, together with the Company, the “Issuers”) issued
$350 million of 12'%% Senior Notes Due April 15, 2006 pursuant to an Indenture among the Company,
Capital and United States Trust Company of New York, as trustee (the “Trustee”). On September 6,
1996, the Company consummated an offer (the “Exchange Offer”) to exchange such notes for $350
million of 12%% Senior Notes Due April 15, 2006 that had been registered under the Secuiities Act

Principal, Maturity and Interest. The 12'% Noles are limited in aggregate principal amount to
£350 million and will mature on April 15, 2006. Interes! on the 12:% Notes accrues al 12'4% per annum
and is payable semiannually in arrears on April 15 and Oclober 15 of each year. Interest is computed on
the basis of a 360-day year comprised of twelve 30-day months. Al the closing of the offering, the
Company used $117.7 million of the net proceeds of the offering of the 12':% Notes to purchase a
portiolio of securities, initially consisting of U.S. government securilies (including any securities substi-
tuted in respect thereol, the “Pledged Securities”), to pledge as security for payment of interest on the
12'%:% Notes through April 15, 1999 and, under cerlain circumstances, as security for repayment of the
principal of the 12'4% Noles. Proceeds from the Pledged Securities may be used by the Company to
make interest payments on the 12%% Notes through April 15, 1999. The Pledged Securities are being
held by the Trustee pending disbursement,

Ranking. The 12'4% Notes are unsecured senior obligations of the Issuers, will rank pari passu in
right of payment with all existing and future senior obligations of the Issuers, including the New Notes,
and will rank senior in right of payment to all fulure subordinated obligations of the Issuers.

Redemption. The 12%% Notes are not redeemable al the Company's option prior 10 April 15,
2001. Thereaftor, the 12'%4% Notes are subject lo redemption at the option of the Company, in whole or in
part, at the redemption prices (expressed as percentages of principal amount) set forth below plus
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accrued and unpaid interest thereon to the applicable redemption date, it redeemed during the twelve-
month period beginning on April 15 of the years indicated below:

Y._-r Percentage

QOO o ves o nmmes bossdls s ainsessineasssnssssssisesaus eioees 106.250%
10"+ - L R I 104.167%
1 T T e e L R R 102.083%
2004 and ther@afler . .. .....c.ovovrenrranssasrssssrssnesaasaas 100.000%

In addition, at any time on or before March 15, 1999, the Company may redeem up to 33 1/3% of the
original aggregate principal amount of the 12'4% Notes with the net proceeds of a sale of common
equity at a redemption price equalto 1 12.50% of the principal amount thereof, plus accrued and unpaid
interest thereon, if any, to the date of redemption, provided that at least $175 million of aggregate
principal amount of 12%% Notes remains outstanding immediately aler such redemption. Except in
connection with a Change of Control (as defined in the indenture relating to the 12%% Noles) of the
Company, the Issuers are not required 1o make mandatory redemption or sinking fund paymants with
respect to the 12%% Notes.

Covenants. The indenture relating to the 12'%% Notes restricts, among other things, the Com-
pany's ability to incur additional indebtedness, pay dividends or make certain other restricted payments,
incur certain liens 1o secure pari passu or subordinated indebtedness, engage in any sale and leaseback
transaction, sell assign, transfer, lease, convey of otherwise dispose of substantially all of the assets of
the Company, enter into certain transactions with affiliates, or incur indoblednoss that is subordinate in
right of payment to any senior indebtedness and senior in right of payment to the 12'4% Notes. The
indenture relating to the 12'4% Notes permits, under certain circumstances, the Company's subsidiaries
to be deemed unrestricted subsidiaries and thus not subject to the restrictions of the indenture.

Events of Default. The indenture relating to the 12'% Notes contains standard events ol default,
including (i) defaults in the payment of principal, premium or interest, (ii) defaults in the compliance with
covenants contained in the indenture, (iii) cross defaults on more than $10 million of other indebledness,
(iv) failure to pay more than $10 million of judgments and (v) certain evenls of its subsidiaries
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securities. The Sellers' redemption rights terminate if during the three year period commencing upon the
180th day after the date of this Prospectus, the average daily closing price of the Class A Common Stock
during any consecutive 60 trading day period is greater than $19.92. The Sellers agreed, in connection
with an initial public offering of any class of equity security of the Company or any of its affiliates, that they
will not sell or otherwise transfer Common Stock for a period equal to (hat agreed by the officers or
directors of the Company that are not affiliated with Eagle River.

Pursuant to the terms of the Merger Agreement, dated as of July 28, 1997 (the “Chadwick Agree-
ment") between the Company and R. Chadwick Paul, Jr. and John G. Englesson (the “Chadwick
Shareholders"), the Company granted the Chadwick Shareholders certain registration rights with
respect 1o shares of Class A Comman Stock to be issued to the Chadwick Shareholders as partial
consideration for the merger of Chadwick into a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. The Chad-
wick Agreement provides that the Chadwick Shareholders will have unlimited “piggyback” registration
rights with respect to any registration statement the Company proposes 1o file with the Commission to
register any of its Class A Common Stock, subject, for a period of one year after the Closing Date (as
defined therein), to certain reductions in the case of an underwritten offering to the extent the managing
underwriter determines that inclusion of all or a portion of the shares 1o be included in such registration
would adversely affect the marketability of the offering of the securities 1o be sold by the Company. If the
Company has included shares in a registration statement pursuant to the Chadwick Shareholders’
“piggyback" registration rights, the Company may not file or cause to be effected any other regist-ation
of any equity securities or securities convertible into equity securities until a period of 120 days has
elapsed from the date of effectiveness of such previous registration. The Company also agreed not to
effect any public sale or distribution of its equity securities or securities convertible into or exchangeable
or exercisable for such securities during the seven days prior 1o and during the 90 day period beginning
on the effective date of any registration statement effected pursuant to the Chadwick Shareholders’
“piggyback” registration rights. Subject to minimum size requirements, the Ciiadwick Shareholders
have agreed that in connection with any underwritten public offering of the Common Stock ihey will not
effect any public sale or distribution of their shares except in connection with a “piggyback” registration
for a period of time requested by the managing underwriter, not to exceed 180 days. The Company has
agreed to bear and pay all expenses incurred in connection with any registration, filing or qualification
with respect to a "piggyback” registration.

Director and Officer Indemnification

The Washington Business Corporation Act provides that a Washington corporation may inciude
provisions in its articles of incorporation relieving each of its directors of monatary liability arising out of
his or her conduct as a director for breach of his or her fiduciary duty except liability for (1) acls or
omissions of a director that involve intentional misconduct or a knowing violation of law, (1) conductin
violation of Section 238.08.310 of the Washington Business Corporation Act (which section relates 10
unlawlul distributions) or (i) any transaction from which a director personally received a beneft in
money, property or services to which the director was not legally entitled. The Company's Anticles
include such provisions.

The Company's Articles and Bylaws provide that the Company shall, to the ful'2st extent permitted
by the Washington Business Corporation Aci, as amended from time to time, indemnify and advance
expenses to each of its currently acting and former directors and officers, and may so indemnify and
advance expenses to each of its current and former employees and agents. The Company believes the
foregoing provisions are necessary to attract and retain Gualified persons as directors and officers

Provisions Afiecting Acqulsitions and Business Combinations

The Washington Business Corporation Act, Section 23B.19 of the Revised Code of Washington,
prohibits a “target corporation,” with certain exceplions, from engaging in certain “significant business
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Tho 14% Preferred Shares will, with respect to dividend rights and rights on liquidation, winding-up
and dissolution, rank (i) senior to each other class of capital stock, Iincluding tho Common Stock, the
terms of which do not expressly provide that it ranks senior 1o, or on a parity with, the 14% Preferred
Shares as to dividend rights and rights on liquidation, winding-up and dissolution of the Company
(collectively referred to as “Junior Shares”); (ii) subjoct to certain conditions, on a parity with each other
class of preferred stock established hereafter by the Company the terms of which expressly provide that
such class or series will rank on a parity with the 14% Prelerred Shares as to dividend rights and rights on
liquidation, winding-up and dissoiution (collectively referred 1o as “Parity Shares”), and (1) subject to
certain conditions, junior to each class of preforrod stock established atter the date hereol by the
Company the lorms of which expressly provide that such class or series will rank senior to the 14%
Proferred Shares as 1o dividend rights and rights upon liquidation, winding-up and dissolution of the
Company (collectively referred to as the “Senior Shares”). The Company may not authorize any new
class of Senior Shares without the approval of the holders of at least two-thirds of the 14% Prelerred
Shares then outstanding, voting or consenting as a separate class. In addition, the Company may riot
authorize or issue any Parity Shares (other than additional 14% Preferred Shares issued as dividends on
the 14% Preferred Shares) without the approval of the holders of at least a majority of the 14% Preferred
Shares then outstanding, voting or consenting as a separate class, if after giving effect to the issuance of
such Parity Shares the aggregate liquidation preference of outstanding Parity Shares (other than the
14% Preferred Shares (including additional Preferred Shares issued as dividends on the 14% Preferred
Shares)) would exceed the sum of (x) $50 million and (y) the aggregate amount of gross proceeds
received after the Issue Date and on or prior to the date of issuance of such Parity Shares from the
issuance of Junior Shares which are not redeemable on or prior 1o February 1, 2009, with certain

exceptions.

Holders of the outstanding 14% Prelerred Shares will be entitled to receive, when, as and if declared
by the Board of Directors of the Company, out of funds legally available therelor, dividends on the 14%
Preferred Shares al a rale per annum equal to 14% of the liquidation preference per 14% Preferred

Share, payable quarterly.

No dividends may be paid or set apan for the payment on Junior Shares (except dividends on
Junior Shares payable in additional Junior Shares) if full cumuiative dividends have not been paid in full
(or deemed paid) on the 14% Preferred Shares. So long as any 14% Preferred Shares are outstanding,
the Company shall not make any payment on account of, or ot aparn for payment money for a sinking or
other similar fund for, the purchase, redemplion or other retirement of, any Parity Shares or Junior
Shares, of any warrants, rights, calls or options to purchase any Parity Shares or Junior Shares, and shall
not permit any corporalion or other entity directly or indirectly controlied by the Company ta purchase or
redeem any Parity Shares or Junior Shares or any such warrants, rignts, calls or options, unless full
cumulative dividends determined in accordance herewith on the 14% Preferred Shares have been paid
{or are deemed paid) in {ull.

The Cerlificale of Designations restricts the Company's ability to incur certain additional
indebledness.

Registration Rights Agreements

Each share of the Company’s Class B Common Stock is convertible at the option of the holder
thereol, at any time, into one share of Class A Common Stock. The Company and the current holders of
the Company’s Class B Common Stock and the holders of options to purchase Class B Commun S1oca
have entered inlo a Registration Rights Agreement (the “Company Registration Fights Agreement”),
which, amang other things, will provide that at any time after a Qualifying IPO (as defined) and upon the
toquont of holders of at least 4% of the outstanding Class B Common Stock that is subject 1o the
Company Registration Rights Agreement, the Company will register under the Securities Act any of the
shares of Class A Common Stock currently held by, or 1o be acquired in the future by, such holders, for
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sale in accordance with such holders’ intended method of disposition theseof (a “Demand Registra-
tion"). The holders of the Class B Common Stock will have the right to request two Demand Registra-
tions. The holders of the Class B Common Stock also will have the right, at any time after the Qualitying
IPO. to include the shares of Class A Common Stock held by them in certain other registrations of
common equity securities of the Company initiated by the Company on its own behalf or on behalf of its
shareholders. The holders' rights under the Company Registration Rights Agreement aia not transfera-
ble. In addition, the holders of Class B Common Stock and options to purchase Class B Common Stock
have agreed lo pay their pro rata share of all costs and expenses incurred in connection with each
registration of their respective shares of Class A Common Stock. For purposes of the Company Registra-
tion Rights Agreement, “Qualitying IPO™ means a public offering of Class A Common Stock that results
in net proceeds to the Company of not less than $75,000,000 or such lesser amount as the Board of
Directors of the Company may, 'n their discretion, determine to be adequate to commence the rights of
the holders under the Company Registration Rights Agreement.

Pursuant to the terms of the Stock Purchase Agreement dated as of June 6, 1997 (the "Comdisco
Agreement”) between the Company and Comdisco, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“Comdisco”), the
Company granted Comdisco certain registration rights with respect to shares of Class A Common Stock
issuable 1o Comdisco from time to time in consideration of certain services provided by Comdisco
pursuant to a Master Services Agreement dated June 6, 1997 (the "Master Services Agreement”). The
Comdisco Agreement provides that Comdisco has unlimited "piggyback” registration rights with
respect to any registration statement the Company proposes to file with the Commission to register any
of its Common Stock, subject to certain reductions in the case of an underwritten offering 1o the extent
the managing underwriter determines that inclusion of all or a portion of the shares to be Included in
such registration would adversely affect the marketability of the offering of the securities to be sold by the
Company. If the Company has included shares in a registration statement pursuant to Comdisco’s
“piggyback" registration rights, the Company may not file or cause 1o be effected any other registration
of any equity securities or securities convertible into equity securities until a period of 120 days has
elapsed from the date of effectiveness of such previous registration. Subject 16 minimum size require-
ments, Comdisco has agreed that in connection with any underwritten public offering of the Common
Stock, it will not effect any public sale or distribution of its shares except In connection with a "piggy-
back" registration for a period of ime requested by the managing underwriter, not 1o exceed 180 days.
The Company has agreed to bear and pay all expenses incurred in connection with any registration,
filing or qualification with respect 1o a "piggyback’ registration.

The Comdisco Agreement also provides that, commencing on June 6, 2000, Comdisco has the
option to require redemption of all, but not less than all, of the initial 176,534 shares issued 1o Comdisco
pursuant to the Master Services Agreement at a purchase price ol $26.06 per share, by giving notice 1o
the Company within 180 days, subject to the right of the Company to suspend such right if redemption of
such shares would violate any law applicable to the Company or cause any breach by the Company of
any material contractual obligations in effect as of the date of the Comdisco Agreement. The expiration
of such rights shall be extended for the peiiod of time equal to the period of any such suspension.
Comdisco's redemplion right terminates upon the closing of a sale to the public of any class of equity
security issued by the Company and will therefore terminate upon the consummation of the Stock
Oftfering.

In connection with the acquisition of ITC, pursuant 1o the terms of the Stock Purchase Agreement
dated December 1, 1996, as amended on July 15, 1997 (the "ITC Agreement”), between the Company
and the several seillers named therein (the "Sellers"), the Company has granted to the Sellers cenain
optional redemption rights with respect to 519,850 shares of Class B Common Stock, or any shares of
Class A Common Stock into which the Sellers' Class B Common Stock may be converied, for a
consideration of $19.92 per share. The Sellers' redemption rights shall be suspended for a period of not
more than 180 days upon written notice by the Company of its intent 1o register any class of equity
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DESCRIPTION OF CAPITAL STOCK

The authorized capital stock of the Company consists of: (i) 154,467,600 shares of commcn stock,
$.02 par value per share, which is divided into two classes, consisting of 110,334,000 shares of Class A
Common Stock (199,495 shares outstanding as of August 1, 1897) and 44,133,600 shares of Class B
Common Stock (36,685,209 shares outstanding as of August 1, 1897) (together, the “Common Stock™);
and (ii) 25,000,000 shares of preferred stock, $.01 par value per share (the “Serial Preferred Stock”), of
which 6,108,254 14% Senior Redeemable Preferred Shares, par valu2 $.01 per share (the "14% Pre-
ferred Shares"), are issued and outstanding at August 1, 1897.

The following summary of the Company's capital stock does not purport to be complete and is
qualified in its entirety by reference to the Certificate of Incorporation and By-laws of the Company arid
the Certificate of Designations of rights and preferences relating to the 14% Senior Redeemable Pre-
ferred Shares ("Certificate of Designations") that are included as exhibits to the Registration Statement
of which this Prospectus forms a part, and the applicable provisions of the Washington Business
Corporation Act.

Common Stock

Except as outlined below, the Class A Common Stock and Class B Common Stock are identical in
all respects. Each share of Class B Common Stock may be converted, at any time and at the option of
the holder thereof, into one share of Class A Common Stock. The Class A Common Stock and the
Class B Common Stock are entitled to vote on all matters which come before the shareholdors, volng
together as a single class. Each share of Class A Common Stock has one (1) vote and each share of
Class B Common Stock has ten (10) votes on all matters on which ho'ders of Common Stock are entitled
to vote. Accordingly, holders of a majority of the shares of Class B Common Stock entitied 1o vote in any
election of directors may elect all of the directors standing for election unless a Voting Rights Triggering
Evenl has occurred. The Board of Directors and the holders of Common Stock of the Company have
approved an amendment o the Articles of Incorporation, which provides that the Board of Directors shall
have the sole discrelion to require the conversion of any shares of Class B Common Stock to Class A
Common Stock in connection with any transfer, or upen presentment to the Company for transfer, of
such Class B Common Stock, by contract, operation of law or otherwise. Holders of Common Stock are
entitied to receive ratably such dividends, if any, as may be declared by the Board of Directors out of
funds legally available therefor, subject to any preferential dividend rights of outstanding Serial Preferred
Stock. Upon the liquidauon, dissolution or winding-up of the Company, the holders of Common Slock
are entitled to receive ratably the net assets of the Company available after the payment of all debls and
other liabilities and subject to the prior rights of any outstanding Serial Preferred Stock. Holders of
Common Stock have ne preemptive, subscription or redemption rights. All the outstanding shares of
Common Stock are fully paid and nonassessable. The rignts, preferences and privileges of holders of
Common Stock are subject 1o, and may be adversely affected by, the rights of the holders of shares of
any series of Serial Preferred Stock (including the 14% Prelerred Shares) that the Company may
designate and issue in the future.

Preferred Stock

Under the terms of the Company's Arucles of Incorporation (the “Articles”), the Board of Directors of
the Company is authorized 1o issue the remaining shares ol Serial Preferred Stock in one or more series
without shareholder approval, subject to any limitations prescribed by law and those contained in the
Certificate of Designations. Each series of Serial Preferred Stock shall have such rights. preforoncos,
privileges and restrictions, including voting rights, dividond rights, conversion rights, redemption privi-
leges and liquidation privileges, as shall bo determined by the Board of Directors.

The purpose of authorizing the Board of Directors to issue Serial Preferred Stock and determine its
rights and preferences is o eliminate delays associated with a shareholder vote on specilic issuances.
The issuance of Serial Preferred Stock, while providing desirable flexibility in connaction with possible
acquisitions and other corporate purposes, could have the effect of making it more difficult for a third
party to acquire, or of discouraging a third party from acquiring, a majority of the oulstanding voting
stock of the Company.




Company Registration Rights Agreement, the Company will register under the Securities Act any of the
shares of Class A Common Stock currently held by, or to be acquired in the future by, such holders, for
sale in accordance with such holders' intended method of disposition thereof (a “Demand Registra-
tion™). The holders of the Class B Common Stock will have the right to request two Demand Registra-
tions. The holders of the Class B Common Stock also will have the right, at any time after the Qualifying
IPO, to include the shares of Class A Common Stock held by them in certain other registrations of
common equity securities of the Company initiated by the Company on its own behalf or on behalf of its
shareholders. The holders' rights under the Company Registration Rights Agreement are not transfera-
ble. In addition, the holders of Class B Common Stock and options to purchase Class B Common Stock
have agreed to pay their pro rata share of all costs and expenses incurred in connection with each
registration of their respective shares of Class A Common Stock. For purposes of the Company Registra-
tion Rights Agreement, “Qualifyi.ig IPO" means a public offering of Class A Common Stock that results
in net proceeds to the Company of not less than $75,000,000 or such lesser amount as the Board of
Directors of the Company may, in their discretion, determine lo be adequate to commence the rights of
the holders under the Company Registration Rights Agreement.

In June 1997, the Company Issued options to purchase 441,336 shares of Class A Common Stoc!
to each of Wayne M. Perry and Steven W. Hooper. The options vest 25% at the end of each of the four
years after grant, and were issued with exercise prices of $7.93 per share. None of such options are
currently exercisable.

On August 26, 1997, the Company agreed to lend to James F. Voelker, President of the Company,
R. Bruce Easler, Jr., Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary of the Company, Gary Rawding,
President of NEXTLINK Pennsylvania, L.P, and Don Hillenmeyer, President of NEXTLINK Tennessee,
L.L.C., up to $2.2 million, $78,000, $85,000 and $100,000, respectivaly, in connection with the payment
of income taxes incurred upon the exercise of stock options. These loans (i) bear interest a! a fixed rate of
7.70%, (i) will be secured by shares of Class A Common Stock with a market value equal to 2.£ times the
amount of the loan and (ili) require payment of principal anu accrued interest on February 26, 1999,

In September 1997, the Company agreed to issue oplions to purchase 22,067 shares of Class A
Common Stock to each of Sharon L. Nelson and Jeffrey 5. Raikes upon their joining the Board of
Directors of the Company. The options vest 25% at the end of each of the four years after grant, and were
issued with exercise prices of $7.93 per share. None of such options are currently exercisable




options may be transferred 1o a revocable trust established by tho optionee for his or her descendants,
to an immediate family member, or to a partnership in which only immediate family members or such
estate-planning trusts are partners. Options shall not be subject to execution, attachment, or similar
process. Upon any attempt to transfer, assign, pledge, hypothecate, or otherwise dispose of any option
under the Plan, or any rights or privilege conferred by the Plan, contrary to the provisions of the Plan, or
upon the sale or levy or any attachment or similar process upon the rights and privileges conferred by
the Plan, such option shall thereupon terminate and become void, No person may create a lien on any
funds, securities, or ather property held under the Plan.

Options granted under the Plan shall generally expire on the earlier of the following two events: (i)
the date of expiration expressed in the individual option agreement, or (i) three months after termination
of employment (unless the termination is for cause, in which case the option shall immediately expire).
Special rules apply in the event of an optionee’s death or disability. In addition, options shall terminate if
the shareholders of the Company receive cash, stock, or other property in exchange for or in connection
with their shares of Class A Common Stock as a result of a merger, consalidation, acquisition of property
or stock, separation, reorganization, or liquidation of the Company (other than a mere reincorporation,
creation of a holding company, or merger in which the Company's shareholders receive a correspond-
ing number of shares of Class A Common Stock in the survivor corporation). Prior o such an event, the
optionee shall have the right to exercise his or her option, in whole or in par, to the exient vested.
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CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

From the Inception of NEXTLINK through the end of 1995, NEXTLINK's capital and operational
funding was provided on an as needed basis, primarly by Eagle River. During this perod, under
NEXTLINK's limited liability company agreement, one equity unit was issued lor each dollar in cash or
assels contributed to NEXTLINK. The equity ownership units issued from time to time during the course
ol this period thus reflect this one dollar to one equity unit equivalency. As of June 30, 1997, Eagle River
had conltributed approximately $53.9 million to NEXTLINK and had received approximately 23.8 million
Class A Units In NEXTLINK Comimunications, L.L.C., which were converted to approximately 31.9 million
shares of the Company's Class B Common Stock on January 31, 1997, including cenain issuances
described below.

On September 15, 1994, NEXTLINK lent $100,000 to Gary A. Rawding, President ol NEXTLINK
Pennsylvania, L.P This loan is unsecured and js due September 15, 2004, or upon the sale of more than
one-hall of his interest in NEXTLINK Pennsylvania, L.P. This loan bears interest at the prime rate and
requires annual inierest payments on September 15

On August 18, 1995, NEXTLINK lent $83,141 to James F. Voelker, NEXTLINK's President, in connec-
tion with his relocation to Washington. This loan boears interes! al the prime rate and principal and interest
are due on the earlier of December 31, 1998 or the sale of Mr. Voelker's former residence. In April 1997,
$25,000 in principal amount of this loan was lorgiven as part of the payment of Mr. Voelker's 1996 bonus

On September 1, 1995, NEXTLINK agreed to pay $3.0 million 1o BWP Inc. in connection wilh the
acquisition of certain assets of Sound Response Corporation. A payment of $1.5 millon was made cn
September 1, 1996 and an additional payment of $1.5 million is due September 1, 1997, In addition,
NEXTLINK issued approximately 1.9 million Class A Units in NEXTLINK Communications, L.L.C.,which
were converied 1o approximately 2.6 million shares of the Company's Class B Common Stock on
January 31, 1997 to BWP, Inc. in connection with this asset acquisition

On January 31, 1995, Eagle River lent NEXTLINK $3.3 million in connection with tho acquisition of
cerain assets from City Signal, Inc. The note was unsecured and bore interest al the prume rate plus 2%
The note plus accrued interest was repaid with a portion of the net proceeds of NEXTLINK's offening of
1214% Notes. NEXTUNK's principal equity owner, Mr. Craig O. McCaw, through Eagle River made
advances to NEXTLINK primarily to fund NEXTLINK's capital expenditures (excluding acquisitions) and
oporaling losses between January 1996 and April 1996 These advances of approximately $32.2 million,
including accrued interest, were repaid using a portion of the net proceeds of the offering of the 12'.%
Notes.

During 1995, Eagle River lent NEXTLINK $7.3 million in connection with asset ecquisit.ons and
operating expenses. The note bore interes! at the prime rate plus 2% and, on December 1, 1995, was
converted 10 equity and approximately 3.2 million Class A Units in NEXTLINK Communications, LLC.,
which, along with the other Units owned by Eagle River, were converted to shares of Class B Common
Stock of the Company on January 31, 1397,

During 1995, NEXTLINK incurred expenses for administrative services provided by US. Signal, a
minority shareholder of NEXTLINK, pursuant to temporary agreements related to the acquisitions of
certain assets from City Signal, Inc. NEXTLINK recorded expenses in connection with lees 1o U S Signal
ol $1.5 million in 1995,

Each share of the Company's Class B Common Stock i< convertible at the option of the holder
thereof, at any time, into one share of Class A Common Stock. The Company and the current hoiders of
the Company's Class B Common Stock and the holders o. options 1o purchase Class B Common Stock
have entered into a Registration Rights Agreement (the “Company Registration Rights Agreement”),
which, among other things, will provide that at any time after a Qualifying IPO (as cefined) and upon the
request of holders of at least 4% of the outstanding Class B Common Stock that 1s subject 10 the
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Employment Agreements

The Company has entered into an employment agreement with James F. Voelker, its President, for a
term expiring on July 31, 1999, subject lo earlier termination. The agreement provides for a base salary
of §187.500 for the period from April 1, 1997 to December 31, 1997 and $275,000 for the period from
January 1, 1998 to December 31, 1998, and for the period from January 1, 1993 through July 31, 1999,
$275,000 per year pro rated for such portion of the year with a total annual bonus of $150,000 based
upon the performance of Mr. Voelker and the Company in light of the business plans and budgets of the
Company as recommended by Mr. Voelker and approved by the Board. In addition, in connection with
the execution of this employment agreement, effective April 10, 1997, the Company granted Mr. Voelker
options to purchase 110,334 shares of Class A Common Stock, which options vest in equal instaliments
on each of the first four anniversaries of grant and have an exercise price of $7.93 per share. The

agreement also contains confidentiality provisions.

NEXTLINK Pennsylvania, L P, an operating subsidiary of the Company, has entered into an employ-
ment agreement with Gary A. Rawding, its President, for a term expiring on September 15, 19897, subject
to automatic manth-lo-month extensions unless either party gives 30 days notice not 10 renew. The
agreement provides for a base salary of $110,000, with a total bonus of $50,000 for the five-quarter
period ended Docember 31, 1095 based on the attainment of goals and milestones outhined in the
agreement and $10,000 per quarter thereafter. I NEXTLINK Ponnsylvania, L P fails to renew the agree
ment or if employment is terminated due to the cossation of its business, NEXTLINK Pennsylvania, L.P
must pay M Rawding his then-current monthly salary until gne year after termination. The agreement
also contains non-compete, non-solicitation and confidentiality provisions.

NEXTLINK Washington, L.L.C. ("NEXTLINK Washington!'), an operating subsidiary of the Com-
pany, has entered into an employment agreement with Gregory Green as its President for aterm expining
on March 28, 1998, subject to earlier termination. The agreement provides for a base salary of $100,000
with a bonus of $30,000 during the first year, $35,000 during the second year and $40,000 during the
third year, in each case upon the achievement of objectives. The agreement also contains non-compele.
non-solicitation and confidentiality provisions.

L

NEXTLINK Communications, Inc. Stock Option Plan

The Company established the NEXTLINK Communications, Inc. Stock Option Plan (the “"Plan”) to
replace the EOP and to provide a performance incentive for certain officers, employees, and individuals
who provide services 1o the Company, and to enable these individuals to acquire or increase propnietary
interest in the success of the Company.

Pursuant to the terms of the Plan, the Company's Board of Directors (the “Board”) has reserved the
right 1o terminate, modify, or amend the Plan subject to the following restriction: The Board must oblain
shargholder approval for any amendment that (1) increases the number of shares of Class A Common
Stock available under the Plan, (2) changes the Plan's eligibility provisions, or (3) requires shareholder
approval under applicable law.

The lan Administrator may modify or amend outstanding options granted under the Plan, provided
modification or amendment of an outstanding option shall not, without the consent of the optionee.
impair or diminish any of the optionee's rights or any of the obligations of the Company. Excep! as
otherwisa provided in the Plan, no outstanding option shall be terminated without the consent of the
optionee. Unless the optionee agrees otherwise, any change or adjustment o an outstanding incenlive
stock option shall be made so as not to constitute a "modification,” as defined in Section 424(h) of the
Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code"), and s0 as not to cause the oplion to coase
qualitying as an incentive stock option, as dofined in Code Seclion 422{b)




The "Plan Administrator” Is the Compensation Commitiee of the Board, and its members are
Messrs. Weibling, Jarvis and Hoglund. The Board may from time to time remove members from, or add
members to, the Compensation Committee. Vacancies on the commitioe, however caused, may be
filled by the Board.

The Plan Adminisirator acls as the manager of the Plan, possessing discretionary authority to
determine all matters relating to the options to be granted. The Plan Administrator has the sole authority
to interpret the provisions of the Plan, any option issued under the Plan, and any rule or regulation
applicable to the Plan. The Plan Administrator’s interpretation is conclusive and binding on all interested
parties, so long as the interpretation and construction with respect to incentive stock options corre-
sponds to the requirements of Code Section 422, the regulations thereunder, and any amendmunts
thereto.

The stock available under the stock options granted under the Plan are shares of the Company's
authorized but unissued Class A Common Stock. The total number of shares that may be issued
pursuant to options under the Plan, including both incentive and non-stalutory options, shall not exceed
an aggregate of 4,413,360 shares.

Incentive stock options may be granted only 1o officers and other employees of the Company (or a
parent or subsidiary corporation of the Company), including Board members who are also employees ol
the Company (or employees of a parent or subsidiary corporation of the Company). Non-statutory
options may be granted to both employees and non-employees of the Company (or a corporate ar non-
corporate parent or subsidiary), including non-employee Board members. Centain limitations apply to
10% shareholders.

Within the parameters established by the Plan, the Plan Administralor has the sole discretion to
determine the options to be granted under the Plan, including selection of the individuals receiving
option grants, the number of shares available under each option, the exercise price, and all other terms
and conditions of the options. Separate option granis under the Plan need not be identical in any
respect, even when made simultaneously. The Plan Administrator shall issue each optionee an individ-
ual “ontion agreement,” which describes the relevant terms of the option.

The purchase price per share of Class A Common Stock under each incentive stock option shall be
not less than the fair market value of the Class A Common Stock on the date the optionis granted, except
where the option is a substituted or assumed option from another plan, and the exercise price relates to
the original exercise price, in accordance with applicable provisions of the Code. Centain additional
limitations apply to 10% shareholders. The purchase price per share of Class A Common Stock under
each non-statutory stock option shall be not less than 85% of the fair market value of the Class A
Comimon Stock on the date the option is granted, except where the option is a substituted or assumed
option from another plan, and the exercise price relates to the option's original exercise price.

The aggregate shares of Class A Common Stock available 1o an optionee through incentive stock
options, which are exercisable for the first time during a calendar year, shall not exceeu $100,000 in
value. For purposes of this limit, the Class A Common Stock shall be valued at its fair market value as of
the option grant date. To the extent an incentive stock option exceeds this limitation, it shall be consid-
ered a non-statutory stock option.

An optionee must exercise his or her option, if at all, before it expires. Each option shall expire onthe
date specified in the individual option agreement, which date shall not be later than the tenth anniversary
of the date on which the option was granted with respect to incentive stock options, the 15th anniversary
with respect 1o non-statutory options and the fifth anniversary in the case of a 10% stockholder.

Options granted under the Plan and the rights and privileges conferred thereby may not be
Iransferred, assigned, pledged, or hypothecaled in any manner (whether by operation of law or other-
wise), other than by will or applicable laws of descent and distribution; provided that non-statutory stock
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Option Grants In Last Fiscal Year(1)

Potential Realizable

Individual Grants V:‘lul lll Auuma{d
Humber of Anual Rates
m omtr?:mm Exercise or Aopmfﬁ
Options 10 E in Base Pri ption Term(2)
PM%;T’;OTHM'. Grmmﬂ.#] n.;"l’u" g:::{:i)n .l.lt'ﬂr:]“ ‘Explrstion Date(3) 5% (§) 10% (5)
McCaw, Craig O........ -0- -0- -0- N/A
Voelker, James F. ...... 6620 1.45 1.00 August 19,2011 7,079 20,846
Kingery, Robert . ....... 2,207 0.48 1.00 August 19, 2011 2,360 6,049
Iskra, Kathleen H. ... ... 33,100 7.27 02(4) January 2, 2011 67,440 136,285
33,100 727 1.00 January 2, 2011 35394 104,230
1,545 0.34 1.00 August 19, 2011 1,652 4,864
Daniels, Charles P ... .. 3,310 0.73 1.00 August 19,2011 3,539 10,423

{1) EHective on January 31, 1997, NEXTLINK Communications, L.L.C. was merged with and into NEXTLINK
Communications, Inc. The information presented in this table reflects the grant of options for the porchase of
Class A Common Stock under the Company's Stock Option Plan in substitution lor options gra. ‘ed previously
pursuant to the Amended and Restated Equity Option Plan of NEXTLINK Communications, L.L.C. (the "EOQP").
See Note 12 1o the Consolidated Financial Statements.

(2) The dollar amounts under the 5% and 10% columns are the result of calculations required by the rulas of the
Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") and, therelore, are not intended to forecas! possible tuture
appreciation, if any, of the Class A Common Stock. The amounts shown reflect the difference between the
appreciation and the exercise price at the assumed annual rales ol appreciation through the fiteenth anniver-
sary of the dates of granl.

(3) Options granted during 1996 vest either 20% at employment and 20% at the end ol pach subsequent year or
25% at the end of each of the next four years after grant,

(4) Market value on the date of grant was $1.00 per security or $33,100 in the aggregate.

Aggregated Fiscal Year End Option Values

Number of Unexercised Options at Value of Unexercised In-the-Money
Fiscal Year End Options st Fiscal Year End(1)
Name Exercieable Unexercisable  Exercisable ‘._J'!I_l_l_ll_cl_l-l_b.i;
McCaw, Craig O. ....... -0- -D- -0- -0-
Voelker, James F. ... .. .. 176,534 271422 £1,400,000 £2.152.500
Kingery, Robert ........ 17,362 28,249 137,687 224,028
Iskra, Kathleen H...... .. 26,480 41,265 210,000 327,250
Daniels, Charles P ... ... 17,653 29,790 140,000 236,250

{1) Reflects the diflerence between the exercise price and a valuation of $7.93 per unit. Because there is no public
market for the Company’s membership units, pursuant to the Equity Option Plan, the Plan’s Administrative
Committee determines the value of the Class B options al loast as often as the end of each fhiscal year. The
valuation set forth above reflects the Administrative Committee’s determination of per unit valuation at Decem-
ber 31, 1996, as adjusted for the 0.441336-lor-1 reverse stock split effected in conneclion with the Stock
Offering.




for the development and marketing of word processing, workgroup applications and pen computing.
From 1984 to 1990, Mr. Raikes was the Director of Applications Marketing, where he was the chief
strategist behind Microsoft's graphical applications for the Apple Macintosh and Microsoft Windows as
well as l2ading the product strategy and design of Microsoft Office. Mr. Raikes is also a member of the
University of Nebraska Foundation and a Trustee of the Washington State University Foundation,

The following individuals ase the senior management of the Company’s subsidiaries.

Hugh C. Cathey. Mr. Cathey has been the President of NEXTLINK Ohio since August 1996. Prior to
joining NEXTLINK, Mr. Cathey had nearly 20 years of experience in the telecommunications industry.
From 1993 to 1996, Mr. Cathey was president and chief executive officer of Digital Network, Inc., a
publicly traded, facilities-based long distance company based in Dallas, Texas. From 1989 to 1993,
Mr. Cathey served as president and chief executive officer of United Telemanagement, Inc. Prior to that,
Mr. Cathey held sales and product management positions of increasing responsibility with AT&T, culmi-
nating as the senior executive of a business unit of AT&T with annual revenues of approximately $100
million. During Mr. Cathey's tenure at United Telemanagement, Inc., that company filed a pelition under
the Federal bankrupicy laws.

Greg Green. Mr. Green has been the President of NEXTLINK Washington since March 1995 Prior to
that, from 1985 through March 1995, Mr. Green was the founder and former President of Tel-Wesl
Communications, Inc. (*“Tel-West") until the Company's acquisition of certain assels of that company. Al
Tel-West, Mr. Green provided overall management of business development, sales and cusiomer ser-
vice. Mr. Green successfully negotiated with the Washington State Ulilities and Transportation Commis-
sion 1o become the second competitive local exchange carrier in Washington State’s history and the hrst
in the city of Spokane, :

Don Hillenmeyer. Mr. Hillenmeyer has been the President of NEXTLINK Tennessee since
March 1995. Prior 10 joining NEXTLINK in March of 1995, Mr. Hillenmeyer was president of MCMG, Inc..a
Nashville-based wireless communications management consulting and operations firm speciahzing in
running Rural Service Areas for independen’ cellular telephone owners. Belore founding MCMG, Inc.,
Mr. Hillenmeyer held various senior management positions at McCaw Cellular and was respansible for
13 southern states from August 1986 to February 1990.

Jetl C. Stone. Mr. Stone has been President of NEXTLINK Interactive (the IVR subsidiary) since
August 1, 1997. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Stone was Vice President and General Manager for the
Western Region of WorldCom, Inc. (previously MFS Telecom, Inc.) from 1994 10 July 1997. Prior to that,
from 1989 1o 1994, Mr. Stone was the Director of Sales and Marketing of Associated Communications of
Los Angeles.

Dwayne Nielson. Mr. Nielson has been President of NEXTLINK Utah since February 1996. Prior 10
joining NEXTLINK, Mr. Nielson was Assistant Vice President, Consumer and Small Business Market, at
Sprint Corporation from October 1994 to February 1996. Prior 1o that, from August 1985 through
Oclober 1994, Mr. Nielson held a variety of sales and marketing positions at Sprint and United
Telephone.

Gary Rawding. Mr. Rawding has been President of NEXTLINK Pennsylvania since September 1994,
Prior to founding Penns Light Communications, Inc., certain assets of which were acquired by the
Company in September 1994, he served as Vice President of Sales & Marketing at Eastern TeleLogic
Corporation from 1989 until 1993, Prior to joining Eastern TeleLogic, Mr. Rawding held various positions
with Bell Atlantic Corporation.

Donald W. Sessamen. Mr. Sessamen has been President of NEXTLINK California since Novem-
ber 1996. Prior to that, Mr. Sessamen acted as a consultant to NEXTLINK. Prior to acting as a consultant
to the Company, Mr. Sessamen joined Brooks Fiber California in 1994 as president, afier the company
acquired Phoenix Fiberlink. At Brooks Fiber California, Mr. Sessamen completed the installation of the
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Wayne M. Perry

CEQO - NEXTLINK Communications, Inc.
155 108" Ave. N.E., 8" Floor

Bellevue, Washington 98004
(425) 519-8900

Mr. Perry has been Chief Executive Officer of the Company since July 21, 1997
and Vice Chairman of the Company since June 16, 1997. Mr. Perry was formerly
Vice Chairman of AT&T Wireless Services, Inc., from September 1994, following
the merger with McCaw Cellular. Prior to the merger, he served as Vice Chairman
of the Board of McCaw Cellular from June 1989, and before that served as
President from December 1985. Prior to becoming President of McCaw Cellular,
Mr. Perry served as Executive Vice President/General Counsel and was primary
legal officer from 1976 to 1985. Mr. Perry was appointed Vice Chairman of the
Board of LIN Broadcasting corporation on March 5, 1990. He also served as
Chairman of the Board of Directors of the Cellular Telecommunications Industry
Association, the nationwide wireless industry association, for the 1993/4 term. Mr.
Perry is 2lso a member of the Executive Committee of the Board of Directors.




James F. Voelker
President - NEXTLINK Communications, Inc.
CEO - NEXTLINK Florida, Inc.
155 108" Ave. N.E., 8" Floor
Bellevue, Washington 98004
(425) 519-8900

James F. Voelker has been the President of NEXTLINK since April 1995
and is responsible for developing the company vision and guiding overall
operations. He is recognized as one of the early entrepreneurs in the business of
building and delivering competitive local exchange service. Mr. Voelker’s career
in telecommunications spans almost two decades and includes experience in very
different segments of the industry in a variety of executive positions. From 1981
to 1984 he served as vice president of sales, marketing and customer service for
Lexitel Corporation, the forerunner of Allnet Communications. Mr. Voelker co-
founded Digital Signal, Inc. and served as chief operating officer and chief
executive officer from 1985 through the company’s sale to SP Telecom in 1990.
Digital Signal operatzd a nation wide fiber optic network supplying capacity,
engineering, provisioning and operational support to over one hundred
interexchange carriers. In the CAP arena, Mr. Voelker became vice chairman of
City Signal, Inc. in 1992, which constructed and operated networks in six markets.
Subsequently, he served as its chief executive officer after the company merged
with its sister company Teledial America to form US Signal. Based in Grand
Rapids, Michigan, US Signal was one of the first fully certified CLECs in the
country. Mr. Voelker has also served as vice chairman of ALTS, the industry
Association of Local Telephone Service providers and as a director of Phoenix
Network, Inc., a publicly held long distance company.




Jan Loichle

Vice President - NEXTLINK Communications, Inc.
Vice President - NEXTLINK Florida, Inc.
155 108™ Ave. N.E., 8" Floor
Bellevue, Washington 98004
(425) 519-8900

Jan Loichle has been Vice President, Chief of Local Exchange Operations of
NEXTLINK since October, 1996. Prior to that, Ms. Loichle was the President of
NEXTLINK Solutions (the virtual communications center) from July 1995. Prior
to joining NEXTLINK, Ms. Loichle was Executive Vice President at US Signal in
Detroit and Grand Rapids, Michigan from April 1993 to July 1995. At US Signal
Ms. Loichle led the development of an enhanced service platform (Magic Number)
from concept through production system and implementation. From 1990 to 1993,
Ms. Loichle was Assistant Vice President of Finance for SP Telecom in San
Francisco. Prior to that, Ms. Loichle was Vice President of Financial Operations
for Lexitel/Allnet/ALC in Birmingham, Michigan from December 1980 to October
1989.




Kathleen H. Iskra

Vice President, CFO and Treasurer - NEXTLINK Communications, Inc.
Vice President, CFO and Treasurer - NEXTLINK Florida, Inc.
155 108" Ave. N.E., 8" Floor
Bellevue, Washington 98004
(425) 519-8900

Kathleen H. Iskra has been Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and
Treasurer of NEXTLINK since January 1996. Prior to that, she was President and
Chief Executive Officer of Horizon Air, a wholly owned subsidiary of Alaska Air
Group. Prior to her appointment at Horizon Air, Ms. Iskra served as staff vice
president of finance and controller of Alaska Airlines and Alaska Air Group. Ms,
Iskra’s service with Alaska began in 1987, when she was appointed Controller.
Prior to joining Alaska, she was an audit manager with Arthur Andersen & Co.




Charles P. Daniels
Vice Presidant —- NEXTLINK Communications, Inc.
Vice President - NEXTLINK Florida, Inc.
155 108" Ave. N.E., 8" Floor

Bellevue, Washington 98004
(425) 519-8900

Charles P. Daniels has been Vice President, Chief Marketing Officer of
NEXTLINK since November 1995. Mr. Daniels is responsible for Marketing,
Market Development, Product Development, and Engineering. From 1992 to
1995, Mr. Daniels worked for MCI where he was the founder and Program
Manager of the network MCI Developers Lab. Mr. Daniels was also a founding
member of MCI's Advanced Technology Group. Prior to joining MCI, Mr.
Daniels worked for Manufacturers Hanover Trust from 1989 to 1992 as Vice
President/Strategic Technology & Research, where he was responsible for
evaluating and implementing new technologies that either reduced costs or
generated new revenue.




R. Gerard Salemme

Vice President, External Affairs and Industry Relations - NEXTLINK
Communications, Inc.
Vice President —- NEXTLINK Florida, Inc.
155 108" Ave. N.E., 8" Floor
Bellevue, Washington 98004
(425) 519-8900

Mr. Salemme has been Vice President, External Affairs and Industry Relations
since July 1997. Prior to joining NEXTLINK, Mr. Salemme was Vice President -
Government Affairs at AT&T Corp. from December 1994. Prior to joining AT&T
Corp., Mr. Salemme was Senior Vice President - External Affairs at McCaw
Cellular from 1991 to December 1994.




George Tronsrue

COO0O - NEXTLINK Communications, Inc.
155 108" Ave. N.E., 8" Floor
Bellevue, Washington 98004

(425) 519-8900

George Tronsrue joined NEXTLINK Communications, Inc. as Chief Operating
Officer on October 7, 1997. Prior to NEXTLINK, George was a member of the
founding management team of American Communications Services, Inc. (ACSI),
from February 1994 until September 1997. While at ACSI, George served
successively as Executive Vice President, Strategic Planning and Business
Development; President, Strategy and Technology Development Division and
Chief Operating Officer of ACSI. Prior to ACSI, George served as the Regional
Vice President of Teleport Communications Group's Central Region, and as Vice
President, Emerging Markets overseeing TCG'’s initial partnerships with Cable TV
companies in eight markets. From 1987 to 1992, George was employed by MFS
Conimunications Company, where he served in various capacities that included
roles as EVP, MFS Intelenet, Inc., Vice President/General Manager for MFS New
York, Vice President, Field Sales and Vice President Corporate Planning and
Information Management. Prior to working for MFS, George was employed by
MCI Telecommunications from 1983 to 1986 in various operations and
engineering responsibilities, with his last position being the Director of Operations
for Michigan and Ohio.




Michael J. McHale

Vice President, Chief Marketing Officer - NEXTLINK Communications, Inc.
155 108" Ave. N.E., 8" Floor
Bellevue, Washington 98004
(425) 519-8900

Mr. McHale has been Vice President, Chief Marketing Officer for NEXTLINK
Communications, Inc. since November 1997. Prior to that, Mr. McHale was at the
Teleport Communications Group for over four years, serving as the Vice President
and General Manager of TCG’s Phoenix partnership from it’s inception and more
recently as the Regional Vice President for all of TCG's sales/marketing operations
in the US West and PacTel territories. Prior to joining TCG, Mr. McHale spent 3
years at MFS Intelenet, initially in the planning group responsible for product
development, sales and marketing. Before joining MFS, Mr. McHale spent nine
years at Rolm Corporation in sales, technical support, product management and
operations roles.




ATTACHMENT D

Applicant possesses the technical qualifications required to provide telecommunications
services throughout the State of Florida. NEXTLINK Communications, through its operating
subaldingien, ln cartifiod 1o proavide local and long distance telecommunications services in
numerous states.! NEXTLINK Communications already operates 16 facilities-based SONET-
based fiber optic networks providing local dialtone and long distance services successfully in
eight states. This successful operational experience is evidence of NEXTLINK's technical
capability to deliver the services discussed above in a fashion that is satisfactory to consumers in

Florida and the Florida Commission.

! These states are California, lllinois, Nevada, New York, Ohio, Pennsylvania, Tennessee, Utah and Washington.
Only local certification has been obtained in Utah, as long distance certification is not required. Local centification
has been obtained in Colorado and North Carolina and is pending in Georgia and New Jersey. Long distance
certification has been obtained in New Mexico and Oregon and is pending in Arizona, Delaware, Maryland,
Michigan, North Carolina, South Carolina and West Virginia. NEXTLINK Communications has never been denied
authority to offer service in any state.
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ATTACHMENT E

Applicant's tariff will duplicate the previous Chadwick tariff allowing former customers
to continue 1o receive the same services that they presently receive at the same rate levels, except
for the following two deviations.

Applicant is joining a number of other resellers and telecommunications s=rvice
providers in seeking to impose a 30 cent surcharge on all calling card and toll free calls
originating from payphones to cover costs under the Federal Communications Commission’s
(“FCC") recent Order, In the Matter of Implementation of the Pay Telephone Reclassification
and Compensation Provisions of the Telecommunications Act of 1996, Docket No. 96-128
(October 9, 1997). This 30 cent surcharge is necessary as 28.4 cents is remitted 1o Applicant’s
underlying carrier, which in turn must remit it to the payphone owner under the FCC's Order.
The remaining 1.6 cents is allocated for the recovery of developing systems and system
enhancements to the billing system that will allow Applicant to track calls from peyphones and
ensure accurate compliance with the Order.

Secondly, Applicant will modify the Chadwick tariff to reflect Applicant’s intention to
refrain from collecting deposits or payments for service more than one month in advance. This
is evidenced on Page 12 of the Application, which is verified by Applicant’s Vice President, R.

Gerard Salemme.
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